

University of Nebraska at Omaha DigitalCommons@UNO

Student Work

5-1-2005

OPPD. WAUE: A benefit and cost analysis

Thomas James Sandoz University of Nebraska at Omaha

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.unomaha.edu/studentwork

Recommended Citation

Sandoz, Thomas James, "OPPD. WAUE: A benefit and cost analysis" (2005). *Student Work*. 1359. https://digitalcommons.unomaha.edu/studentwork/1359

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by DigitalCommons@UNO. It has been accepted for inclusion in Student Work by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@UNO. For more information, please contact unodigitalcommons@unomaha.edu.



OPPD.WAUE A Benefit and Cost Analysis

A Thesis

Presented to the

Department of Business Administration

and the

Faculty of the Graduate College

University of Nebraska

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Business Administration

University of Nebraska at Omaha

By

Thomas James Sandoz

May 2005

UMI Number: EP73399

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI EP73399

Published by ProQuest LLC (2015). Copyright in the Dissertation held by the Author.

Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC. All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code



ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 - 1346

THESIS ACCEPTANCE

Acceptance for the faculty of the Graduate College, University of Nebraska, in partial fulfillment of the Requirements for the degree Masters of Business Administration University of Nebraska at Omaha.

Committee Graham R. Miten h.D Richard G. File, Ph.D. 11

David A. Volkman, Ph.D.

Chairperson _

Graham R. Mitenko, Ph.D.

Date

MAY 11, 2005

Month, Day, Year

OPPD.WAUE A Benefit/Cost Analysis

Thomas James Sandoz, MBA

University of Nebraska, 2005

Advisor: Dr. Graham R. Mitenko

The purpose of this thesis is to study the benefit and cost of constructing a 161, 230, or 345 kilovolt $(kV)^1$ transmission line between Omaha Public Power District $(OPPD)^2$, a political subdivision of the State of Nebraska, and OPPD's northern Control Area neighbor, Western Area Power Administration (WAPA),³ a division of the U.S. Department of Energy.⁴

Seven transmission construction project options will be analyzed, and a description of the individual characteristics of each option will be discussed. The characteristics of each option include the option specific assumed benefits, costs, right of ways, environmental impacts, and transmission system impact studies. The scope of the analysis also will include discussion of the legal ramifications for OPPD to own transmission assets outside of the borders of the State of Nebraska, and the legality for

² Omaha Public Power District, Who We Are, web site on 11/11/04. <u>http://ww1.oppd.com/who/index.cfm</u>

³ Western Area Power Administration, Home, web site on 11/12/04. <u>http://www.wapa.gov/</u>

⁴ U.S. Department of Energy, Offices and Facilities, web site on 11/11/04. <u>http://www.energy.gov/engine/content.do?BT_CODE=OF_PMAWESTERNAREA</u>

¹ Kilovolt is 1000 volts. Acronym Appendix is located on page 123 and Definitions Appendix is located on page 126.

companies established outside of Iowa (the targeted construction State) to own transmission assets within the borders of Iowa. A side by side benefit and cost analysis of the options will be compared and a final recommendation will be suggested by the author.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Grateful appreciation is due my fellow Omaha Public Power District co-workers Kent Herzog and Dr. Qian Zhang for taking time out of their extremely busy schedules to answer specific and detailed questions regarding the content of this Thesis.

Dr. Michael O'Hara has been a critical cog in the content and scope of this effort. Dr. O'Hara's input was paramount because of his past experience as a former Board Member at Omaha Public Power District, his doctoral dissertation on Nebraska's Power Review Board, and for his grasp of the legal landscape surrounding Public Power.

My wife, Janie Sandoz, is recognized for reasons which would merit a separate and stand alone thesis. I will spare you.

I would like to recognize Dr. Richard File, and Dr. David Volkman, for providing me support and guidance, especially during the 'final miles' of this marathon effort.

Dr. Graham Mitenko is acknowledged for rekindling the flames of my academic pursuits. In Mitenko's Financial Management graduate MBA class, the student is introduced to hundreds of financial equations, concepts, terms, and ratios. The student comes away with many equations including: Mitenko = Value.

And finally, I say "thanks" to my sister Mary Koziel, for supporting me and my various pursuits for the past forty years.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
Omaha Public Power District	1
OPPD's Geographic Location	3
Control Area	
Regional Reliability Regions/Power Pools	5
Mid-Continent Area Power Pool (MAPP)	5
Southwest Power Pool	8
MINT line	10
Customer Types	14
Western Area Power Administration	16
WAPA Firm Allocation	20
OPPD.WAUE: A Benefit and Cost Analysis	24
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	27
FERC Orders 888 and 889	27
FERC Order 2000	30
MISO and RTO's	31
Costs of Joining MISO	35
Transmission	43
Overview	43
Load	44
MAPP Service Schedule F Regional Tariff	46
Degrees of "Firmness"	47
Three Step Transmission Purchasing Process	49
Three Transmission Purchasing Scenarios	54
1) Network Service	54
2) "Wheeling"	56
3) MAPP Service Schedule F	59
The Drought Impact	60
Nebraska Power Review Board	65
Legal Issues	68
Nebraska's Policy Regarding Ownership of Transmission Assets by Public Power Districts, Outside of Nebraska Borders	68
Transmission Asset Ownership Rights for Entities Incorporated Outside of Iowa	70

MAPP Regional Transmission Committee	72
Right of Way	73
Environmental Impact Analysis	
System Impact Analysis Studies	
WAPA Policy for Interconnection with Their System	
OPPD's Forecasted Debt	80
OPPD's Cost of Capital	82
CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY	
Overview	83
The Seven Options	88
Option 1: North Omaha to Creston, IA	
Option 2a and 2b: Lincoln to Grand Island	
Option 3a and 3b: Raun to Sioux City, IA	91
Option 4a and 4b: Fort Calhoun to Denison, IA	93
The Benefits	
Bilateral Transmission Savings (Pooled OPPD and WAPA benefit)	
WAPA Firm Allocation Transmission Savings	
The Costs	
161 kV Construction Costs	
230 kV Construction Costs	
345 kV Construction Costs	
Additional Considerations	
Payment In Lieu of Taxes	
WAPA Allocation Reduction	
MEC Transmission Expense Inflator	
CHAPTER 4: ANALYSIS OF DATA	110
Author's Recommendation	
WORKS CITED	117
APPENDIX 1: ACRONYMS DEFINED	123
APPENDIX 2: DEFINITIONS	126

APPENDIX 3: LIST OF FIG	URES 129
APPENDIX 4: STATE OF IC	OWA FRANCHISE PROCESS 131
APPENDIX 5: NEBRASKA PRACTICE AND PROCEDU	POWER REVIEW BOARD, REVISED RULES OF URE MANUAL139
APPENDIX 6: THE EIGHT	STEP WAPA INTERCONNECTION PROCESS 148
APPENDIX 7: LOAD AND (CAPABILITY REPORT DATA 153
APPENDIX 8: CASH FLOW	7 DETAIL 155

Chapter 1: Introduction

Omaha Public Power District

Omaha Public Power District (OPPD), a political subdivision of the State of Nebraska, is an electric utility serving all or some of the 13 counties of southeastern Nebraska.⁵ Established on December 2, 1946 from the merging of Nebraska Power Company and Eastern Nebraska Public Power District, OPPD currently serves over 312,000 customers and a population of 705,000 persons.⁶ (For a list of acronyms, refer to Appendix 1, starting at page 123. For a list of definitions, refer to Appendix 2, starting at page 126.)



Figure 1. OPPD service area (Highlighted by county)⁷

⁵ *OPPD History* web site on 8/11/04. <u>http://ww1.oppd.com/who/history/index.cfm</u>

⁶ *OPPD History* web site on 8/21/04. http://ww1.oppd.com/who/history/index.cfm

⁷ *OPPD Service Territory* web site on 8/15/04. <u>http://ww1.oppd.com/who/svcterritory.cfm</u>



Figure 2. Detail of OPPD Transmission Facilities and Service Area (Yellow line is approximate border and Missouri River is Eastern border)⁸

⁸ Source of map is OPPD Transmission and Distribution Planning Department.

OPPD's Geographic Location

Control Area

OPPD is a Control Area (CA). A Control Area is defined as:

"An electric power system or combination of electric power systems to which a common automatic generation control scheme is applied in order to:

- (1) match, at all times, the power output of the generators within the electric power system(s) and capacity and energy purchased from entities outside the electric power system(s), with the load within the electric power system(s).
- (2) maintain scheduled interchange with other Control Areas, within the limits of Good Utility Practice;
- (3) maintain the frequency of the electric power system(s) within reasonable limits in accordance with Good Utility Practice; and
- (4) provide sufficient generating capacity to maintain operating reserves in accordance with Good Utility Practice."⁹

Control Areas are linked to one another via direct interconnects, in which the

transmission lines of Control Area "A" connect to a substation of Control Area "B".

Prior to being a Control Area, OPPD existed as a service area.

"LB 220 (1963) created the Nebraska Power Review Board (PRB). The Board's principal tasks were to foster and authorize the creation of legitimized service areas and to review and approve additions to the generation and transmission systems. LB 220 (1963) specifically changed the policies of the state of Nebraska with respect to its electric utilities. Cost minimization was retained as a policy, but cooperation replaced competition, and state control constrained local control on matters affection generation and transmission.¹⁰

⁹ MAPP Schedule F: Open-Access Transmission Tariff, Common Service Provisions, Definitions, at: Business Practices, Transmission Tariffs and Service Schedules, MAPP SERVICE SCHEDULE F web site, pg. 8 on 9/27/04. http://toinfo.oasis.mapp.org/oasisinfo/

¹⁰ Michael J. O'Hara, "*The Nebraska Power Review Board: Regulating a Publicly-Owned Electric Utility Industry*" (Ph.D. diss., University of Nebraska, 1983), pg. 95.



Figure 3. OPPD's and its seven direct interconnecting Control Areas¹¹

Interconnect	Acronym	Headquarters
Nebraska Public Power District	NPPD	Columbus, NE
Lincoln Electric System	LES	Lincoln, NE
Westar Energy	WR	Topeka, KS
Associated Electric Cooperative	AECI	Springfield, MO
Aquila Networks*	AN**	Kansas City, MO
Kansas City Power and Light	KCPL	Kansas City, MO
MidAmerican Energy	MEC	Des Moines, IA

Figure 4. OPPD direct interconnects.

* Formally St. Joseph Light and Power (SJLP)

** Formally Missouri Public Service (MPS)

Currently, OPPD has no direct interconnects north of Nebraska.

¹¹ Nebraska Public Power District (NPPD) web site on 11/11/04. http://www.nppd.com/

> Lincoln Electric System (LES) web site on 11/11/04. <u>http://www.les.com/</u> Westar Energy (WR) web site on 11/11/04. <u>http://www.westarenergy.com</u>

Associated Electric Cooperative Incorporated (AECI) web site on 11/11/04. http://www.aeci.org/

Aquila Networks (AN) web site on 11/11/04. <u>http://www.aquila.com/</u> Kansas City Power and Light (KCPL) web site on 11/11/04 at:

http://www.kcpl.com/

MidAmerican Energy (MEC) web site on 11/11/04. http://www.midamericanenergy.com/

Regional Reliability Regions/Power Pools

Mid-Continent Area Power Pool (MAPP)

Control Areas are further grouped into larger pools. OPPD, a Control Area, is a

member of the Mid-Continent Area Power Pool (MAPP) headquartered in Minneapolis,

MN.

"Power pooling is not a new concept ... In the latter part of the 1963 to1983 timeframe, the public power districts also pursued power-pooling. NPPD was the most active district, pursuing the construction of an extra-high voltage (EHV) transmission line to Canada to permit seasonal exchanges of power ... The 1969 federal encouragement of transmission system interconnections and creation of reliability councils, following brown- and black-outs of the 1960's greatly expanded the potential for competition at the wholesale level. The efforts to reduce reserve ratios, assemble diverse demands, and engage in power pooling were accentuated by the energy crisis of the 1970s ... The reliability council, of which Nebraska is a part, is the Mid-Continent Area Reliability Coordination Agreement (MARCA) ... a sister organization was formed actually to perform the power transfers ... The sister organization, which includes the area of Nebraska is the Mid-Continent Area Power Pool (MAPP).¹²

MAPP's geographic footprint extends from Saskatchewan and Manitoba along its

northern border to Nebraska and Iowa along its southern border. (See, MAPP map below

on page 6) These larger pools exist to

"perform three core functions:

1) Reliability Councils, responsible for the safety and reliability of the bulk electric system under NERC guidelines;

2) Regional transmission groups, responsible for facilitating open access of the transmission system; and

3) Facilitators of power and energy markets, where MAPP Members and nonmembers may buy and sell electricity."¹³

¹² Michael J. O'Hara, "*The Nebraska Power Review Board: Regulating a Publicly-Owned Electric Utility Industry*" (Ph.D. diss., University of Nebraska, 1983), pgs. 136-137.

¹³ *MAPP About* web site on 8/30/2004. <u>http://www.mapp.org/content/about_mapp.shtml</u>







¹⁴ MAPP Committee Directory Cover web site on 9/24/2004. <u>http://www.mapp.org/assets/pdf/Committee%20Directory.pdf</u>



Figure 6. MAPP detailed Control Area Interconnects ¹⁵

¹⁵ *MAPP map* on 9/10/04 web site. (The significance of the colored interconnect lines serve to enhance interconnect viewing only. The various colored interconnect lines have no other significant meaning.) <u>http://mapp.oasis.mapp.org/OASIS/NODE</u>

Southwest Power Pool

OPPD is geographically located on the southern border of MAPP. The Regional Reliability Regions south of OPPD's Control Area is Southwest Power Pool (SPP). Reliability Regions are connected via interconnects between their respective Control Areas. For example, OPPD is interconnected to WR, and this Control Area interconnect also serves as an interconnect between Reliability Regions, MAPP and SPP.



Figure 7. MAPP and SPP interconnected via OPPD.WRI, OPPD.KCPL and OPPD. MPS. MAPP and AECI are interconnected via OPPD.AECI.¹⁶

¹⁶ AECI is a member of Southeastern Electric Reliability Council (SERC) headquartered in Birmingham, Alabama, for the reliability functions (Reserve Sharing) associated to a Reliability region; however, SERC does not administer a transmission tariff, so AECI uses its own tariff and provides open access to its transmission system. Transmission is "wheeled" through SERC from Control Area to Control Area. For more discussion of "wheeling" see pg. 56.



Figure 8. Southwest Power Pool (SPP) Regional Reliability Map¹⁷ (Control Area color differentiation has no significance)

¹⁷ SPP MAP on 9/12/2005 at secured web site. <u>https://sppoasis.spp.org/OASIS/NODE</u>

MINT line

The MINT line highlighted above is a jointly owned 345 kV transmission line from OPPD to KCPL, contracted on March 5, 1990 with 7 participants: NPPD, OPPD, LES, MEC, (formally Iowa Power Incorporated), AECI, MPS (Aquila Networks, formally St. Joseph Power and Light), and KCPL. MINT is an acronym for Missouri-Iowa-Nebraska Transmission. The purpose of the discussion on the MINT line is twofold; first to illustrate OPPD interconnects in the above diagram, and to demonstrate precedence in jointly owned transmission assets. An option analyzed will involve jointly owned transmission assets, and the MINT line is an example of prior commitment to such an endeavor.

"The Participants have agreed to finance, construct, and operate the Interconnection in order to (1) enhance the reliability of their systems through the provision of additional sources of emergency support, (2) increase the reliability of the interconnected regional transmission network, and (3) achieve operating efficiencies through the purchase and sale of power and/or energy among the Participants.¹⁸

The impetus behind the construction of the MINT line came from AECI. Prior to the MINT line, there was a "weak-link" between MAPP and SPP, with considerable congestion in this corridor. AECI saw the value in establishing the line to have access to the relatively less expensive coal generation in the MAPP region as compared to the higher cost gas generation which is more prevalent in the SPP and other southern Reliability Regions. The seven participants also believed the added capacity would

¹⁸ Coordinating Agreement By and Among Associated Electric Cooperative, Inc., Kansas City Power and Light Company, St. Joseph Light and Power Company, Nebraska Public Power District, Omaha Public Power District, City of Lincoln, Iowa Power Inc., For the Cooper-Fairport-St. Joseph 345 Kilovolt Interconnection, <u>Article III, Use of</u> <u>Interconnection</u>, section 3.1, pg. 6.

bolster reliability in that corridor. The capacity of the MINT line is 1000 MW, so each of

the 7 members is allocated 1/7 of 1,000 MW or 142 MW.¹⁹

"The Point of Interconnection for NPPD, OPPD, IOWA POWER and LES shall be the Terminal Facilities at the Cooper Substation."²⁰ "The Point of Interconnection for AECI shall be the 345 kV breaker at the Fairport Substation."²¹ "The Point of Interconnection for SJLP and KCPL shall be the Terminal Facilities at the St. Joseph Substation."²² "The Participants agree to schedule delivery and receipt of power and/or energy to and from the Interconnection only at their respective Points of Interconnection."²³

"The financial responsibility for all the construction costs and all costs for the operation and maintenance, including ad valorem taxes, of all Joint Facilities shall be shared equally among the Participants. To meet this obligation, each Participant shall (1) bear financial responsibility for one-seventh of the total cost of construction of the Joint Facilities ... and (2) pay a one-seventh share of

¹⁹ Interview with Dan Witt, OPPD Manager Transmission Engineering, November 12, 2004.

²⁰ Coordinating Agreement By and Among Associated Electric Cooperative, Inc., Kansas City Power and Light Company, St. Joseph Light and Power Company, Nebraska Public Power District, Omaha Public Power District, City of Lincoln, Iowa Power Inc., For the Cooper-Fairport-St. Joseph 345 Kilovolt Interconnection, Article VIII, Points of Interconnection, section 8.1, pg. 12.

²¹ Coordinating Agreement By and Among Associated Electric Cooperative, Inc., Kansas City Power and Light Company, St. Joseph Light and Power Company, Nebraska Public Power District, Omaha Public Power District, City of Lincoln, Iowa Power Inc., For the Cooper-Fairport-St. Joseph 345 Kilovolt Interconnection, <u>Article VIII, Points of</u> <u>Interconnection</u>, section 8.2, pg. 12.

²² Coordinating Agreement By and Among Associated Electric Cooperative, Inc., Kansas City Power and Light Company, St. Joseph Light and Power Company, Nebraska Public Power District, Omaha Public Power District, City of Lincoln, Iowa Power Inc., For the Cooper-Fairport-St. Joseph 345 Kilovolt Interconnection, <u>Article VIII, Points of</u> <u>Interconnection</u>, section 8.3, pg. 12.

²³ Coordinating Agreement By and Among Associated Electric Cooperative, Inc., Kansas City Power and Light Company, St. Joseph Light and Power Company, Nebraska Public Power District, Omaha Public Power District, City of Lincoln, Iowa Power Inc., For the Cooper-Fairport-St. Joseph 345 Kilovolt Interconnection, Article VIII, Points of Interconnection, section 8.4, pg. 12. operating and maintenance expenses associated with the Joint Facilities ... each Participant shall also bear financial responsibility for a share of the cost of the Terminal Facilities (including operating and maintenance expenses) at the Point of Interconnection identified in Article VIIII ...²⁴

The Participants were responsible for varying degrees of construction responsibilities. NPPD designed and constructed the Nebraska Segment, including the Cooper Substation Terminal Facilities and Missouri river crossing. SJPL designed and constructed the St. Joseph Transformer, and Substation Terminal Facilities. AECI designed, constructed, owns, operates and maintains the Missouri Segment, including the Fairport Substation Terminal Facilities.²⁵

The costs associated to these constructions served as credits towards the

constructing participants 1/7th obligation to the overall cost of the project. A

Coordinating Committee consisting of a representative from each Participant, established

interchange accounting and billing procedures to audit the projects equitable allocation of

²⁴ Coordinating Agreement By and Among Associated Electric Cooperative, Inc., Kansas City Power and Light Company, St. Joseph Light and Power Company, Nebraska Public Power District, Omaha Public Power District, City of Lincoln, Iowa Power Inc., For the Cooper-Fairport-St. Joseph 345 Kilovolt Interconnection, <u>Article IV</u>, <u>Construction, Ownership, Financing and Operating Responsibilities for the</u> <u>Interconnection</u>, section 4.2, pg. 8.

²⁵ Coordinating Agreement By and Among Associated Electric Cooperative, Inc., Kansas City Power and Light Company, St. Joseph Light and Power Company, Nebraska Public Power District, Omaha Public Power District, City of Lincoln, Iowa Power Inc., For the Cooper-Fairport-St. Joseph 345 Kilovolt Interconnection, <u>Article IV</u>, <u>Construction, Ownership, Financing and Operating Responsibilities for the</u> <u>Interconnection</u>, section 4.4-4.10, pgs. 8-10.

costs amongst the Participants. Various methods of payment included credits for construction, monies paid, and energy in lieu of money swaps.²⁶

²⁶ Coordinating Agreement By and Among Associated Electric Cooperative, Inc., Kansas City Power and Light Company, St. Joseph Light and Power Company, Nebraska Public Power District, Omaha Public Power District, City of Lincoln, Iowa Power Inc., For the Cooper-Fairport-St. Joseph 345 Kilovolt Interconnection, Article IV, Construction, Ownership, Financing and Operating Responsibilities for the Interconnection, section 4.2, pgs. 8-10.

Customer Types

OPPD power customers are classified into one of two primary groups, Retail and Off-System customers. (Off-System customers also are referred to as Wholesale customers, and these two terms are interchangeable.) Retail customers are further subdivided into Residential,²⁷ Industrial,²⁸ Commercial,²⁹ and Street and Highway Lighting.³⁰ Off System or Wholesale is subdivided into two categories, Wholesale Towns³¹ and simply Wholesale customers. Wholesale customer power is the excess power available after Retail customer and Wholesale Town demand has been met. Off-System or Wholesale revenues have averaged 16.97% (\$96.52 million) of total operating revenues over a five year period starting in 1999 and ending in 2003.

²⁹ Commercial Service is defined as Non-residential services not qualifying as Industrial Service as defined in an email from David Hayden, Rate Planning Analyst, Planning and Budgeting Services Division of OPPD on 12/30/2004.

³⁰ Street and Highway Lighting is defined as street lights and traffic signal demand from government entities including states, cities, schools, counties, and SIDs as defined in an email from David Hayden, Rate Planning Analyst, Planning and Budgeting Services Division of OPPD on 12/30/2004.

²⁷ Residential Service is defined as a single-family home, trailer apartment, flat, or unit of a multi-family dwelling that is individually metered and equipped with cooking facilities as defined in an email from David Hayden, Rate Planning Analyst, Planning and Budgeting Services Division of OPPD on 12/30/2004.

²⁸ Industrial Service is defined as Non-residential services having metered demand of 1,000 KW or more per 15 minute period in 6 of the past 12 months as defined in an email from David Hayden, Rate Planning Analyst, Planning and Budgeting Services Division of OPPD on 12/30/2004.

³¹ Wholesale Towns are four municipalities of Greenwood, Elk City, Syracuse and Tecumseh, Nebraska which OPPD serves. These municipalities then serve their customers as retail service in an email from David Hayden, Rate Planning Analyst, Planning and Budgeting Services Division of OPPD on 12/30/2004.

(\$1,000's)	<u>2003</u>	<u>2002</u>	<u>2001</u>	<u>2000</u>	<u>1999</u>	<u>Average</u>
Retail	452,738	468,411	463,019	442,651	435,187	452,401
Wholesale ³²	124,262	73,256	91,045	110,300	78,741	95,521
Other	<u>11,541</u>	<u>11,357</u>	<u>14,731</u>	<u>14,238</u>	<u>9,802</u>	<u>12,334</u>
	588,541	553,024	568,795	567,189	523,730	560,256
% Analysis	<u>2003</u>	<u>2002</u>	<u>2001</u>	<u>2000</u>	<u>1999</u>	<u>Average</u>
Retail	76.93	84.70	81.40	78.04	83.09	80.83
Wholesale	21.11	13.25	16.01	19.45	15.03	16.97
Other	1.96	2.05	2.59	2.51	1.87	2.20
Total	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00

Figure 9. OPPD Retail and Wholesale Sales ³³

Facilitating the movement of Wholesale power is the primary purpose of this

thesis.

³² Includes Wholesale Towns and Wholesale power.

³³ OPPD's 2003 Annual Report web site on 12/28/3004 at: http://ww1.oppd.com/who/financial/annualrept/pdf/page26_42.pdf

Western Area Power Administration

OPPD's northern Control Area non-interconnected neighbor,

"Western Area Power Administration is one of four power marketing administrations within the U.S. Department of Energy whose role is to market and transmit electricity from multi-use water projects. WAPA markets and delivers reliable, cost-based hydroelectric power and related services within a 15-state region of the central and western U.S. WAPA's transmission system carries electricity from 55 hydropower plants operated by the Bureau of Reclamation, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and the International Boundary and Water Commission. Together, these plants have a capacity of 10,600 megawatts."³⁴



Figure 10. Four Power Marketing Administrations within the US Dept. of Energy³⁵

"This map shows the four power marketing administrations within the U.S. Department of Energy. Bonneville Power Administration's service territory covers Washington, Oregon, and small pieces of western Montana and western Wyoming. Western Area Power Administration covers California, Nevada, Utah, Arizona, New Mexico, Utah, most of Montana, most of Wyoming, west Texas, North and South Dakota, Nebraska, western and southern Kansas, and the western edges of Minnesota and Iowa. the Southwestern Power Administration serves the rest of Kansas, Missouri, Oklahoma, the rest of Texas, Arkansas, and Louisiana. The Southeastern Power Administration serves West Virginia, Kentucky,

³⁴ About Western web site on 7/28/2004. http://www.wapa.gov/geninfo/whatwho.htm

³⁵ What is Western? web site on 9/28/04. http://www.wapa.gov/geninfo/mappma.htm Tennessee, Mississippi, Alabama, Georgia, the Florida panhandle, South Carolina, North Carolina, and Virginia."³⁶

"Alaska Power Administration (APA), consisting of two dams, Eklutna and Snettishham, was privatized in 1995 by the Alaska Power Administration Sale Act."³⁷ "Hawaii is 100% private power and private power is not eligible for Power

Adminsitration allocations."38

WAPA is further divided into four regions, Upper Great Plains, Rocky Mountain,

Desert Southwest, and Sierra Nevada Regions

³⁶ What is Western? web site on 9/28/04. http://www.wapa.gov/geninfo/pmadesc.htm

³⁷ 104th Congress Report 104-187 House of Representatives web site on 12/04/04. <u>http://thomas.loc.gov/cgi-</u> bin/cpquery/0?&&dbname=cp104&&&r n=hr187p1.104&&sel=DOC&

³⁸ Correspondence with Dr. Michael J. O'Hara, University of Nebraska at Omaha.



Figure 11. Western's Regional Offices.³⁹

³⁹ Western's Regional Offices web site on 9/28/04. http://www.wapa.gov/regions.htm

WAPA's Upper Great Plains Regional office covers maintenance, operation and transmission facilities in most of Montana, all of North Dakota, western Minnesota, all of South Dakota, eastern Nebraska, and western Iowa.⁴⁰



Figure 12. Upper Great Plains Region⁴¹

⁴⁰ UGPR Home Page web site on 9/28/04. <u>http://www.wapa.gov/ugp/</u>

⁴¹ UGPR Home Page web site on 9/28/04. <u>http://www.wapa.gov/ugp/</u>

WAPA Firm Allocation

OPPD is allocated power from WAPA/UGPR through the Missouri River basin

project.

"The Missouri River basin project is a comprehensive plan authorized in 1944 for the coordinated development of water resources of the Missouri River and its tributaries, draining an area of about 513,300 sq mi in Nebraska, Montana, South Dakota, North Dakota, Wyoming, Kansas, Missouri, Colorado, Iowa, and Minnesota. The program provided for the construction of 112 dams with a storage capacity of almost 35 million gal; 4,300,000 acres of irrigated land; 2.6 million kilowatts of hydroelectric generating capacity; a 9-ft navigable channel on the Missouri River from Sioux City to its mouth; control of floods and sedimentation; protection of fish and wildlife; and development of recreational facilities and industrial and municipal water supplies. Seven main-stem dams on the Missouri were completed (Fort Peck, Garrison, Oahe, Big Bend, Fort Randall, Gavins Point, and Canyon Ferry), and 80 other dams were built on tributaries."⁴²

This allocated power is commonly known as the "WAPA firm allocation." In

addition to providing OPPD with an allocation up to 47.9 Megawatts/hr (MWh) for OPPD's own customer base, WAPA provides additional allocations to other governmental entities and municipalities also receiving electric service from OPPD. The OPPD customers receiving WAPA allocations via OPPD's transmission and distribution lines are: Offutt Air force Base (as much as 33.55 MWh), University of Nebraska at Omaha (as much as 1.30 MWh), Peru State College (as much as 0.53 MWh), and the Nebraska cities of Nebraska City (as much as 8.30 MWh), Fremont (as much as 4.80

MWh), Auburn (as much as 3.10 MWh), Falls City (as much as 3.10 MWh), Tecumseh

(as much as 0.95 MWh), and Syracuse (as much as 0.26 MWh), The total maximum

⁴² Infoplease, US Encyclopedia, Missouri River Basin Project web site on 9/27/04. http://www.infoplease.com/ce6/us/A0833428.html

current allocation equals up to about 104 MWh.⁴³ OPPD power transacted with WAPA,

both bilateral and firm allocation is considered Off-System or Wholesale power. (See pg.

14 for a description of customer types.)

This allocation amount is subject to change.

"It is WAPA's intent to promote the most widespread use of WAPA generated power. In January of 2001, OPPD's allocation dropped 4% due to an addition of several Native American Tribes and 11 municipalities. In January of 2006, the OPPD allocation will drop less then ¼ of 1% and in January of 2011, OPPD's allocation could drop up to an additional 1%. The allocation is a function of the number of qualified customers and is subject to a rebalancing every five years."⁴⁴

Under the contract terms per the UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF

ENERGY WESTERN AREA POWER ADMINISTRATION Pick-Sloan Missouri

Basin Program-Eastern Division CONTRACT FOR FIRM ELECTRIC SERVICE TO

OMAHA PUBLIC POWER DISTRICT, number 01-UGPR-28, dated December 20,

2002, specifically, section 2.5 in its entirety states:

"Western (WAPA) currently has in place a contract, Contract No. 89-BAO-337 dated January 18, 1989 (MidAmerican Contract), with MidAmerican Energy Company for transmission service from the system of Western to OPPD. The MidAmerican Contract expires on December 31, 2008. After such time as that contract expires or is otherwise terminated, **OPPD and OPPD's customers who are also firm power customers of Western will be required to make their own transmission arrangements for delivery of power and energy from the system of Western to OPPD.**"⁴⁵

⁴³ Email from Terry Norton (OPPD Transmission Services Engineer) to TJ Sandoz on June 11, 2004.

⁴⁴ Phone conversation with WAPA Contract Administrator, WAPA on December 28th, 2004.

⁴⁵UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY WESTERN AREA POWER ADMINISTRATION Pick-Sloan Missouri Basin Program-Eastern Division CONTRACT FOR FIRM ELECTRIC SERVICE TO OMAHA PUBLIC POWER DISTRICT, number 01-UGPR-28 dated December 20th, 2002, section 2, (emphasis added). Section 7.2.4 continues reading:

"If increases in rates of charge for transmission service and transmission losses, either or both, are made during the term of this Contract, Western shall notify OPPD of the effective date of such increase. OPPD may elect to make its own transmission arrangements or may terminate this Contract by written notice to Western at any time within one hundred eighty (180) days after the effective date of such increase.⁴⁶

Furthermore, upon the expiration of transmission service contract 889-BAO-337,

"WAPA will not renegotiate a transmission contract with MEC on behalf of OPPD's

allocation, and OPPD will be responsible for procuring the necessary transmission to

receive the WAPA allocation."47

This places OPPD and our customers, Offutt Air force Base, UNO, Peru State

College, and the cities of Nebraska City, Fremont, Auburn, Falls City, Tecumseh and

Syracuse into the precarious scenario of unknown transmission availability, reliability

and cost.

OPPD's neighboring Control Area Lincoln Electric System currently receives

their WAPA allocation via the NPPD transmission system. LES has a total of 132 MW

of WAPA allocations.⁴⁸ One construction option pursued in this thesis involves the

⁴⁶ UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY WESTERN AREA POWER ADMINISTRATION Pick-Sloan Missouri Basin Program-Eastern Division CONTRACT FOR FIRM ELECTRIC SERVICE TO OMAHA PUBLIC POWER DISTRICT, number 01-UGPR-28 dated December 20th, 2002, section 7.2.4.

⁴⁷ Phone conversation with WAPA Contract Administrator, WAPA on December 28th, 2004.

⁴⁸ Phone interview with Lincoln Electric System personnel, Lincoln Electric System, 11/15/2004 and further confirmed by NPPD transmission OASIS request

partnering of OPPD and LES to build a jointly owned line, (continuing a planned line from Nebraska City to LES in Southeast Lincoln) from Southeast Lincoln to WAPA's 345 kV substation at Grand Island, NE. In this option's analysis, the economic benefit derived (cost savings) will be the sum of NPPD's currently posted transmission rate tariff cost (multiplied by LES's 132 MW allocation) and MEC's currently posted transmission rate tariff cost (multiplied by OPPD's 103 MW allocation.)

numbers 178299 (75 MWh through 12/31/2020) and 178297 (59 MWh through 12/31/2020) on secured web site on 12/27/2004. https://mapp.oasis.mapp.org/OASIS/NPPD/data/transstatusdetails?ASSIGNMENT_REF =178297&RETURN_TZ=CD

OPPD.WAUE: A Benefit and Cost Analysis

The purpose of this thesis is to analyze the benefits and costs of establishing a direct interconnect between Omaha Public Power District and Western Area Power Administration, an interconnect point to be identified as OPPD.WAUE. The purpose of OPPD.WAUE is to facilitate the WAPA firm allocation and additional bilateral power transactions between WAPA and OPPD, as well as between OPPD and other impacted counterparties. This proposed interconnect could increase transmission capacity, reliability, stability and simultaneously reduce transmission expenditures for OPPD's (and possibly LES's) customers, both retail and wholesale, and reduce costs for Western's bilateral transactions with OPPD, benefiting WAPA's economic, stability and reliability interests.



Figure 13. Proposed Interconnect Between OPPD and WAPA

The analysis also will include a discussion of the legal ramifications for OPPD to own transmission assets outside of Nebraska's borders, and the legality for companies established outside of the targeted States to own transmission assets within the borders of the targeted States. Additional consideration will include environmental impact studies, right of way feasibility (ROW), system impact studies, and finally a discussion of WAPA's policies regarding the allowance of interconnects into their system. A comprehensive analysis of each of these items is beyond the scope of this thesis. Instead, each of these items will be imported into this thesis, either in the form of professional estimates, given known constraints, or in the form of professionally completed studies. This thesis will focus on assembling all the relevant pieces needed for a thorough analysis of OPPD.WAUE.
Chapter 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

FERC Orders 888 and 889

On April 24th, 1996 the Federal Energy Regulatory Committee (FERC) issued a

pair of landmark orders:⁴⁹ 888 and 889. FERC order 888 regards "Transmission Open

Access. Promoting Wholesale Competition Through Open Access Non-discriminatory

Transmission Services by Public Utilities; Recovery of Stranded Costs by Public Utilities

and Transmitting Utilities." In summary, FERC order 888 states:

"The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission is issuing a Final Rule requiring all public utilities that own, control or operate facilities used for transmitting electric energy in interstate commerce to have on file open access non-discriminatory transmission tariffs that contain minimum terms and conditions of non-discriminatory service. The Final Rule also permits public utilities and transmitting utilities to seek recovery of legitimate, prudent and verifiable stranded costs associated with providing open access and Federal Power Act section 211 transmission services. The Commission's goal is to remove impediments to competition in the wholesale bulk power marketplace and to bring more efficient, lower cost power to the Nation's electricity consumers."⁵⁰

"Public Utilities" is mentioned in FERC order 888 and in FERC order 889. But

the term "Public Utilities" can be a misconstrued term in the context of FERC order 888

and FERC order 889. FERC defines "Public Utilities" as:

"Utilities, typically investor owned through publicly-held stock, and are referred to in this document by the FERC definition as either FERC Jurisdictional or Public utilities. The public utility term can be confused with the Public Power term often used to describe members of the American Public Power Association,

⁵⁰ Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, Legal Resources, Landmark Orders on web site on 1/1/2005. <u>http://www.ferc.gov/legal/ferc-regs/land-ord-elec.asp</u>

⁴⁹ Landmark orders are those which have a continuing and significant impact on the industries the FERC regulates as defined at *Federal Energy Regulatory Commission*, *Legal Resources, Landmark Orders* on web site on 1/1/2005. http://www.ferc.gov/legal/ferc-regs/land-ord-elec.asp

such as Lincoln Electric System (LES). However, the FERC term used here for these government or ratepayer owned utilities is Non-Jurisdictional or Non-Public Utilities; LES, being a municipal corporation created under Nebraska law, is exempt from the provisions of the FERC order as a non-jurisdictional or non-public utility."⁵¹

Like LES, OPPD and WAPA are exempt from FERC orders 888 and 889

regarding Jurisdictional or Public Utilities.

FERC order 889 focuses on OASIS standards. OASIS is the acronym for Open

Access Same-Time Information, whose purpose is to promote competition through

deregulation of the wholesale Electric Power Industry.⁵² OASIS is an electronic internet

node which allows potential power customers to purchase transmission service. In

summary FERC order 889 states:

"Under this final rule, each public utility (or its agent) that owns, controls, or operates facilities used for the transmission of electric energy in interstate commerce will be required to create or participate in an OASIS that will provide open access transmission customers and potential open access transmission customers with information, provided by electronic means, about available transmission capacity, prices, and other information that will enable them to obtain open access non-discriminatory transmission service. This final rule requires (1) each public utility subject to the rule to implement standards of conduct to functionally separate transmission and wholesale power merchant functions and (2) the creation of a basic OASIS system. In addition, some of the standards and formats for OASIS nodes are prescribed in a document entitled OASIS Standards and Communication Protocols that is being issued with the final rule."⁵³

⁵² Energy Information Administration, Wholesale Power Markets and Restructuring the U.S. Power Transmission System, web site on 9/24/04. <u>http://www.eia.doe.gov/cneaf/electricity/chg_stru_update/chapter7.html</u>

⁵³ Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, Legal Resources, Landmark Orders web site on 1/1/2005. <u>http://www.ferc.gov/legal/ferc-regs/land-ord-elec.asp</u>

⁵¹ Lincoln Electric System web site on 1/1/2005. http://www.les.com/business/tariff.asp

Although exempt from the FERC order 889, OPPD, LES and WAPA have created OASIS nodes where customers can obtain open access non-discriminatory transmission service.

FERC Order 2000

FERC Order 2000 was implemented on December 20, 1999. In summary, the

Order states:

"The final rule requires all public utilities that own, operate or control interstate electric transmission to file by October 15, 2000, a proposal for a Regional Transmission Organization (RTO), or, alternatively, a description of any efforts made by the utility to participate in an RTO, the reasons for not participating and any obstacles to participation, and any plans for further work toward participation. The RTOs will be operational by December 15, 2001. The Commissions goal is to promote efficiency in wholesale electricity markets and to ensure that electricity customers pay the lowest price possible for reliable service."⁵⁴

OPPD, WAPA and LES are exempt from FERC order 200, and OPPD and

WAPA have yet to join an RTO. Regional RTOs forming include SPP and the MidWest

Independent Systems Operator (MISO). OPPD and WAPA have not joined an RTO but

LES has committed to joining MISO if the MISO network footprint becomes contiguous

to LES's Control Area. (See MISO map on pg. 33)

⁵⁴ Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, Legal Resources, Landmark Orders web site on 1/1/2005. <u>http://www.ferc.gov/legal/ferc-regs/land-ord-elec.asp</u>

MISO and RTO's

MISO has acquired most of MAPP's assets, including the building and software

used to administer the MAPP Model and with these assets MISO will be overseeing

transmission, generation and marketing activities formally administered by MAPP.

The Midwest Reliability Organization (MRO) will replace the

"... MAPP Regional Reliability Council of the North American Electric Reliability Council ("NERC") and will result in a more effective and efficient reliability organization that will administer and enforce reliability standards across a broader geographical region.⁵⁵

"The MRO replaces the regional reliability councils and functions of MAPP. Specifically, the MRO will set organizational standards, adopt NERC standards, revise standards as a region, and set its own regional standards. The MRO will monitor and enforce compliance with standards. The MRO will also provide education and training for its members, assess adequacy and performance, collect reliability information and data, provide an appeals and dispute resolution process, and participate in NERC as a regional reliability council."⁵⁶

MISO is literally being implemented in phases as this Thesis is being composed.

On April 1, 2005, MISO plans to implement its final phase and will begin operating

several marketing tasks, including Locational Marginal Pricing (LMP)⁵⁷ and Financial

Transmission Rights (FTR)⁵⁸.

⁵⁷ LMP pricing is fundamentally a mechanism for using market prices, rather than administrative restrictions, for managing transmission congestion by determining prices that are consistent with the system operators redispatch as defined in Scott Harvey's

⁵⁵ MAPP Midwest Reliability Organization web site on 3/15/2005. http://www.mapp.org/content/mro.shtml

⁵⁶ Midwest Reliability Organization, Frequently Asked Questions web site on 3/15/2005. <u>http://www.midwestreliability.org/FAQ.html</u>

LMP and FTR are two power flow management tools which attempt to automatically and judiciously manage the generation and flow of power within the MISO footprint. MISO will have control of each generator within the footprint.

Midwest Market Initiative presentation on Consumer Impact of LMP Pricing, October 20, 2003, slide 33, on web site on 1/1/2005. http://www.midwestiso.org/meeting_agendas/Consumer%20Impact%20of%20LMP%20Pricing.pdf

⁵⁸ Locational pricing provides a means to allocate the short-term use of the transmission grid but does not allocate the right to use the transmission grid (without paying congestion) among those who are paying the embedded costs of the grid. When there is transmission congestion, 1) the right to use the transmission grid is valuable, 2) locational pricing will cause the ISO to collect congestion rents (the difference between payments by load and payments to generators), 3) the price of transmission use can be very volatile and 4) actual redispatch costs are not known until generators provide bids for redispatch and transmission schedules are set.

The uncertainty of congestion charges under a market-based congestion pricing system creates a demand for congestion hedges or transmission rights.

Financial transmission rights (FTRs) enable market participants to "lock-in" a price for transmission prior to the day-ahead market. 1) The owner of a FTR pays or is paid the hourly cost of congestion (\$/MWh) between two locations on the transmission system. Thus, the owner of an A to B FTR receives Price at B-Price at A. 2) If the FTR owner's net injections and withdrawals match the FTR quantities, then the FTR is financially equivalent to a traditional firm transmission right. 3) FTRs provide the financial equivalent of firm transmission for market participants that use their FTRs to support bilateral transactions, as defined in Scott Harvey's Midwest Market Initiative presentation on Consumer Impact of LMP Pricing, October 20, 2003, slide 83, on web site on 1/1/2005.

http://www.midwestiso.org/meeting_agendas/Consumer%20Impact%20of%20LMP%20Pricing.pdf



Figure 14. Midwest Independent System Operators Current Members⁵⁹

"LMP prices recognize the Locational differences in the cost of meeting incremental load that are a result of the need to redispatch generation to avoid exceeding transmission limits. LMP pricing supports system reliability by providing generators and load with financial incentives to respond to real-time dispatch instructions. LMP pricing is a form of market-based pricing, since prices are determined by the bids and offers of market participants and all suppliers are paid the market clearing price at their location."⁶⁰

"FTR recognizes that the uncertainty of congestion charges under a market-based congestion pricing system creates a demand for congestion hedges or transmission

⁵⁹ *MISO Home: Our Members* web site on 1/1/2005. <u>http://www.midwestiso.org/about_signatories.shtml</u>

⁶⁰ *Midwest Market Initiative* web site on 1/1/2005. <u>http://www.midwestiso.org/meeting_agendas/Consumer%20Impact%20of%20LMP%20</u> <u>Pricing.pdf</u> rights. Financial transmission rights enable market participants to obtain longterm transmission price certainty, just like yesterday's physical transmission rights. Financial transmission rights are designed to hedge congestion costs without undermining open access or the incentive of generators to respond to dispatch instructions and LMP prices. Financial transmission rights also provide the mechanism for disposing of the congestion rents collected by the ISO under locational pricing."⁶¹

(For an in-depth discussion of LMP and FTRs see MISO website:

http://www.midwestiso.org/meeting_agendas/Consumer%20Impact%20of%20LMP%20

Pricing.pdf).

⁶¹ *Midwest Market Initiative* web site on 1/1/2005. <u>http://www.midwestiso.org/meeting_agendas/Consumer%20Impact%20of%20LMP%20</u> <u>Pricing.pdf</u>

Costs of Joining MISO

MISO membership benefits and costs are a hotly contested topic. Some

companies are joining MISO only to later realize the cost burdens are not offset by the

marginal benefits.

"State regulators will soon consider whether to allow Louisville Gas & Electric Co. and Kentucky Utilities to pull out of a regional utility organization that charges millions of dollars a year in membership fees but, in the companies' view, provides modest benefits.

"Testimony concluded this week in the case, which pits LG&E and KU against an organization they helped found in 1996, the Midwest Independent Transmission System Operator (MISO).

"The first regional transmission organization approved by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, MISO monitors the electric transmission system over 1.1 million square miles from Manitoba, Canada, to Kentucky.

"MISO was founded to manage electric transmission through the region more efficiently. Since then, according to the Kentucky power companies, the not-forprofit organization has taken on the job of running a wholesale electricity market, expected to begin in December. Annual assessments to LG&E and KU now total \$7 million to \$8 million a year and are expected to balloon toward \$20 million annually when the wholesale market launches.

"The Kentucky Public Service Commission, which opened an investigation into MISO membership last July, could rule on withdrawal in the next few months. LG&E and KU have stipulated that they will pull out if the commission allows them to charge customers for exit fees and if FERC allows them to operate as stand-alone utilities. FERC has pushed utilities to join regional transmission organizations since the mid-1990s.

"Even after paying MISO a \$23.8 million exit fee, the utilities would save more than \$65 million over the next five years by leaving, officials at parent company LG&E Energy have told the PSC.

"'Over the long term, LG&E's and KU's customers will fare better economically if the companies withdraw from MISO,' Paul Thompson, LG&E Energy senior vice president, energy services, said in filings with the state regulators. "MISO officials argue that the utilities have enjoyed significant benefits under MISO, including cost savings and greater reliability of the transmission grid.

"Belonging to the regional organization also gives utilities 'a bigger free-trade zone,' MISO vice president and general counsel Stephen Kozey said in an interview yesterday. 'You can move power around more than just in your one area for one charge.'

"Broad system oversight from a regional organization 'prevents the grid from being oversold,' he said.

"MISO calculates that LG&E and KU would actually come out \$279 million ahead over the next five years by remaining in the organization.

"The MISO figures, however, take credit for all of the savings LG&E and KU have seen and continue to enjoy after their 1998 merger, because FERC required the companies to join the transmission organization before it would approve the deal. Through the end of 2003, MISO said, retail customers had received about \$140 million in billing credits and payments because of the merger. Merger also helped the company save \$36 million in fuel costs, MISO maintains.

"'LG&E and KU's retail ratepayers have received enormous benefits from the merger of the two companies,' James Torgerson, MISO's president and chief executive, said in PSC testimony. Without MISO membership, he said, the merger might never have happened.

"'MISO has done and will do nothing — through the provision of services or otherwise — to bring about these merger-related benefits,' countered Michael Beer, vice president of rates and regulatory for LG&E and KU. The benefits came from 'wise regulation, strong company leadership and sound business initiatives,' Beer testified.

"The savings are 'not a unique benefit of MISO membership and would not disappear if the utilities leave,' he said.

"LG&E and KU particularly object to a fee that goes to pay for the wholesale energy market. Since the companies' power rates are among the lowest in the nation, and they have plenty of generating capacity, they're unlikely to import more costly supplies from neighboring utilities, the companies argue.

"Torgerson said in testimony Thursday that he was 'a little shocked' by the request to pull out, and that if the companies left, it would raise costs to other members. He maintained that the companies and their customers would benefit from continued participation. "He also ruled out an LG&E/KU proposal that the utilities be allowed to withdraw from MISO while maintaining some coordination of transmission grids. "We have made a corporate decision not to provide services to anybody who is not a member," he said.

"The Kentucky utilities had proposed to pay MISO for any associated costs, but to be exempt from the wholesale market expenses. MISO expects the final bill for establishing the market to hit about \$190 million.

"LG&E and KU have also questioned what they see as MISO's free-spending ways. 'MISO can, and apparently does, spend whatever it thinks it needs to ... with little or no meaningful review' by the companies that ultimately bear the costs, Thompson said in a filing.

"MISO says its expenditures are under the control of a board of directors that oversees all its operations."⁶²

Additionally, Margot Lutzenhiser, associate economist with Public Power Council, has

argued the excessive MISO membership cost increase forecasts versus load increase forecasts do

not justify a rational membership commitment to MISO.

⁶² Louisville, KY newspaper, *Courier Journal* of April 10, 2004 website on 1/7/05. http://www.courier-journal.com/business/news2004/04/10/F1-PSC10-6472.html



Figure 15. Existing and Proposed RTO Configurations⁶³ (White = No ISO/RTO)

⁶³ Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, on web site on 2/16/2005. http://www.ferc.gov/industries/electric/indus-act/rto/rto-map.asp





Figure 16. Annual U.S. RTO/ISO Operating Costs (2003 dollars)⁶⁴

⁶⁴ Lutzenhiser, Margot, Associate Economist, Public Power Council, "Cooperative Analysis of RTO/ISO Operating Costs," 17 August 2004, slide 3 on web site on 1/16/2005. http://www.ppcpdx.org/ComparativeAnalysisTWO.FINAL.pdf

IZE/2003 - MISO Issues an additional 1/1/02 - Began selling regional transmission service under its Open Access Transmission Tariff 5100M in notes to mature in 2013 at 4.62% per annum \$204,592,503 2002 - Integrated the Michigan Electric Transmission Company, bring the number of control areas in MISO's 55.42% 24.00% 2004 **4** March 2004 - Projected start date for LMP based, dayahead and real-time energy markets, and a financial Estimated Cost of Restructured Markets: \$131,642,000 68.71% 71.10% transmission rights (FTR) market 2003 373 \$247.8 million (including capital service territory up to 28 and deferred operating costs \$78,029,133 128.85% 49.25% 2002 218 coordination services, operations planning coordination, long-term regional planning, market monitoring and dispute resolution peneration interconnection, maintenance 12/15/01 - Began providing security \$34,005,882 82.58% 64.50% 2001 ₽ 6/1/00 - MISO Issues \$100M in long-term debt at 8.75% sentces. return to mature in 2012 \$20,726,446 2000 8 . \$200 \$150 222 % Increase \$100 8 % Increase Op Cost Staffing suoilliM

Midwest ISO Annual Operating Costs (2003 Dollars)

Figure 17. Midwest ISO Annual Operating Costs (2003 Dollars)⁶⁵

Costs," 17 August 2004, slide 10 on web site on 1/16/2005. http://www.ppcpdx.org/ComparativeAnalysisTWO.FINAL.pdf ⁶⁵ Lutzenhiser, Margot, Associate Economist, Public Power Council, "Cooperative Analysis of RTO/ISO Operating



ISO/RTO Net Annual Energy Demand (Load)

Figure 18. ISO/RTO Net Annual Energy Demand (Load)⁶⁶

OPPD hired consulting group Christensen Associates in April of 2005 to conduct a cost-benefit analysis for OPPD to join MISO. Christensen forecasted a participation cost of \$4.928 Million in 2005 with an average annual increase of 2.7% for the ensuing four years. This nearly \$5M annual expenditure does not include increased staffing (estimated at \$250,000/yr), software (\$750,000 capital expenditure plus \$150,000/yr support) and legal/regulatory costs (\$750,000/yr). Christensen's benefit analysis assumed a 25% increase in wholesale sales volume for OPPD, yet OPPD sold 91.94% of

⁶⁶ Lutzenhiser, Margot, Associate Economist, Public Power Council, "Cooperative Analysis of RTO/ISO Operating Costs," 17 August 2004, slide 5, on web site on 1/17/2005. <u>http://www.ppcpdx.org/ComparativeAnalysisTWO.FINAL.pdf</u>

available base load power in 2004, so only 8.09% (100%-91.94%) headroom exists, under perfect marketing conditions. Also Christensen assumed a 15% increase in wholesale prices yet MISO claims that RTO participation results in lower energy prices for member participants.⁶⁷

It is this author's current opinion that OPPD has postponed commitment to this MISO market because of three reasons. First, OPPD is exempt from mandatory participation so OPPD is afforded the luxury to "wait and see". Second, costs do not justify the current foreseen benefits and MISO administrative fees would be allocated to not only OPPD's Wholesale customers as (MAPP currently subscribes), but also to OPPD's retail customers, possibly resulting in higher retail rates. Third, the MISO model appears on the surface to benefit FTR participants in lieu of generation owners. This FTR benefit exists because the market delta between marginal generation offering price and marginal load bid price is a benefit to the FTR holder, not the generation unit owner, as is currently the scenario. OPPD assets are heavily skewed towards generation versus FTR ownership.

⁶⁷ Morey, Mathew J. Ph.D., Senior Consultant, Christensen Associates Energy Consulting LLC, "The Costs and Benefits for OPPD of Membership in the Midwest ISO," 29 April 2005, Afternoon Session slides 37-40.

Transmission

Overview

"Transmission Provider (TP) is the public utility (or its designated agent) that owns or controls facilities used for the transmission of electric energy in interstate commerce."⁶⁸ OPPD is a TP. The customers within the OPPD Control Area (CA) are "Native Load Customers." Native Load Customers are defined as "the wholesale and retail customers on whose behalf the Transmission Provider, (OPPD), by statute, franchise, regulatory requirements, or contract, has undertaken an obligation to construct and operate the Transmission Provider's system to meet the reliable electric needs of such customers."⁶⁹ OPPD provides transmission services to its Native Load Customers via transmission lines. "Network Integration Transmission Service, allows a Transmission Provider to integrate, plan, economically dispatch and regulate its resources (Transmission System) to serve its Native Load Customers."⁷⁰ Network Integration Transmission Service will be referred to as "Network Service" for the remainder of this thesis.

⁶⁸ Glossary of terms, FERC Glossary web site on 12/04/2004. http://www.tsin.com/gloss.html

⁶⁹ Glossary of terms, FERC Glossary web site on 12/04/2004. http://www.tsin.com/gloss.html

⁷⁰ Glossary of terms, FERC Glossary web site on 12/04/2004. http://www.tsin.com/gloss.html

Load

"Load is any device to which power is delivered."⁷¹ Examples of load include appliances, street lights, and heating/ventilation/air conditioning (HVAC) units. The instantaneous summation of a CA's load is defined as "Native Load." A CA's native load is changing every moment of the day as Native Load Customers turn on and turn off loads. Forecasting loads becomes even more complicated due to weather changes, which can be sudden and unpredictable. For example, especially given OPPD's Great Plains location, changes in cloud cover or moving barometric pressure high and low lines can result in thunderstorms instantly materializing. Abrupt changes in weather conditions instantly affect HVAC load resulting in volatile load swings.

There are times when CA's have greater capacity to generate power (i.e., supply) than native load (i.e., demand): that is, the CA has a surplus. Conversely, there are times when CA's have more native load (i.e., demand) than generation capacity (i.e., supply): that is, a deficit.⁷² When imbalances occur between supply and demand within a CA, marketing staffs of the power companies purchase or sell power to rebalance the supply and demand. The selling of surplus power or purchasing to cover a deficit of power, and

⁷¹ *GuruNet* website on 12/04/2004. http://www.gurunet.com/query;jsessionid=2m4kop7ywn5iu?s=load

⁷² MAPP requires members to carry excess Operating Reserves sufficient to account for such factors as errors in forecasting, generation and transmission equipment unavailability, number and size of generating units, system equipment forced outage rates, maintenance schedules, regulating requirements, and Regional and system load diversity. Load Serving Entities have the option to purchase their reserves through the market, through bilateral contracts, multilateral arrangements, or self-supply as defined by the MAPP Generation Reserve Subcommittee presentation on December 19, 2002, as seen at website on 3/25/2004.

http://www.mapp.org/assets/pwrpnt/PEMwrkshp/Poff%20Trence%20Beuning.ppt

thus, rebalance a CA, is conducted by transporting power from surplus CAs into deficit CAs. When Control Areas transact wholesale power between one another, then the CAs must purchase a transmission path to facilitate the flow of the power.

MAPP Service Schedule F Regional Tariff

The governing agreement for transmission transactions within the MAPP region is MAPP Service Schedule F. The regional tariff is administered at the MAPP Center.⁷³ MISO is under contract to administer the tariff for MAPP. The transmission service is referred to as Point-to-Point, meaning, "The reservation and transmission of capacity and energy on either firm or non-firm basis from the Point(s) of Receipt to the Points(s) of Delivery under Part II (which describes specific details of the tariff) of the Tariff."

⁷³ The MAPP Center is located at Energy Park Drive, St. Paul, MN 55108 as stated at the MAPP Contact US web site on 11/20/2004. http://www.mapp.org/content/contact_us.shtml

Degrees of "Firmness"

Within MAPP, there are seven different levels of "firmness" of transmission to purchase. NERC Level 1, Secondary Point-to-Point Non-Firm Service (NS1), is the weakest level⁷⁴ of transmission firmness and NERC Level 7, Firm Service (F7), is the firmest level of transmission. Firm transmission (F7) is a preferred reliability factor to non-firm transmission. If a transmission requestor is denied Level 7, then the requester may initiate a follow-up request at a lower level of firmness. Pricing of transmission is highest for Level 7 and lowest for Level 1. When an unexpected change in the operational limits of transmission are exceeded on the grid⁷⁵ usually caused by generating units⁷⁶ shutting down or transmission lines being severed, then transmission flows change instantly and the MAPP Security Coordinator Operator⁷⁷ will implement a Transmission

⁷⁵ Grid is defined as the aggregate transmission network.

⁷⁶ Generating unit is defined as an electromechanical device to convert mechanical energy into electrical energy as defined in *Illustrated Encyclopedic Dictionary of Electronics*, pg. 256.

⁷⁴ Transmission service type refers to the NERC defined levels of transmission service reliability: Level 1 is Secondary Point-to-Point Non-Firm Service; Level 2 is Hourly Non-Firm; Level 3 is Reserve Non-Firm Daily, Level 4 is Reserve Non-Firm Weekly, Level 5 is Reserve Non-Firm Monthly, level 6 is Network Non-Firm Service, and Level 7 is Firm Service, either daily, weekly, or monthly as defined in *MAPP Policies and Procedures*, pg, 29.

⁷⁷ MAPP Security Coordinator Operator is defined as the overseer of the operation of the bulk transmission system in the MAPP region. They monitor the status of the power system to verify the system is within the operating limits and guides. Through coordination of the transmission provider, the Security Coordinator may curtail schedules to eliminate an operating limit by using the NERC TLR procedure as defined in *MAPP Regional Security Plan* on web site on 2/23/2005. http://www.mapp.org/assets/pdf/2000REGIONALSEC.PDF

Line Loading Relief (TLR)⁷⁸ procedure to relieve the overloaded lines. The dispatched energy is reduced sequentially from Level 1 through Level 7. Level 7 is the last to be curtailed.⁷⁹ It can therefore be concluded that, if there are several legs in a transaction, then the reliability of the transaction is only as strong as the weakest link.

⁷⁸ TLR- Transmission Line Loading Relief- the procedure whereby MAPP Schedule F service is curtailed using NERC Transmission Loading Relief Procedures.

⁷⁹ Curtailment is a reduction in firm or non-firm transmission service in response to a transmission capacity shortage or as a result of system reliability conditions as defined in Party as defined in: Common Service Provisions, Definitions, Section 1.7 in the *Mid-Continent Area Power Pool FERC Electric Tariff*.

Three Step Transmission Purchasing Process

The process of purchasing transmission has three steps. First, the purchasing entity requests to purchase the transmission path. The request is made via a secured internet portal from the Transmission Provider's (TP) OASIS web site.⁸⁰ Each Transmission Provider maintains its unique OASIS site.

Secondly, the OASIS simultaneously prompts MISO to run the requested transmission purchase through the "MAPP model", which is a robust computer program that assesses the request, and its impacts on Available Transmission Capability (ATC).⁸¹ ATC is a measure of the transfer capability remaining in the physical transmission network for further commercial activity over and above already committed uses. An indepth derivation of the MAPP Model algorithms can be found in the *MAPP Procedures Manual.*⁸² The MAPP Model generates an "ACCEPTED" response or "REFUSED" response. The response is automatically sent to the requesting party via email. The time consumed by the MAPP Model in formulating its reply is directly related to the amount of requested transmission: short time period requests (i.e., one hour) receive a MAPP Model response within minutes, but a multi-year request may take several weeks or

⁸¹ ATC is a measure of the transfer capability remaining in the physical transmission network for further commercial activity over and above already committed uses as defined at *The Energy and Power Risk Management Glossary* web site on 2/15/2005. http://www.riskwaters.com/guides/engloss/eprmglosa.htm

⁸² MAPP Policies and Procedures for Transmission Operations, Appendix F, MAPP Request Evaluation Process on secured web site on 11/07/2004. <u>https://webmail.oppd.com/exchweb/bin/redir.asp?URL=http://toinfo.oasis.mapp.org/oasis</u> info/info.htm?page=/oasisinfo/polproc.htm

⁸⁰ OPPD OASIS at secured web site on 11/15/05. https://mapp.oasis.mapp.org/OASIS/OPPD

months to evaluate before responding.

Third, if the MAPP Model response to the purchasing entity is "ACCEPTED" the purchaser has to respond within a certain time period, (i.e., within five minutes on a "next hour" request, versus, twenty-four hours on a six month request⁸³) with a "CONFIRM" response or a "WITHRAWN" response. If the time limit for response is exceeded, then the MAPP Model responds with a "WITHDRAWN" status and the transmission request is annulled. If the response to the purchasing entity is "REFUSED" because of insufficient ATC, then the requestor must either abandon their efforts for the requested path, or adjust the submitted parameters in combination or singularly of Start Date and Time, Stop Date and Time, Capacity Requested⁸⁴, Point or Receipt (POR)⁸⁵, Point of Delivery (POD)⁸⁶, Source⁸⁷, Sink⁸⁸ or Service Type⁸⁹ and resubmit the request. If a TP

⁸³ MAPP Schedule F: Open-Access Transmission Tariff, Schedule 1: Scheduling and Tariff Administration Service, pg 97 on web site on 9/27/04. http://toinfo.oasis.mapp.org/oasisinfo/

⁸⁴ The amount of energy requested to be transmitted in units of MWh.

⁸⁵ Point of Receipt (POR) is a Point of interconnection on the Transmission System where capacity and energy will be made available to the Transmission Providers by the Delivering Party as defined in: Common Service Provisions, Definitions, Section 1.27 in the *Mid-Continent Area Power Pool FERC Electric Tariff*.

⁸⁶ Point of Delivery (POD) is the Point on the Transmission System where capacity and energy transmitted by the Transmission Providers will be made available to the Receiving Party as defined in the defined in: Common Service Provisions, Definitions, Section 1.26 in the *Mid-Continent Area Power Pool FERC Electric Tariff*.

⁸⁷ Source is Control Area of the POR

⁸⁸ Sink is the Control Area of the POD

mistakenly "ACCEPTED" a transmission request which was later "CONFIRMED" by a customer, then the TP will "ANNUL" the request.



Figure 19. Three-step transmission request process

⁸⁹ Service type refers to the Level of Transmission type requested, Level 1 through Level 7.

Edit Profile			
Customer Information		Seller Information	
Name Thomas James Sandoz Company OPPM	Duns		
Comments			
Status Notification			
E-Mail http://			
		Reference Numbers	
Dates and Times		Reference Numbers	
Start Date and Time 11/20/2004 00:00:00 CS Stop Date and Time 11/21/2004 00:00:00 CS Edit Profile Edit Profile		Deal Request Sale Posting Related Ref Image: Content of the second s	
Dates and Times Start Date and Time 11/20/2004 00:00:00 CS • Stop Date and Time 11/21/2004 00:00:00 CS • Edit Profile Service Information		Reference Numbers Deal Request Sale Posting Related Ref	
Dates and Times Start Date and Time 11/20/2004 00:00:00 Capacity Requested 50 Preconfirmed		Reference Numbers Deal Request Sale Posting Related Ref Image: Comparison of the second se	

	POD FTCALHOUN1	
Path Name NONE		
Source	Sink OPPD	
Source (if - OTHER-)	Sink (if - OTHER-)	
Edit Profile		

Figure 20. New Transmission request template form from MAPP OASIS

Three Transmission Purchasing Scenarios

There are three different scenarios which dictate the means of acquiring the transmission required for a transaction within MAPP: Network Service, "Wheeling," and MAPP Service Schedule F.

1) Network Service

If the transacting Control Areas are directly interconnected, like OPPD and MEC, then both CAs can use their respective OASIS Tariffs and Network Service to deliver the power from the source CA substation⁹⁰ to the substation of the neighboring directly interconnected sinking CA.⁹¹ (Recall, each CA has its own OASIS web portal, and the required transmission is purchased via these secured web sites.) The sinking CA will transmit and distribute the purchased power from its substation to its native load. No money is exchanged for the transmission rights between the two companies because the two companies are using their own assets exclusively (i.e., paying in kind) to facilitate the transaction.

⁹⁰ Substation-an assemblage of equipment for the purpose of switching and/or changing or regulating the voltage of electricity as defined in *Electric Utility Systems and Practices*, pg. 177.

⁹¹ The actual interconnect may exist at a point between the two substations whereby each interconnecting CA would provide a physical meter to measure the flow at the tie point.



Figure 21. OPPD sale to direct interconnect Control Area MEC

As an example, if OPPD were to sell power "delivered to the border," to MEC, then OPPD marketing would purchase "firm network transmission" from OPPD's OASIS Tariff, (administered by OPPD's transmission division) to deliver power from OPPD to the MEC.OPPD⁹² border point. OPPD's financial exchange is between different divisions within OPPD, so all the dollars remain "in-house". Concurrently, MEC marketing would acquire "network service" from MEC's Tariff, administered by MEC's transmission division, from the interconnection point MEC.OPPD to the MEC CA. MEC's financial exchange for transmission also remains "in-house". The net result is power generated at OPPD flows to MEC and neither company incurs any net transmission expenses.

"Existing firm service customers (... with a contract term of one-year or more) have the right to continue to take transmission service from the Transmission Provider (OPPD) when the contract expires, rolls over or is renewed. ... The existing firm service customer must agree to accept a contract term at least equal to a competing request by any new Eligible Customer and to pay the current just and reasonable rate for such service. This transmission reservation priority for existing firm service

⁹² OPPD.MEC is the nomenclature used in Tariff administration language to depict a border point between two interconnecting control areas, OPPD and MEC. Arbitrary CAs XXX and YYY, border point would be XXX.YYY, for example OPPD.WAUE.

customers is an ongoing right that may be exercised at the end of all firm contract terms of one-year or longer."⁹³ (Bolding added)

This ongoing roll-over right for one-year or longer firm transmission on OPPD's Tariff is a critical advantage to the other transmission options available.

One touted advantage to joining an RTO like MISO or SPP is the "free" access to Network Service as described above. This Network Service is applicable to the entire RTO footprint up to a capacity equal to the CA's Native Load. The only marginal benefit is in the expansion of the RTO's network footprint relative to a CA's footprint. Also, "free" is in addition to Loss re-payments (8%, or about \$3.00 per MWh typically), administrative and ancillary service fees (0.50 per MWh), all totaling typical existing Network tariff cost.

2) "Wheeling"

If the CAs are not directly interconnected, then multiple "'legs" of transmission would be purchased to transfer the power from the selling CA to the buying CA. This is termed "wheeling."⁹⁴ "Wheeling is the contracted use of electrical facilities of one or more entities to transmit electricity for another entity." For our example, assume WAPA sells power to OPPD and OPPD is to arrange for all the transmission paths (legs) and costs from WAPA to OPPD. But, WAPA and OPPD are not now directly interconnected. (Refer to Figure 13 on page 25).

⁹³ Omaha Public Power District Open Access Transmission Tariff, Section 2.2: Reservation Priority for Existing Firm Service Customers, pg 23 on web site on 11/6/2994, (Bolding added). http://ww1.oppd.com/prodsvc/pdf/tariff.pdf

⁹⁴ North American Electric Reliability Council (NERC) Glossary of Terms on website on 12/5/04. <u>ftp://ftp.nerc.com/pub/sys/all_updl/docs/pubs/glossv10.pdf</u>



Figure 22. WAPA to MEC to OPPD "Wheeling" example

WAPA = Western Area Power Administration OPPD= Omaha Public Power District MEC= MidAmerican Energy WAUE.MEC= Tariff defined interconnect point between WAPA and MEC MEC.OPPD= Tariff defined interconnect point between OPPD and MEC

For the first leg, OPPD will purchase WAPA transmission from WAPA to WAUE.MEC, the border point between WAPA and MEC.

The second-leg in the transaction is the wheel. There are two types of wheels. A "buy-resale" involves OPPD selling the WAPA acquired power to MEC at the WAUE.MEC point, then immediately purchasing back an equivalent amount of power at another point in MEC's control area, a point that is capable of flowing to OPPD. OPPD pays MEC a negotiated fee for this service, typically about 10% of market price, but MEC is under no obligation to perform this service and each transaction is negotiated separately, if even allowed to occur. The second type of wheel would be for OPPD to purchase MEC transmission from WAUE.MEC to MEC.OPPD.

Finally, in leg 3, OPPD acquires network service from its own tariff from the OPPD.MEC border point to OPPD.

This cumbersome task of moving power between non-interconnected CA's was simplified by the implementation of MAPP Service Schedule F.

3) MAPP Service Schedule F

In response to FERC Order 888 and FERC Order 889 issued in April 1996,

MAPP established a "point to point" tariff called MAPP Service Schedule F. Schedule F serves to evaluate all the legs of a transaction as a single path, so the user, in the request, either [a] could indicate the source generator or Point of Receipt (POR) and the sinking substation/generator; or [b] could indicate the Point of Delivery (POD). MAPP then would evaluate this request as one single request. From the requester's vantage, this was much easier to administer then the wheeling scenario described above in Option 2. Fees for the transmission are paid to MAPP, whereupon MAPP allocates a payment to the transmission owners in a percentage equal to their percent of contribution to the flow of the power.

'The MAPP Schedule F tariff can be used for point-to-point transmission service utilizing the MAPP Transmission System that is less than or equal to 6 consecutive months in duration."⁹⁵

"The MAPP Schedule F Tariff only offers short-term transmission service, therefore no rollover rights are offered."⁹⁶ (Boldness added)

Lack of roll over rights and the short term nature of MAPP Schedule F Service

render it an inferior choice for transmission service for OPPD's long-term multi-year

WAPA allocation contract. OPPD's tariff allows for multi-year long firm transmission

with rollover provisions.

⁹⁵ *MAPP Policies and Procedures*. Sub-section 1.2: Scope, under Section 1: MAPP Schedule F Regional Tariff. Version July 1, 2004, on web site on 11/6/2004. http://toinfo.oasis.mapp.org/oasisinfo/

⁹⁶ *MAPP Polices and Procedures*. Sub-section 1.17.5: Rollover Rights, under Section 1.17 Changes in MAPP Schedule F Transmission Service, Version July 1, 2004 on web site on 11/6/2004. (Boldness added) <u>http://toinfo.oasis.mapp.org/oasisinfo/</u>

The Drought Impact

The recent increases in bilateral sales from OPPD to WAPA can be attributed to the corresponding drought conditions in the geographic area which supplies water to the WAPA dams.

The six main stem power plants (Fort Peck, Garrison, Oahe, Big Bend, Fort Randall and Gavins Point) generated a record low 0.31 terawatt hours (TWh) of electricity in October of 2004. This is an output 36% of normal. The forecast for 2004 energy production is 6.50 TWh, compared to a normal of 10.0 TWh. This 2004 forecast is 65% of normal.⁹⁷

⁹⁷ Paraphrased from *Water Management Monthly News Release*, US Army Corps of Engineers, Northwestern Division Public Affairs Office, November 12, 2004: "The six main stem power plants (Fort Peck, Garrison, Oahe, Big Bend, Fort Randall and Gavins Point) generated a record low 310 million kilowatt hours (kWh) of electricity in October 2004, 36% of normal. The forecast for 2004 energy production is 6.5 billion kWh, compared to a normal of 10 billion kWh (65% of normal)."



Figure 23. Gavins Point Annual Water release in Million Acre-Feet. ⁹⁸

⁹⁸ Bob Keasling, Missouri River Basin Water Management Division.



Figure 24. Main Stem System (Fort Peck, Garrison, Oahe, Big Bend, Fort Randall and Gavins Point) Generation⁹⁹



Figure 25. Total Annual OPPD Sales to WAPA (10,000 MWh)¹⁰⁰

⁹⁹ Bob Keasling, Missouri River Basin Water Management Division.

¹⁰⁰ Source is OPPD Accounting, Gretchen Lax, Programmer Analyst, Business Unit Systems Support.
As the data suggests, there appears to be an inverse relationship between WAPA System Generation and OPPD Sales to WAPA. If the current drought cycle eventually subsides, then the bilateral sales to WAPA could decrease significantly. Additionally, as OPPD's Native Load expands, the remaining Wholesale energy available to sell will decrease until OPPD increases base load generation.¹⁰¹ As a result of unknown bilateral Wholesale transactions between OPPD and WAPA, a worse case scenario (no bilateral transactions) also will be considered when later analyzing the data in this thesis.

¹⁰¹ OPPD is currently planning the construction of a 600+ MW base load coal plant at Nebraska City. The plant is named Nebraska City 2, as it is being situated next to OPPD's existing Nebraska City 1 plant. The plant is forecasted to be on-line in Spring of 2009. Approximately half of the generation is committed in long term contracts with other public utilities, leaving OPPD with a net increase of about 300+ MW.



Figure 26. OPPD Load and Capability¹⁰²

¹⁰² Chart source is Jon Iverson, Senior Resource Planning Engineer. MAPP Reserves are the required 15% peak load installed reserves margin. Planning Reserves are OPPD's self imposed 50 MW "safety margin." For a detailed table of the source data used to generate this chart, Appendix 7 on page 153

Nebraska Power Review Board

"The Nebraska Power Review Board is a state agency created in 1963 to regulate Nebraska's publicly owned electrical utility industry. Nebraska is unique in that it is the only state in the country served entirely by publicly owned power entities. These utilities include public power districts, cooperatives, and municipalities.

"The Power Review Board consists of five members appointed by the Governor and confirmed by the legislature. Board members serve four-year terms and cannot serve more than two consecutive terms. No more than three Board members may belong to the same political party as the Governor. The Board must include an engineer, an attorney, an accountant, and two laypersons, with no geographic boundary restrictions. The Board is a cash-funded agency and therefore receives no funds from general tax revenues. The Board's operating funds are received entirely from assessments levied on power suppliers operating in the State of Nebraska. The executive director is appointed by the Board.

"The Board's duties and responsibilities are set out in Chapter 70, article 10 of the Nebraska Revised Statutes (Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 70-1001 through 70-1027). One of the Board's primary responsibilities is the creation and certification of retail and wholesale service area agreements between electric utilities operating in Nebraska. Any amendments to existing agreements must be approved by the Board. The Board maintains the official records pertaining to these agreements, which establish the geographic territory in which each utility operating in Nebraska has the exclusive right to serve customers. There are approximately 390 such agreements maintained by the Board.

"Another primary function of the Board is to approve the construction of new electric generation facilities in Nebraska and the construction or acquisition of transmission lines or related facilities carrying more than 700 volts. Board approval is not required for the construction or acquisition of transmission line extensions located within a supplier's own certified service area.

"In addition, the Board can hold hearings to address disputes between a utility and its customers under limited circumstances, approves microwave communication facilities built by public power districts, oversees the preparation and filing of a coordinated long-range power supply plan, approves the petitions for creation of public power districts and amendments to the petitions for creation (also called "charters") of public power districts, and prepares a biennial report for the Governor and Legislature which includes such information as a list of all power suppliers in Nebraska, the assessment paid by each supplier, electrical supply and demand statistics, and a summary of the Board's activities."¹⁰³ (Bolding added).

The Power Review Board wields considerable influence. Transmission and

Generation construction endeavors in the State of Nebraska must meet the approval¹⁰⁴ of

¹⁰³ Nebraska Power Review Board web site on 12/31/2004, (bolding added.). <u>http://www.nprb.state.ne.us/</u>

¹⁰⁴ 70-1011 **Suppliers; service outside area; application for approval; when granted; applicability of section.** Except by agreement of the suppliers involved, no supplier shall offer electric service to additional ultimate users outside its service area or construct or acquire a new electric line or extend an existing line into the service area of another supplier for the purpose of furnishing service to ultimate users therein without first applying to the board and receiving approval thereof, after due notice and hearing under rules and regulations of the board. Such approval shall be granted only if the board finds that the customer or customers proposed to be served cannot or will not be furnished adequate electric service by the supplier in whose service area the customer is located, or that the provision thereof by such supplier would involve wasteful and unwarranted duplication of facilities. This section shall not apply to agreements referred to in subsection (2) of section 70-1002.

70-1012 Electric generation facilities and transmission lines; construction or acquisition; application; approval; when not required. Before any electric generation facilities or any transmission lines or related facilities carrying more than seven hundred volts are constructed or acquired by any supplier, an application, filed with the board and containing such information as the board shall prescribe, shall be approved by the board, except that such approval shall not be required (1) for the construction or acquisition of a transmission line extension or related facilities within a supplier's own service area or for the construction or acquisition of a line not exceeding one-half mile outside its own service area when all owners of electric lines located within one-half mile of the extension consent thereto in writing and such consents are filed with the board, (2) for any generation facility when the board finds that: (a) Such facility is being constructed or acquired to replace a generating plant owned by an individual municipality or registered group of municipalities with a capacity not greater than that of the plant being replaced, (b) such facility will generate less than twenty-five thousand kilowatts of electric energy at rated capacity, and (c) the applicant will not use the plant or transmission capacity to supply wholesale power to customers outside the applicant's existing retail service area or chartered territory, or (3) for acquisition of transmission lines or related facilities, within the state, carrying one hundred fifteen thousand volts or less, if the current owner of the transmission lines or related facilities notifies the board of the lines or facilities involved in the transaction and the parties to the transaction.

the Power Review Board. Of note in this analysis, "a construction project must demonstrate a **lack of duplication** of facilities."¹⁰⁵ (Bolding added). These criteria will be within the scope of the author's final recommendation. (See Appendix 5 on page 139 citing relevant excerpts from the *Power Review Board's Revised Rules of Practice and Procedure Manual* specifically relating to transmission construction)

¹⁰⁵ State of Nebraska Power Review Board, Revised Rules of Practice and Procedures, Appendix B, Section 11, as seen in Appendix 5 on page 145, (bolding added).

Nebraska Statute 70-1014: Electric generation facilities and transmission lines; approval or denial of application; findings required. After hearing, the board shall have authority to approve or deny the application. Except as provided in section 70-1014.01 for special generation applications, before approval of an application, the board shall find that the application will serve the public convenience and necessity, and that the applicant can most economically and feasibly supply the electric service resulting from the proposed construction or acquisition, without unnecessary duplication of facilities or operations.

Nebraska Statutes and Constitution, chap. 70, sec. 101; available 2/28/2005 at <u>http://statutes.unicam.state.ne.us/corpus/chapall/chap70.html</u>.

Legal Issues

Seven interconnect options are analyzed in this thesis. Five of the seven analyzed options involve OPPD constructing, owning and maintaining transmission outside of the geographical borders of Nebraska. This section conducts due diligence on the feasibility of OPPD conducting business outside of Nebraska by referencing Nebraska statuary law.

Conversely, this section also will investigate the feasibility of transmission being

constructed, owned and maintained in the targeted State (i.e., Iowa) by entities

incorporated outside the targeted State.

Nebraska's Policy Regarding Ownership of Transmission Assets by Public Power Districts, Outside of Nebraska Borders

Nebraska statute 70-604.09 enacted in 1971 by LB 276, provides in whole:

"A public power district may exercise its powers and engage in business either in the State of Nebraska or in any other state subject to any limitations in the petition for its creation and to the laws of such other state. In order to exercise its powers or engage in business in another state, a public power district shall have power and be authorized to comply with the laws of that state."¹⁰⁶

Nebraska statute 70-625 enacted and revised from 1933 to 2001, provides in part:

"Subject to the limitations of the petition for its creation and all amendments to such petition, a public power district has all the usual powers of a corporation for public purposes and may purchase, hold, sell, and lease personal property and real property reasonably necessary for the conduct of its business."¹⁰⁷

¹⁰⁷ Nebraska Statutes and Constitution, chap. 70, sec. 625; available on web site on 2/28/2005 at <u>http://statutes.unicam.state.ne.us/Corpus/statutes/chap70/R7006025.html</u>.

¹⁰⁶ Nebraska Statutes and Constitution, chap. 70, sec. 604.09; available on web site on 2/28/2005 at http://statutes.unicam.state.ne.us/Corpus/statutes/chap70/R700600409.html.

Nebraska public power districts already own assets outside the State's boundaries. The MINT line (see page 10) resides in Missouri. OPPD also serves load in Carter Lake, IA. The terms of the service are found in the Carter Lake Franchise Agreement, last agreed upon on May 21, 2002 for a period of twenty-five years. Franchise agreements serve as the legal document and process used for establishing long term transmission agreements. The Carter Lake agreement is a two page document consisting of eight sections: Franchise Granted, Construction Maintenance and Indemnification, Metering and Service Lines, Emergency Procedures, System Requirement, Non-exclusivity Clause, Services Provided, and Term of Franchise.

Therefore, it is this author's opinion that OPPD can own transmission assets outside of the State's boundaries through State Statutes, and because OPPD currently has transmission assets outside of Nebraska's boundaries.

Transmission Asset Ownership Rights for Entities Incorporated Outside of Iowa

As mentioned above, The State of Iowa requires a franchise agreement as stated

in detailed language via Chapter 478, Section 1:

"A person shall not construct, erect, maintain, or operate a transmission line, wire, or cable that is capable of operating at an electric voltage of sixty-nine kilovolts or more along, over, or across any public highway or grounds outside of cities for the transmission, distribution, or sale of electric current without first procuring from the utilities board within the utilities division of the department of commerce a franchise granting authority as provided in this chapter."¹⁰⁸

Furthermore, Chapter 478 Section 15, Eminent domain; procedures; states:

"Any person, company, or corporation having secured a franchise as provided in this chapter, shall thereupon be vested with the right of eminent domain to such extent as the utilities board may approve, prescribe and find to be necessary for public use, not exceeding one hundred feet in width for right of way and not exceeding one hundred sixty acres in any one location, in addition to right of way, for the location of electric substations to carry out the purposes of said franchise; provided however, that where two hundred K V lines or higher voltage lines are to be constructed, the person, company, or corporation may apply to the board for a wider right of way not to exceed two hundred feet, and the board may for good cause extend the width of such right of way for such lines to the person, company, or corporation applying for the same. The burden of proving the necessity for public use shall be on the person, company or corporation seeking the franchise. A homestead site, cemetery, orchard or schoolhouse location shall not be condemned for the purpose of erecting an electric substation. If agreement cannot be made with the private owner of lands as to damages caused by the construction of said transmission line, or electric substations, the same proceedings shall be taken as provided for taking private property for works of internal improvement.

Any person, company or corporation proposing to construct a transmission line or other facility which involves the taking of property under the right of eminent domain and desiring to enter upon the land, which it proposes to appropriate, for

¹⁰⁸ Iowa Legislature General Assembly, Iowa Code 2003 and Merged Supplement, chap. 478, sec. 1; available on web site on 12/15/04, (emphasis added) at <u>http://www.legis.state.ia.us/IACODE/Current/</u>.

the purpose of examining or surveying the same, shall first file with the utilities board, a written statement under oath setting forth the proposed routing of the line or facility including a description of the lands to be crossed, the names and addresses of owners, together with request that a permit be issued by said board authorizing said person, company or corporation or its duly appointed representative to enter upon the land for the purpose of examining and surveying and to take and use thereon any vehicle and surveying equipment necessary in making the survey. Said board shall within ten days after said request issue a permit, accompanied by such bond in such amount as the board shall approve, to the person, company or corporation making said application, if in its opinion the application is made in good faith and not for the purpose of harassing the owner of the land. If the board is of the opinion that the application is not made in good faith or made for the purpose of harassment to the owner of said land it shall set the matter for hearing and it shall be heard not more than twenty days after filing said application. Notice of the time and place of hearing shall be given by said board, to the owner of said land by registered mail with a return receipt requested, not less than ten days preceding date of hearing.

Any person, company or corporation that has obtained a permit in the manner herein prescribed may enter upon said land or lands, as above provided, and shall be liable for actual damages sustained in connection with such entry. An action in damages shall be the exclusive remedy."¹⁰⁹

It is this author's opinion that there is nothing in Chapter 478, which explicitly

prohibits an out-of-state entity from exercising eminent domain, provided the entity has

procured a franchise from the utilities board.

¹⁰⁹ Iowa Legislature General Assembly, Iowa Code 2003 and Merged Supplement, chap. 478, sec. 15; available on web site on 12/15/04, (emphasis added) at <u>http://www.legis.state.ia.us/IACODE/Current/</u>.

MAPP Regional Transmission Committee

The MAPP Regional Transmission Committee (RTC):

"is charged with planning for the future transmission needs of the region as well as ensuring that all electric industry participants have equal access to the transmission system. Committee members develop a biennial regional transmission plan, establish regional transmission tariffs and establish operating policies and procedures."¹¹⁰

A subcommittee of the MAPP RTC is the Design Review Subcommittee (DRS).

"The DRS is responsible for granting approval of transmission construction on behalf of

MAPP. The DRS reviews the system impact studies to verify that the construction does

not lessen the stability, reliability, and capacity of the MAPP Reliability Region."¹¹¹ As a

result, upon completion of system impact studies, this proposed project must be presented

to and approved by the MAPP Regional Transmission Committee's Design Review

Subcommittee prior to commencing construction.

¹¹⁰ MAPP Committees on web site on 1/11/2005. http://www.mapp.org/content/mapp_committees.shtml

¹¹¹ Phone interview with Kent Herzog, Transmission and Distribution Project Engineer on 1/12/2005.

Right of Way

Right of way acquisition always is a publicly sensitive issue. Right of way (ROW) acquisition is a process, administered by the State governing bodies, that includes announcements, public hearings, and compromises between land owners and the constructing company (i.e., electric utility). Private property owners usually believe insufficient public notice has been given, and/or insufficient public hearing has been provided, and/or insufficient consideration has been given to their concerns. In American government, taking private property always is a sensitive issue. And, the above does not mention the concerns about "just compensation". The State of Iowa has a detailed Informational Meeting Presentation,¹¹² outlining the process of acquiring Franchise, Right of Way, and if need be, Eminent Domain (Condemnation). This can be found in its entirety in Appendix 4 on page 131

Below is an excerpt from Appendix 4 at page 131 detailing the typical process for obtaining right of way in Iowa (no such document exists for the state of Nebraska).

"A typical sequence of events, as it may affect the landowner, is set forth below.

You should not attach any rigid significance to the sequence. It is merely an example to aid you in understanding the process.

"1. Company planning determines need for the line between termini.

- "2. Prime route, and possibly alternative routes, are tentatively selected.
- "3. Route landowners and tenant names and addresses collected.
- "4. Informational meeting notices mailed.
- "5. Informational meeting is held.

"6. Company right of way personnel contact landowners to solicit voluntary easements.

¹¹² The State of Iowa's Informational Meeting Presentation for the process of constructing transmission on website on 12/15/2004. http://www.state.ia.us/government/com/util/Misc/CBEC/MtgPresentation.pdf "7. The company files petition for franchise with the Utilities Board. Eminent domain may be requested at this same time or later.

"8. Newspaper publishes notices of petition.

"9. Public hearing is held by the Utilities Board.

"10. A Utilities Board decision denying or granting franchise is issued. If the petition requested eminent domain, a ruling granting or denying that right will also be issued.

"11. If the petition and/or eminent domain is denied, the company may petition for rehearing, or appeal the Utilities Board denial to the courts. If the petition is granted, the landowner may petition for rehearing or appeal the Utilities Board decision to the courts. To simplify the balance of this list; it is assumed that the Utilities Board granted the franchise and the right of eminent domain and the decision was not appealed.

"12. The company may commence construction where it has voluntary easement. "13. If eminent domain actions are taken, the company petitions the chief judge of the judicial district for the county involved to appoint a Compensation Commission. (Iowa Code Chapter 6B)

"14. The Compensation Commission sets compensation amounts, the company pays landowners who will accept; posts payment with the sheriff for those who won't, and may commence construction over the balance of the route.

"15. Either the landowners or the company may appeal the amount determined by the Compensation Commission to the courts.

"16. Line construction and clean up completed.

"17. Company pays voluntary easement amounts, agreed-to construction damages to eminent domain parcel owners, and gives written notice of renegotiation right. <u>See</u> Iowa Code Section 6B.52

"18. If the landowner or tenant and company cannot agree on the amount of construction damages, and there is no provision in the easement or other agreement calling for such disputes to be settled by an arbitrator or other means, the landowner or tenant may petition the county board of supervisors to establish a Compensation Commission to determine the damages.

"19. Either the landowners or the company may appeal the amount determined by the Compensation Commission to the courts.

OPPD is currently planning the construction of a 345kV transmission line to

provide an outlet for a planned 600+ MW coal plant named Nebraska City 2, slated for

completion in spring 2009.¹¹³ The proposed line will run from Nebraska City to a newly constructed substation in Southeast Lincoln, in LES Control Area.

"Alison Rider, Manager of Facilities Services and Real Estate, was chosen to develop and coordinate the team that will let the public know what OPPD is planning. The team intends to inform the public about the need for the plant and line. 'We are doing this through personal conversations, letters, public announcements, the news media, a website, community meetings and open houses,' says Alison. A consultant has been hired to identify broad "corridors" in which a line may be routed. Once the corridors have been identified, OPPD will seek public input. 'It doesn't mean the public will design the line, but we need to understand the public perceptions and legitimate concerns about the project and incorporate them into our planning process. It doesn't mean there won't be any conflict or opposition, but it does ensure people will be heard. Taking the time and making the effort to get this input on the front end often saves a lot of money and time in the long run.' The public communication efforts will continue through 2005. Once a final route is selected and approved, the process of acquiring right of way easements begins and engineers can focus on the details of the line design."¹¹⁴

Generically, the cost of right of way is between \$30,000 and \$50,000 per mile,

according to OPPD's Right of Way acquisition personnel. In my analysis, I will use \$50,000 per mile for all capacities analyzed: 161kV, 230 kV, and 345kV. Of course, the non-ROW costs of different sized physical structures will vary considerably, but the right of way costs can be relatively constant regardless of the capacity of the line. Another justification for using a constant cost of the high end cost of \$50,000 per mile for all routes of right of acquisition is that the utility's environmental costs can vary widely and can vary suddenly for each right of way.

¹¹³ Approximately half of the output from NC2 will be owned by other public power entities.

¹¹⁴ Hanson, Jeff. *Flash.* OPPD Corporate Communications Division, November 2004, pg 2.

Often existing transmission right of way is pursued as a first option to minimize public effect and reduce costs.

Environmental Impact Analysis

Environmental impact is closely related to right of way. When routing studies are conducted for right of way placement, environmental impact is a driver in the decision criteria. However, "there is no formal funding requirement for environmental studies, at either the State or federal level. OPPD policy is to conduct routing studies, and to try to avoid wetlands, historical sites, and any other environmentally sensitive areas."¹¹⁵ The routing study costs are allocated in right of way costs.

¹¹⁵ Phone interview with Lawrence Troutman, Manager of Distribution Engineering on December 15, 2004.

System Impact Analysis Studies

When constructing transmission, it is necessary to conduct system impact studies to analyze the post construction effects on the grid. Impact studies are more critical when constructing new generation to study the best alternatives for dispatching the new generation onto the grid. Adding transmission capacity is generally viewed as a benefit to the grid. The purpose of the impact study is to make known the best option for increasing stability and reliability to the grid. Impact studies are conducted by transmission engineering consulting groups and \$150,000 has been allocated in the budget for these studies.

WAPA Policy for Interconnection with Their System

"Western accepts requests from electric utilities, firm-power customers, private power developers, and independent power generators to interconnect with its transmission system. Interconnection is a separate but parallel process to the transmission service request process detailed in Western's *Open Access Transmission Service Tariff* (63 FR 521), the environmental review process outlined in the U.S. Department of Energy's National Environmental Policy Act Implementing Procedures and Western's land acquisition process. These processes may share steps in order to ensure an efficient interconnection. Western tries to make the separate processes as seamless as possible.

"We evaluate each request for interconnection separately and we're subject to meeting reasonable needs of the requesting entity. Western assumes responsibilities to operate and maintain its interconnected facilities.

"Direct interconnection to Western's facilities does not involve nor guarantee transmission capacity on Western's system. Transmission service requests must be made following Western's *Open Access Transmission Service Tariff*.

"For detailed information on the interconnection process, see the *General Requirements for Interconnections* booklet."¹¹⁶

WAPA is accommodating in the transmission interconnection process as

demonstrated by the specific literature available regarding interconnect

procedures. Appendix 6, on page 148 details the eight step process for

interconnect with the WAPA system.

General Requirements for Interconnection, from Western Area Power Administration web site on 1/3/2005. <u>http://www.wapa.gov/interconn/pdf/gri.pdf</u>

Open Access Transmission Service Tariff, from Western Area Power Administration web site on 1/3/2005. <u>http://www.wapa.gov/interconn/tariff.htm</u>

¹¹⁶ Western Area Power Administration web site on 1/3/2005. <u>http://www.wapa.gov/interconn/pdf/gri.pdf</u>

OPPD's Forecasted Debt

OPPD is entering a period of rapid capital expansion due to the construction of Nebraska City 2 Coal Plant (NC2), an upgrade of Fort Calhoun Nuclear Station (FCS) and the construction of new 345 kV transmission to facilitate the increased generation. "The District is planning on issuing up to \$900 million in Long Term Debt over the next five years."¹¹⁷

"Total Debt Service, (principle and interest expense on all debt including bonds, notes, mini-bonds and tax exempt commercial paper), will increase from \$78.8 million in 2003 to a forecasted target of about \$120 million per year within five years."¹¹⁸

"OPPD is required by its bond covenants to maintain a debt service coverage of 1.40 times. The following table reflects the calculation of debt service coverage, indicating OPPD's solid ability to make required debt service payments."¹¹⁹ As a result consideration must be given to the option selected with regard to capital outlay so as to not impede on this required ratio parameter. With the increased debt obligations associated to the NC2 project, and Fort Calhoun upgrade, debt service must be considered.

¹¹⁷ Per phone conversation with John Thurber, Manager, Finance and Capital Management, March 24, 2005.

¹¹⁸ Per phone conversation with John Thurber, Manager, Finance and Capital Management, March 24, 2005.

¹¹⁹ OPPD's 2003 Annual Report, Debt Service Coverage, pg. 19.

Debt Service Coverage (in \$1000's)	2003	2002	2001
Operating revenues	588,541	553,024	568,795
Less Operation expenses	(419,507)	(347,121)	(353,767)
Less payments in lieu of taxes	(18,067)	(18,553)	(18,234)
Net operating revenues	150,967	187,350	196,794
Investment income of related reserve fund	1,049	1,411	1,673
Net receipts	<u>152,016</u>	<u>188,761</u>	<u>198,467</u>
Total debt service	78,839	74,688	73,466
Debt service coverage (Net receipts/Total debt service)	1.92	2.52	2.70

Figure 27. OPPD Debt Service Coverage.¹²⁰

"OPPD's debt to equity ratio {total outstanding debt / (total outstanding debt + accumulated reinvested earnings)}, will rise from 40% debt and 60% equity, to about 50% debt and 50% equity."¹²¹

Consideration should be given to OPPD's forecasted increase in debt leverage and mandated covenants on debt service coverage ratios when considering which construction option would best benefit OPPD.

¹²⁰ OPPD's 2003 Annual Report, Debt Service Coverage, pg. 19.

¹²¹ Per phone conversation with John Thurber, Manager, Finance and Capital Management, March 24, 2005.

OPPD's Cost of Capital

OPPD's estimated cost of capital is analyzed and updated annually. The District uses a modified Weighted Average Cost of Capital $(WACC)^{122}$ as the primary driver in the calculation of the cost of capital. The District references three derivations of WACC, and averages these three results to establish OPPD's cost of capital.

OPPD's modified Weighted Average Cost of Capital is the sum of the products of the weight of debt multiplied by the cost of debt and the weight of equity multiplied by the cost of equity as depicted below.

WACC = (Wd * Kd) + (We * Ke), where:

Wd = weight of debt in capital structure = (OPPD Outstanding Debt)/(OPPD Outstanding Debt + OPPD Retained Earnings)

Kd = cost of debt capital = (OPPD Annual Interest Expense)/(OPPD Long Term Outstanding Debt)

We = weight of equity in capital structure = (OPPD Retained Earnings)/(OPPD Outstanding Debt + OPPD Retained Earnings)

Ke = cost of equity capital

Figure 28. Weighted Average Cost of Capital equation.

¹²² As defined in *Financial Management Theory and Practice*, pg. 435.

WACC = (Wd * Kd)(1-Tax Rate) + (Wps * Kps) + (We * Ke) where Wd is the weight of debt in capital structure, Kd is the cost of debt capital, Tax Rate is Corporate Tax rate, Wps is the weight of preferred stock, Kps is the cost of preferred stock, We is the weight of equity and Ke is the cost of equity. OPPD does not pay corporate income taxes because of its tax exempt status as a public utility. OPPD does not issue preferred stock.

The cost of equity capital (Ke) is measured in three different ways. These three results are entered into the WACC equation above. The three WACC results are averaged and OPPD uses this average as OPPD's cost of capital. The three processes used to calculate equity capital (Ke) are considered proprietary information to OPPD. The average of the three methods rendered a WACC calculation of 7.02%. The District is currently using 7 % for its cost of capital.

Chapter 3: METHODOLOGY

Overview

The analysis for the benefit and cost analysis will be divided into a benefit section and cost section.

The primary cost driver for this capital project is transmission construction. Transmission construction costs are a function of capacity of transfer (i.e., 345 kV versus 230 kV versus 160 kV), distance of transmission constructed, right of way acquisition, and, finally, substation construction and/or modifications. On top of these physical structure costs are transmission system impact studies and legal fees for the acquisition of the right of way.¹²³

¹²³ All transmission cost estimates are from Kent Herzog, Transmission and Distribution Project Engineer.

Transmission at 161 kV costs about \$275,000 per mile, using steel pole construction. Transmission at 230 kV costs about \$387,500 per mile and transmission at 345 kV costs about \$500,000 per mile, again using steel pole construction.

Percent of allocation	Category	Estimated Cost per Mile
18.18%	Right of Way	\$50,000
9.09%	Wire	\$25,000
7.27%	Wire Labor	\$20,000
36.36%	Steel Poles	\$100,000
29.09%	Steel Pole Labor	\$80,000
100%	Total	\$275,000

Figure 29. 161 kV Transmission Construction Cost Assumptions (per mile)

Percent of allocation	Category	Est. Cost/Mile
12.9%	Right of Way	\$50,000
9.68%	Wire	\$37,500
7.74%	Wire Labor	\$30,000
38.71%	Steel Poles	\$150,000
30.97%	Steel Pole Labor	\$120,000
100%	Total	\$387,500

Figure 30. 230 kV Transmission Construction Cost Assumptions (per mile)

Percent of allocation	Category	Est. Cost/Mile
10%	Right of Way	\$50,000
10%	Wire	\$50,000
8%	Wire Labor	\$40,000
40%	Steel Poles	\$200,000
32%	Steel Pole Labor	\$160,000
100%	Total	\$500,000

Figure 31. 345 kV Transmission Construction Cost Assumptions (per mile)

River crossing costs will be absorbed into the per mile construction rate, so river crossing will not be a separate line item. Substation construction for 345kV capacity costs about \$6,500,000 and 161 kV costs about \$3,250,000. Modifications to existing substations (adding terminals) cost about \$3,000,000 for 345kV modifications and \$1,500,000 for 161kV. Transmission impact studies will cost about \$150,000 and legal fees for right of way are estimated at less then \$5,000.

There are several combinations of interconnect possible between OPPD and WAPA; however, the reasonable options pursued will seek to minimize construction mileage and substation construction/modifications while simultaneously pursuing the maximization of grid reliability and stability.



Figure 32. Detailed map of OPPD and surrounding interconnects.¹²⁴

¹²⁴ U.S Department of Energy, Western Area Power Administration, Pick-Sloan Missouri Basin Program, Eastern Division and Interconnected Power Systems, October, 1995. Prepared in the Upper Great Plains Office.

The goal in establishing an interconnect is to construct transmission from an existing or new OPPD substation to an existing WAPA substation, so identifying existing WAPA substations near existing OPPD substations is the first selection criteria. The second criteria is to minimize the distance between the interconnecting substations and the third criteria was to try to match similar capacities (i.e. existing 161 kV substation with new 161 transmission) in order to reduce existing substation modification expenses.

These options will then be analyzed over their individual characteristics, challenges, benefits and costs. One option will then be recommended by the author.

Transmission construction costs are primarily variable and a function of distance, so the analysis will begin by inspecting the points of minimal distance between OPPD and WAPA. There are four such points: Sioux City, IA; Grand Island, NE; Denison, IA; and Creston, IA. These four geographic points will be analyzed over mileage, substation construction, substation modifications, and capacity. Additional consideration will include existing right of way, Impact Study results, and Nebraska Power Review Board criteria.

The Seven Options Option 1: North Omaha to Creston, IA



Figure 33. Option 1: North Omaha to Creston, IA (Creston is in MAPP at a WAPA.MEC interface)¹²⁵

Option 1 is to construct 161 kV transmission from the OPPD's North Omaha substation to WAPA's 161 kV substation at Creston, IA. There is existing 345 kV MEC transmission in this corridor. As a result, right of way might encounter less public resistance. This option would involve OPPD constructing transmission in the State of Iowa, so a Franchise would need to be acquired.

¹²⁵ Magnitude of zoom is identical to neither Figure 32 nor the other options' blow ups.



Option 2a and 2b: Lincoln to Grand Island

Figure 34. Option 2a and 2b: Lincoln, NE to Grand Island, NE (Grand Island is in MAPP at an NPPD.WAUE interface)¹²⁶

Options 2a and 2b involves transmission construction from Lincoln, NE to Grand Island, NE. Unlike the other proposals, Options 2a and 2b source from unique substations in Lincoln, NE. Option 2a (161 kV) will source from an existing 161 kV substation at 70th and Bluff in Northeast Lincoln. Option 2b (345 kV) will source at the newly proposed Southeast Lincoln substation. Options 2a and 2b propose to form a jointly owned line (OPPD and LES) from one of these two Lincoln substations to WAPA's 345kV substation at Grand Island, NE. This jointly owned line would also

¹²⁶ Magnitude of zoom is identical to neither Figure 32 nor the other options' blow ups.

allow LES to be directly interconnected with WAPA. LES currently has no direct interconnect with WAPA, yet like OPPD, LES receives a WAPA allocation and LES and WAPA conduct bilateral wholesale transactions as evidenced by the Department of Energy's *Energy Information Administration Historical Form EIA-412, Annual Public Electric Utility Data*:

http://www.eia.doe.gov/cneaf/electricity/page/eia412/sched6_00.xls. A direct interconnect to WAPA for LES could reduce LES' transmission costs associated to the WAPA allocation and bilateral transactions. Right of way exists along most of these proposed options. Construction of transmission in this scenario would all be contained in the State of Nebraska.



Option 3a and 3b: Raun to Sioux City, IA

Figure 35. Option 3a and 3b: Raun to Sioux City, IA (Sioux City is in MAPP at a MEC.WAUE interface)¹²⁷

¹²⁷ Magnitude of zoom is identical to neither Figure 32 nor the other options' blow ups.

OPPD has an interconnection to MidAmerican Electric Company (MEC) at MidAmerican's Raun substation which serves MEC's George Neal coal plant, just south of Sioux City, IA. Option 3a and 3b propose building a substation near Raun, retaining interconnect with Raun from this new substation, and constructing transmission from this new substation to WAPA's Sioux City, IA 345kV substation. Option 3a and 3b are the only options which include the construction of a new substation. Right of way exists along most of this proposed option. These options include construction in the State of Iowa, so a Franchise will need to be acquired.



Option 4a and 4b: Fort Calhoun to Denison, IA

Figure 36. Option 4a and 4b: Ft. Calhoun, NE to Denison IA (Denison is in MAPP at a MEC.WAUE interconnect)¹²⁸

Options 4a and 4b involve the construction of transmission from OPPD's Fort

Calhoun Nuclear substation to WAPA's Denison, IA substation. The Denison substation

¹²⁸ Magnitude of zoom is identical to neither Figure 32 nor the other options' blow ups.

is accommodating WAPA's 230 kV line from the northwest and steps down to a 161 kV line to the southeast. This enables OPPD to consider a 161 kV option (Option 4a) or a 230 kV option (Option 4b). OPPD currently has no 230 kV transmission within OPPD's footprint. Right of way on this Option 4a and on Option 4b mostly exists for existing transmission from Fort Calhoun to Denison, IA. Both Option 4a and 4b include construction in the State of Iowa, so a Franchise will need to be acquired.

The Benefits

The benefits from a direct interconnection with WAPA would be four-fold. First, the MAPP tariff transmission expenses currently incurred on bilateral transactions will cease. Second, the MidAmerican transmission expenses incurred in acquiring the WAPA allocation would cease. Third, the direct interconnect could increase bilateral transactions with WAPA by approximately 10% because the transmission cost savings will make each party's power more cost competitive. Finally, the direct interconnect also will increase transmission capacity and stability. Increasing transmission capacity and stability will in turn increase the probability of power flowing; especially if both WAPA and OPPD purchase long-term firm transmission on their respective tariffs to and from OPPD.WAUE.

Bilateral Transmission Savings (Pooled OPPD and WAPA benefit)

OPPD bilateral purchases from WAPA to **OPPD** (MWh)

On Peak:

Year:	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004
On Peak (MWh)	62,535	9,771	19,341	10,216	28,214
Current MAPP On Peak Cost (\$/MWh)	.81	.81	.81	.81	.81
Total On Peak Cost	\$50,653.35	\$7,914.51	\$15,666.21	\$8,274.96	\$22,853.34

Figure 37. OPPD bilateral On Peak Purchases from WAPA to OPPD (MWh)¹²⁹

Five year average on peak bilateral purchases expenditure is \$21,072.47.

Standard deviation over the five year period is \$17,637.57.

Off Peak:

Year:	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004
Off Peak (MWh)	12,590	4,786	12,945	17,457	10,476
Current MAPP Off Peak Cost (\$/MWh)	.46	.46	.46	.46	.46
Total Off Peak Cost	\$5,791.40	\$2,201.56	\$5,954.70	\$8,030.22	\$4,818.96

Figure 38. OPPD bilateral Off Peak Purchases from WAPA to OPPD (MWh)¹³⁰

Five year average off peak bilateral purchases expenditure is \$5,359.37. Standard deviation over the five year period is \$2,117.68.

¹²⁹ Source is OPPD Accounting, Gretchen Lax, Programmer Analyst, Business Unit Systems Support.

¹³⁰ Source is OPPD Accounting, Gretchen Lax, Programmer Analyst, Business Unit Systems Support .

Total five year average OPPD bilateral purchase expenditure from WAPA to OPPD is \$26,431.84

OPPD Bilateral Sales from OPPD to WAPA (MWh)

On Peak:

Year:	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004
On Peak (MWh)	75,497	128,849	147,146	66,501	200,875
Current MAPP On Peak Cost (\$/MWh)	.79	.79	.79	.79	.79
Total On Peak Cost	\$59,642.63	\$101,790.71	\$116,245.34	\$52,535.79	\$158,691.25

Figure 39. OPPD bilateral On Peak Sales from OPPD to WAPA (MWh)¹³¹

Five year average on peak bilateral sales expenditure is \$97,781.14. Standard

deviation over the five year period is \$43,499.23.

Off Peak:

Year:	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004
Off Peak	214 045	202 509	310 514	204 853	360 335
(MWh)	214,045	202,309	510,514	294,033	509,555
Current MAPP					
Off Peak Cost	.45	.45	.45	.45	.45
(\$/MWh)					
Total Off Peak	\$96 320 25	\$01 120 05	\$130 731 30	\$132 683 85	\$166 200 75
Cost	\$70,520.25	φ91,129.05	φ159,751.50	φ1 <i>32</i> ,063.63	\$100,200.75

Figure 40. OPPD bilateral Off Peak Sales from OPPD to WAPA (MWh)¹³²

Five year average off peak bilateral sales expenditure is \$125,213.04. Standard deviation over the five year period is \$31,397.04.

¹³¹ Source is OPPD Accounting, Gretchen Lax, Programmer Analyst, Business Unit Systems Support.

¹³² Source is OPPD Accounting, Gretchen Lax, Programmer Analyst, Business Unit Systems Support.
Total five year average, OPPD bilateral sales transmission expenditure from WAPA to OPPD is \$222,994.18.

Total five year average, OPPD bilateral purchases and sales transmission expenditure between OPPD and WAPA is \$249,426.02.

In the cash flow analysis, these transmission expenditures were increased at an annual rate of 1.86%, the forecasted MAPP growth rate.¹³³

¹³³ This growth rate was extrapolated from the Forecasted Seasonal System Demand Summary report from 2004 Mid-Continent Area Power Pool Load and Capability Report on page 468 on web site on 12/28/2004. http://www.mapp.org/assets/pdf/LC_2004_Final.pdf

WAPA Firm Allocation Transmission Savings

In the current MEC-WAPA transmission contract No. 89-BAO-337 dated January 3, 1989 WAPA pays MEC \$0.524 per kW-month which equates to \$53,972 per month or \$647,664 per year. OPPD reimburses WAPA for a portion of this transmission expense. OPPD currently pays MEC \$42,623.27 per month (or \$511,479.24 per year) for the 103 MW of MEC transmission used to flow the WAPA allocation to OPPD.¹³⁴ This is the contracted rate with MEC which expires on December 31, 2008.

MEC's current posted tariff rate could cost OPPD \$1,745,384.97 per year if the current tariff rate would be charged when OPPD's current contracted rate expires on December 31, 2008.¹³⁵

In the analysis of cost savings, the posted tariff rate of \$1,745,385 will be used, and this rate will remain fixed for the 30 year cash flow analysis.

¹³⁴ As stated in WAPA monthly invoices to OPPD.

https://mapp.oasis.mapp.org/documents/MEC/tariffs.html#schedule7rates

¹³⁵ MidAmerican Firm Point-to-Point Transmission Service could include (1)
Schedule 7 Transmission Service rate of \$13,825 per MW year; (2) \$0.08 per MWh for
Scheduling, System Control and Dispatch Service,(ancillary service Schedule 1); (3)
\$0.18 per MWh for all energy scheduled to compensate for Reactive Supply and Voltage
Control from Generation Sources Service (ancillary service Schedule 2); and (4) losses of
3.23% on website on 12/15/2004.

The Costs

161 kV Construction Costs

Estimated construction costs of 161 kV capacity is \$275,000 per mile and is allocated as follows:

Percent of allocation	Category	Estimated Cost per Mile
18.18%	Right of Way	\$50,000
9.09%	Wire	\$25,000
7.27%	Wire Labor	\$20,000
36.36%	Steel Poles	\$100,000
29.09%	Steel Pole Labor	\$80,000
99.99%	Total	\$275,000

Figure 41. Estimated 161 kV transmission construction costs, per mile.¹³⁶

¹³⁶ 99.99% due to .01% rounding error.



Figure 42. Three phase 161 kV circuit¹³⁷

¹³⁷ OPPD 161 kV transmission line photo taken by the author, east of 144th and Giles Roads in Omaha, NE.

230 kV Construction Costs

Estimated construction of 230 kV capacity is \$387,500 per mile and is allocated as follows:

Percent of allocation	Category	Estimated Cost per Mile
12.90%	Right of Way	\$50,000
9.68%	Wire	\$37,500
7.74%	Wire Labor	\$30,000
38.71%	Steel Poles	\$150,000
30.97%	Steel Pole Labor	\$120,000
100.00%	Total	\$387,500

Figure 43. Estimated 230 kV transmission construction costs, per mile.

OPPD currently has no 230 kV transmission erected.

345 kV Construction Costs

Estimated construction costs of 345 kV capacity is \$500,000 per mile and is allocated as follows:

Percent of allocation	Category	Estimated Cost per Mile
10.00%	Right of Way	\$50,000
10.00%	Wire	\$50,000
8.00%	Wire Labor	\$40,000
40.00%	Steel Poles	\$200,000
32.00%	Steel Pole Labor	\$160,000
100.00%	Total	\$500,000

Figure 44. Estimated 345 kV transmission construction costs, per mile.



Figure 45. Three phase 345kVcircuit¹³⁸

 $^{^{138}}$ OPPD 345 kV transmission line photo taken by the author near 156th and Giles Roads in Omaha, NE.

Additional costs varying from option to option:

- 161 kV
 - \$3,250,000 = 161 kV Greenfield Substation construction
 - \$1,500,000 per substation modified = 161 kV Substation Terminal Modifications
- o 230 kV

0

- No 230 kV Greenfield Substation construction scenario
- \$2,250,000 per substation modified = 230 kV Substation Terminal Modifications
- o 345 kV
 - \$6,500,000 = 345 kV Greenfield Substation construction
 - \$3,000,000 per substation modified = 345 kV Substation Terminal Modifications

Fixed Project Costs

- Transmission Impact Analysis Consultants Fee = \$150,000
- Legal fees associated to Franchise Contracting = \$3,000

These costs will be totaled for each of the seven options. The total cost for each project will then be allocated evenly over the estimated four year construction period.

Additional Considerations

Payment In Lieu of Taxes

OPPD is a political subdivision of the State of Nebraska, and therefore, is exempt

from paying Federal and State of Nebraska income taxes. However, in Nebraska, OPPD

does make a Payment in Lieu of Taxes. Nebraska Article VIII, Section 11 (enacted by

the People in 1958) of the Nebraska Constitution provides in relevant part:

"Every public corporation and political subdivision organized primarily to provide electricity or irrigation and electricity shall annually make the same payments in lieu of taxes as it made in 1957, which payments shall be allocated in the same proportion to the same public bodies or their successors as they were in 1957.

"The legislature may require each such public corporation to pay to the treasurer of any county in which may be located any incorporated city or village, within the limits of which such public corporation sells electricity at retail, a sum equivalent to five (5) per cent of the annual gross revenue of such public corporation derived from retail sales of electricity within such city or village, less an amount equivalent to the 1957 payments in lieu of taxes made by such public corporation with respect to property or operations in any such city or village. The payments in lieu of tax as made in 1957, together with any payments made as authorized in this section shall be in lieu of all other taxes, payments in lieu of taxes, franchise payments, occupation and excise taxes, but shall not be in lieu of motor vehicle licenses and wheel taxes, permit fees, gasoline tax and other such excise taxes or general sales taxes levied against the public generally.

"So much of such five (5) per cent as is in excess of an amount equivalent to the amount paid by such public corporation in lieu of taxes in 1957 shall be distributed in each year to the city or village, the school districts located in such city or village, the county in which such city or village is located, and the State of Nebraska, in the proportion that their respective property tax mill levies in each such year bear to the total of such mill levies."¹³⁹

¹³⁹ Nebraska Statutes and Constitution, art. VIII, sec. 11; available on web site on 2/28/2005 at http://statutes.unicam.state.ne.us/Corpus/chapC/CVIII-11.html

Additionally, Nebraska statute 70-651.03 enacted in 1959 provides in whole:

"Every public power district or public power and irrigation district owning property with respect to which it made payments in lieu of taxes in the 1957 calendar year, shall, so long as it continues to own such property, continue to pay annually the same amounts in the same manner. The directors of any such district shall not have any personal liability by reason of such payments made either before or after September 28, 1959."¹⁴⁰

These payments in lieu of taxes are made "from <u>retail sales</u> of electricity within such city or village (emphasis added)." Bilateral transactions and WAPA allocation are considered wholesale power transactions, so these revenues are exempt from payments in lieu of taxes. As a result, payments in lieu of taxes from these wholesale bilateral and WAPA allocation transactions are not applicable for consideration as a cost component in this analysis.

¹⁴⁰ Nebraska Statutes and Constitution, chap. 70, sec. 651; available on web site on 2/28/2005 at http://statutes.unicam.state.ne.us/Corpus/statutes/chap70/R700605101.html.

WAPA Allocation Reduction

The reduction in WAPA allocation to OPPD of as much as 0.25% in January 2006 and a potential additional reduction of as much as 1.00% in January 2011 represents a maximum reduction of 1.25% in future WAPA allocation and acquired MEC transmission. This maximum of 1.25% reduction equates with 1.31 MWh (i.e., 1.25% of 105 MWh). The author believes this impact (i.e., maximum of -1.25% over 10 years) is insignificant to this analysis and will result in a minimal impact on relevant cash flow analysis.

MEC Transmission Expense Inflator

This analysis ignores any increases in MEC transmission tariff costs over the 30 year cash flow analysis, lessening the potential benefit depicted from the cash flow analysis.

~

_
-
T
$\overline{}$
\cup
_
\mathbf{S}
× -
· •
\triangleleft
\mathbf{T}
•
5
<u> </u>
1
1
5
_
7
\smile

										_		_		
Fort Calhoun to Denison	Option 4b	230 kV	FC	to	Den	6,750	1,688	6,750	2,250	0	4,500	150	3	22,091
Fort Calhoun to Denison	Option 4a	161 kV	FC	to	Den	4,500	1,125	4,500	2,250	0	3,000	150	3	15,528
γtiΟ xuoiS of nusЯ	Option 3b	345 kV	Raun	to	SC	4,000	1,000	4,000	1,000	6,500	3,000	150	3	19,653
γtiO xuoiS of nusЯ	Option 3a	161 kV	Raun	to	SC	2,000	500	2,000	1,000	3,250	1,500	150	3	10,403
Southeast Lincoln to Grand Island (OPPD)	Option 2b (OPPD)	345 kV	SE	to GI	(OPPD)	8,525	2,131	8,525	2,131	0	2,557	64	1	23,935
Southeast Lincoln to Grand Island (LES)	Option 2b (LES)	345 kV	SE	to GI	(LES)	11,475	2,869	11,475	2,869	0	3,443	86	2	32,218
Southeast Lincoln to Grand Island (Combined)	Option 2b (Combo)	345 kV	SE Lincoln	to GI	(Combo)	20,000	5,000	20,000	5,000	0	000'9	150	3	56,153
70th and Bluff to Grand סלא and Bluff to Grand) אפומול (OPPD)	Option 2a (OPPI))	161 kV	70th and Black	to GI	(OPPD)	4,262	1,066	4,262	2,131	0	1,279	64	1	13,066
סנה and Bluff to Grand SEI (LES) וsland (LES)	Option 2a (LES)	161 kV	70th and Bluff	to GI	(LES)	5,738	1,434	5,738	2,869	0	1,721	86	2	17,587
סלא אחל Bluff to Grand 107 אסלי און ניס 100 (Combined)	Option 2a (Combo)	161 kV	70th and Rhoff	to GI	(Combo)	10,000	2,500	10,000	5,000	0	3,000	150	3	30,653
North Omaha to Creston	Option 1	161 kV	North O	To	Creston	8,000	2,000	8,000	4,000	0	3,000	150	3	25,153
(Units in \$1,000's)						Steel Poles	Conductors (Wire)	Labor	Right of Way	Substation Construction	Substation Terminal Construction	Transmission Impact Study	Legal Fees	4 Yr. Allocation
		Net	Outlay											Cash Outlay

-3,882 -5,523 -3,882 -5,523 -3,882 -5,523 -3,882 -5,523 2,047 2,047 2,052 2,052	-3,882 -5,523 -3,882 -5,523 -3,882 -5,523 2,047 2,047 2,052 2,052	-3,882 -5,523 2,047 2,047 2,052 2,052	2,047 2,047 2,052 2,052	2,052 2,052		2,058 2,058	2,064 2,064		2,233 2,233	2,242 2,242	2,251 2,251	2,260 2,260		6,828 1,271	10.97 7.57%	8.36% 7.21%	7.52 10.64	
-4,913 -4,913	-4,913		-4,913	2,047	2,052	2,058	2,064		2,233	2,242	2,251	2,260		3,335	8.63%	7.59%	9.49	141
	-2,601	-2,601	-2,601	2,047	2,052	2,058	2,064		2,233	2,242	2,251	2,260		11,168	15.69 %	9.69%	5.05	nalysis
	-5,984	-5,984	-5,984	2,047	2,052	2,058	2,064		2,233	2,242	2,251	2,260		(291)	6.88%	6.95%	11.52	n Flow A
	-8,055	-8,055	-8,055	2,755	2,755	2,755	2,755		2,755	2,755	2,755	2,755		(1,199)	6.61%	6.85%	11.69	tive Casl
	-14,038	-14,038	-14,038	4,802	4,808	4,813	4,819		4,988	4,997	5,006	5,016		(1,490)	6.73%	%06.9	11.62	omparat
	-3,266	-3,266	-3,266	2,047	2,052	2,058	2,064		2,233	2,242	2,251	2,260		8,913	12.87%	8.93%	11.34	re 46. C
	-4,397	-4,397	-4,397	2,755	2,755	2,755	2,755		2,755	2,755	2,755	2,755		11,190	12.63%	8.83%	11.38	Figur
	-7,663	-7,663	-7,663	4,802	4,808	4,813	4,819		4,988	4,997	5,006	5,016		20,104	12.73%	8.88%	6.36	
	-6,288	-6,288	-6,288	2,047	2,052	2,058	2,064		2,233	2,242	2,251	2,260		(1,322)	6.46%	3/061.9	12.09	
	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	Truncated years	2036	2037	2038	2039	7.00%			7.00% Reinvestment		
				Opera- tional									Cost of Capital	AdN	IRR	MIRR	PBP (Yrs)	

¹⁴¹ For a complete analysis of the derivation of each Option's Net Cash Outlay and all resultant Cash Flow years, see Appendix 8 on page 155.

•

111

Author's Recommendation

The author's recommendation is based primarily on financial results. But ease of right of way acquisition, the construction time interval, and Nebraska Power Reserve Board approval conditions also are considered. Later consideration should include System Impact Analysis results. Together, all of these results, coupled with the initial financial screenings, ought to be the ultimate criteria for the selection process.

Option 1 and Option 2b both have negative Net Present Values (NPV). Option 1 and Option 2b have Internal Rates of Return (IRR) less then the OPPD's hurdle rate (i.e., cost of capital) of 7.00%, (i.e., 6.46% and 6.73% combined respectively). Both options were hampered by distance, their primary variable cost component. These options are eliminated.

	Option 2a (Combo)	Option 2a (Lincoln)	Option 2a (Omaha)	Option 3a	Option 3b	Option 4a	Option 4b
Net Cash Outlay	30,653	17,587	13,066	10,403	19,653	15,528	22,091
	161 kV	161 kV	161 kV	161 kV	345 kV	161 kV	230 kV
	70th and Bluff	70th and Bluff	70th and Bluff	Raun	Raun	FC	FC
	to GI	to GI	to GI	to	to	to	to
	(Combo)	(LES)	(OPPD)	SC	SC	Den	Den
NPV	\$20,104	\$11,190	\$8,913	\$11,168	\$3,335	\$6,828	\$1,271
IRR	12.73%	12.63%	12.87%	15.69%	8.63%	10.97%	7.57%
MIRR	8.88%	8.83%	8.93%	9.69%	7.59%	8.36%	7.21%
Pay Back Period (Yrs)	6.36	11.38	11.34	5.05	9.49	7.52	10.64

Figure 47. Five Remaining Options

OPPD currently does not employ any 230 kV transmission. Adding 230 kV transmission would require OPPD to amass segregated 230 kV transmission along with substation backup and redundant inventories of equipment and supplies. If the Option 4b Modified Internal Rate of Return (MIRR)¹⁴² was significantly above the hurdle rate of 7.00%, then Option 4b would be given further consideration. However, with Option 4b's apparently relatively small financial benefit and looming segregated inventory supply issues, the author recommends prompt elimination of Option 4b.

Each of the following options exceed OPPD's hurdle rate (i.e., 7.00%). Options listed from the highest NPV, IRR and MIRR (i.e., most profitable) to the lowest NPV, IRR, and MIRR (i.e., least profitable):

- Option 3a: 161 kV Raun to Sioux City
- Option 2a: Joint ownership 161 kV line with LES from 70th and Bluff to Grand Island
- Option 4a: 161 kV Fort Calhoun to Denison
- Option 3b: 345 kV Raun to Sioux City

¹⁴² Modified Internal Rate of Return (MIRR) is similar to Internal Rate of Return (IRR) with the exception that the cash flows are reinvested at a selected reinvestment rate of 7.00%. IRR reinvests at the returned IRR rate. MIRR is more conservative then IRR if the MIRR reinvestment rate is lower then the IRR rate.

	1 st	2 nd	3 rd	4 th
	Option 3a	Option 2a (Omaha)	Option 4a	Option 3b
Net Cash Outlay	10,403	13,066	15,528	19,653
	161 kV	161 kV	161 kV	345 kV
	Raun	70th and Bluff	FC	Raun
	to	to	to	to
	SC	Lin	Den	SC
NPV	\$11,168	\$8,913	\$6,828	\$3,335
IRR	15.69%	12.87%	10.97%	8.63%
MIRR	9.69%	8.93%	8.36%	7.59%
Pay Back Period (Yrs)	5.05	11.34	7.52	9.49

Figure 48. Four Remaining Options

The remaining four options merit System Impact Analysis consideration. The System Impact Analysis results would greatly influence the author's recommendation of the four remaining options. For the sake of continued objective analysis, the author will presume the System Impact Analysis results in neutral impacts for all remaining four options, because System Impact Analysis is beyond the scope of this thesis.

Option 2a is the only remaining alternative involving joint ownership between OPPD and LES. The author is suspect of approval of this option by the Nebraska Power Review Board, due to the fact that the economic benefit to LES will be due to the economic detriment to NPPD and due to duplicity of transmission assets along the Lincoln-Grand Island corridor.¹⁴³ However, if the System Impact Study results determine significant congestion relief and if the Power Review Board deems the

¹⁴³ State of Nebraska Power Review Board, Revised Rules of Practice and Procedures, Appendix B, Section 11, as seen in Appendix 5 on page 145.

combined benefit of an LES direct interconnect with WAPA and an OPPD direct interconnect with WAPA (under a single construction endeavor) exceeds the economic detriment to NPPD, then Option 2a would prevail as a superior alternative.

Options 3b and 4a both involve transmission construction in Iowa (Franchise agreements) and near similar MIRRs, 7.59% to 8.36% respectively. Option 3b (345 kV Raun to Sioux City) is the only remaining 345 kV alternative. The Impact Analysis results should render considerable insight to the superior choice between Option 4a and Option 3b. All options assume a four year construction period; however, Option 3b (Raun to Sioux City) traversing about 20 miles versus Option 4a (Ft. Calhoun to Denison) traversing 45 miles may result in a shorter construction period. Both Option 4a and Option 3b should remain as viable alternatives until System Impact Analysis is concluded.

Option 3a, 161 kV from Raun to Sioux City, with the largest NPV (\$11.168 M), largest IRR (15.69%), and largest MIRR (9.69%), coupled with an approximate 20 mile traverse, surfaces as the author's premiere recommendation, assuming relatively neutral System Impact Analysis results. Option 3a also has the least net cash outlay of \$10.43 M which may be a significant benefit to the District considering the District's debt to equity ratio increasing from 40% in 2004 and reaching a forecasted 50% in 2008 (see page 82), and the District' policy to maintain a debt service coverage of 1.4 or greater (see page 80). Option 3a has a relatively short distance (i.e., 20 miles) that might result in a construction period of less then 4 years, benefiting cash flow analysis. Removing bilateral transactions from Option 3a (i.e., considering a decrease in OPPD's wholesale power availability and/or an end to the existing drought conditions thus reestablishing WAPA's generation capacity), and therefore considering WAPA allocation transmission savings as the only benefit in the cash flow analysis, rendered an IRR of 13.44%, NPV of \$7.71 M, 9.06% and a Payback Period of 5.96 years.

These results strengthen this author's recommendation of Option 3a, building a 161 kV substation on the Nebraska side of the Missouri River in Northeast Nebraska, near the existing MEC Raun substation thus retaining the existing interconnect with MEC while simultaneously construct a 161 kV transmission line to WAPA's substation in Sioux City, IA.

WORKS CITED

About MAPP, <<u>http://www.mapp.org/content/about_mapp.shtml</u>>(11 November 2004)

About Western, < <u>http://www.wapa.gov/geninfo/whatwho.htm</u>> (28 July 2004)

- Alaska Power Administration Sale Act 104th Congress Report 104-187 House of Representatives, <<u>http://thomas.loc.gov/cgi-</u> <u>bin/cpquery/0?&&dbname=cp104&&&r_n=hr187p1.104&&sel=DOC&.></u> (4 December 2004)
- Associated Electric Cooperative Incorporated Homepage < <u>http://www.aeci.org/</u>> (11 November 2004).
- Aquila Networks Homepage, <<u>http://www.aquila.com/</u>> (11 November 2004).
- Brigham, Eugene and Ehrhardt, Michael. *Financial Management Theory and Practice*. Mike Roche Publishing, 2002.
- Business Practices, Transmission Tariffs and Service Schedules, MAPP SERVICE SCHEDULE F, <<u>http://toinfo.oasis.mapp.org/oasisinfo/</u>> (27 September 2004).
- Coordinating Agreement By and Among Associated Electric Cooperative, Inc., Kansas City Power and Light Company, St. Joseph Light and Power Company, Nebraska Public Power District, Omaha Public Power District, City of Lincoln, Iowa Power Inc., For the Cooper-Fairport-St. Joseph 345 Kilovolt Interconnection, <u>Article III, Use of Interconnection</u>, (5 March 1990)
- David Hayden, "OPPD Customer Types," 30 December 2004, office email (30 December 2004).
- Douglas-Young, John. Illustrated Encyclopedic Dictionary of Electronics. Parker Publishing Company, Inc., 1981.
- Energy Information Administration, Wholesale Power Markets and Restructuring the U.S. Power Transmission System, <<u>http://www.eia.doe.gov/cneaf/electricity/chg_stru_update/chapter7.html</u>> (24 September 2004)
- Energy Information Administration, Historical Form EIA-412 Database, Annual Public Electric Utility Data, http://www.eia.doe.gov/cneaf/electricity/page/hist412.html (9 March 2005)

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, Legal Resources, Landmark Orders, <<u>http://www.ferc.gov/legal/ferc-regs/land-ord-elec.asp</u>> (1 January 2005)

- *GuruNet,* <<u>http://www.gurunet.com/query;jsessionid=2m4kop7vwn5iu?s=load.</u>> (4 December 2004).
- Hanson, Jeff, "Lining Up," Flash. OPPD Corporate Communications, November 2004.
- Harvey, Scott M., "Midwest Market Initiative, Consumer Impact of LMP Pricing," 20 October 2003, <<u>http://www.midwestiso.org/meeting_agendas/Consumer%20Impact%20of%20L</u> <u>MP%20Pricing.pdf</u> > (1 January 2004)
- Infoplease, US Encyclopedia, Missouri River basin project, <<u>http://www.infoplease.com/ce6/us/A0833428.html</u>> (27 September 2004).
- Iowa Department of Commerce, Informational Meeting Presentation, Electric Transmission Lines, <<u>http://www.state.ia.us/government/com/util/Misc/CBEC/MtgPresentation.pdf</u>. > (15 December 2004).
- Iowa General Assembly, Iowa Code 2003 and Merged Supplement, <<u>http://www.legis.state.ia.us/scripts/IA_Code_d7_v09.dll</u>> (15 December 2004).
- Iverson, Jon, "OPPD Peak Load and Generation Stack," 28 December, 2004, office email, (28 December 2004)
- Kansas City Power and Light Homepage, < <u>http://www.kcpl.com/</u>> (11 November 2004).
- Lanou, Frank, "Omaha Public Power District Rate of Return Analysis," March 2003, Brooks and Associates
- Lax, Gretchen, "WAPA Bilateral Transactions," 9 June 2004, office email, (9 June 2004.)
- *Lincoln Electric Service Homepage*, <<u>http://www.les.com/</u> > (11 November 2004).
- Lincoln Electric Service, Open Access Transmission Tariff, http://www.les.com/business/tariff.asp (1 January 2005)
- Lutzenhiser, Margot, "Cooperative Analysis of RTO/ISO Operating Costs," 17 August 2004, <u>http://www.ppcpdx.org/ComparativeAnalysisTWO.FINAL.pdf</u>> (3 January 2005).

- Morey, Mathew J. Ph.D., "The Costs and Benefits for OPPD of Membership in the Midwest ISO," (29 April 2005.)
- MAPP Committee Directory, <<u>http://www.mapp.org/assets/pdf/Committee%20Directory.pdf</u>> (24 September 2004).
- MAPP Contact Us, < <u>http://www.mapp.org/content/contact_us.shtml</u>.> (20 November 2004).
- MAPP map, <<u>http://mapp.oasis.mapp.org/OASIS/NODE</u>> (10 September 2004).
- MAPP Midwest Reliability Organization, <<u>http://www.mapp.org/content/mro.shtml</u>> (3/15/2005).
- MAPP Policies and Procedures for Transmission Operations, Appendix F, MAPP Request Evaluation Process, <<u>https://webmail.oppd.com/exchweb/bin/redir.asp?URL=http://toinfo.oasis.mapp.org/oasisinfo/info.htm?page=/oasisinfo/polproc.htm</u>> (7 November 2004).
- MAPP Polices and Procedures. Sub-section 1.17.5: Rollover Rights, under Section 1.17 Changes in MAPP Schedule F Transmission Service. Version July 1, 2004, <<u>http://toinfo.oasis.mapp.org/oasisinfo/</u>> (6 November 2004).
 - F Regional Tariff, Version July 1, 2004, <<u>http://toinfo.oasis.mapp.org/oasisinfo/</u>> (6 November 2004).
- MAPP Schedule F: Open-Access Transmission Tariff, Schedule 1: Scheduling and Tariff Administration Service, < <u>http://toinfo.oasis.mapp.org/oasisinfo/</u> > (27 September 2004).
- MidAmerican Energy Homepage, <<u>http://www.midamericanenergy.com/</u> > (11 November 2004)
- MidAmerican OASIS Tariff Rates, <<u><https://mapp.oasis.mapp.org/documents/MEC/tariffs.html#schedule7rates></u> (12 December 2004).
- *Mid-Continent Area Power Pool Load and Capability Report,* <<u>http://www.mapp.org/assets/pdf/LC_2004_Final.pdf</u>.> (12 December 2004).
- Midwest Reliability Organization, Frequently Asked Questions, <<u>http://www.midwestreliability.org/FAQ.html</u>> (3/15/2005).

- MISO, Home: Our Members, <<u>http://www.midwestiso.org/about_signatories.shtml</u>.> (1 January 2005)
- Nebraska Legislature Online,

< <u>http://statutes.unicam.state.ne.us/Corpus/chapC/CVIII-11.html</u>> (20 December 2004).

- Nebraska Power Review Board Homepage, < <u>http://www.nprb.state.ne.us/</u>, > (31 December 2004).
- *Nebraska Public Power District Homepage,* < <u>http://www.nppd.com/</u>> (11 November 2004).
- Nebraska Statutes,

< <u>http://statutes.unicam.state.ne.us/Corpus/statutes/chap70/R700600409.html</u>> (14 December 2004).

- North American Electric Reliability Council (NERC) Glossary of Terms, <<u>ftp://ftp.nerc.com/pub/sys/all_updl/docs/pubs/glossv10.pdf</u>> (5 December 2004).
- Norton, Terry, "WAPA FIRM ALLOCATION," 11 June 2004, office email (17 July 2004).
- NPPD transmission OASIS numbers 178297 (59 MWh through 12/31/2020), <<u>https://mapp.oasis.mapp.org/OASIS/NPPD/data/transstatusdetails?ASSIGNME</u> <u>NT_REF=178297&RETURN_TZ=CD</u>.> (27 December 2004).
- NPPD transmission OASIS numbers 178299 (75 MWh through 12/31/2020), <<u>https://mapp.oasis.mapp.org/OASIS/NPPD/data/transstatusdetails?ASSIGNME</u> <u>NT_REF=178299&RETURN_TZ=CD</u>.> (27 December 2004).
- O'Hara, Michael J., The Nebraska Power Review Board: Regulating a Publicly-Owned Electric Utility Industry, Ph.D. diss., University of Nebraska, 1983.

An historical perspective of the Nebraska Power Review Board from Nebraska's pre-regulated era through a 1983 vision of the Board's scope of authority. O'Hara composes a thorough overview of the Board's authority and regulatory role relative to the dynamic evolution of the electric utility industry.

Omaha Public Power District Open Access Transmission Tariff, Section 2.2: Reservation Priority for Existing Firm Service Customers, <<u>http://ww1.oppd.com/prodsvc/pdf/tariff.pdf</u>> (6 November 2004).

- OPPD 2003 Annual Report, < http://ww1.oppd.com/who/financial/annualrept/pdf/page26_42.pdf> (28 December 2004).
- *OPPD History and Governance*, <<u>http://ww1.oppd.com/who/history/index.cfm</u>> (11 August 2004>.
- OPPD's OASIS, < <u>https://mapp.oasis.mapp.org/OASIS/OPPD</u>> (11 November 2004).
- OPPD Who We Are, http://ww1.oppd.com/who/index.cfm (11 August 2004).
- *Power Marketing Administrations*, <<u>http://www.wapa.gov/geninfo/mappma.htm</u>> (28 September 2004).
- Rustebakke, Homer M., ed. *Electric Utility Systems and Practices*, 4th Edition. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1983.
- SPP map, < <u>https://sppoasis.spp.org/OASIS/NODE</u>> (12 September 2004).
- Transmission System Information Networks, Glossary of Terms, FERC Glossary, <<u>http://www.tsin.com/gloss.html</u>.> (4 December 2004).
- UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY WESTERN AREA POWER ADMINISTRATION Pick-Sloan Missouri Basin Program-Eastern Division CONTRACT FOR FIRM ELECTRIC SERVICE TO OMAHA PUBLIC POWER DISTRICT, number 01-UGPR-28, December 20th, 2002.
- *UGPR Home Page*, < <u>http://www.wapa.gov/ugp/</u> > (28 September 2004)
- US Department of Energy, Offices and Facilities, <<u>http://www.energy.gov/engine/content.do?BT_CODE=OF_PMAWESTERNAREA</u> > (11 November 2004).
- WAPA Homepage, <<u>http://www.wapa.gov/</u> > (11 November 2004).
- Westar Energy Homepage, <<u>http://www.westarenergy.com</u>> (11 November 2004).
- Western Area Power Administration, *General Requirements for Interconnection*, <<u>http://www.wapa.gov/interconn/pdf/gri.pdf</u>> (3 January 2005).

Western's regional offices, < <u>http://www.wapa.gov/regions.htm</u>> (24 September 2004).

What is Western? < <u>http://www.wapa.gov/geninfo/pmadesc.htm</u>> (28 September 2004).

- Wolfe, Bill, "Case is made for utility pullout," *Courier Journal on the Web*, 10 April 2004, <<u>http://www.courier-journal.com/business/news2004/04/10/F1-PSC10-6472.html</u>.> (7 January 2005).
- Zhang, Dr. Qian J, "OPPD Cost of Capital calculation policy", 3 January 2005, office email, (3 January 2005).

APPENDIX 1: Acronyms Defined

AN	Aquila Networks
ATC	Available Transfer Capability
AECI	Associated Electric Cooperative Incorporated
CA	Control Area
САРМ	Capital Asset Pricing Model
DRS	Design Review Subcommittee
EIA	Energy Information Administration
FERC	Federal Energy Regulatory Committee
F7	Firm NERC level 7 Transmission
GWh	Gigawatt hour
HVAC	Heating, Ventilation, Air Conditioning
IA	Iowa
IOU	Investor Owned Utility
IRR	Internal Rate of Return
Kd	Cost of debt capital
Ke	Cost of equity capital
KS	Kansas
KCPL	Kansas City Power and Light
kV	Kilovolt or 1000 volts
LES	Lincoln Electric Service
MAPP	Mid-Continent Area Power Pool

MEC	MidAmerican Energy Company
MINT	Missouri, Iowa, Nebraska Transmission
MIRR	Modified Internal Rate of Return
MNM	Minnesota
МО	Missouri
MPS	Missouri Public Service
MRO	Midwest Reliability Organization
MWh	Megawatt hour
ND	North Dakota
NEN	Nebraska
NPPD	Nebraska Public Power District
NPV	Net Present Value
NS1	NERC Level 1, Secondary Point-to-Point Non-Firm Service
O&M	Operations and Maintenance expenses
OASIS	Open Access Same-Time Information System
OPPD	Omaha Public Power District
OPPD.MEC	The nomenclature used in Tariff administration language to depict a border point between two interconnecting control areas, OPPD and MEC. XXXX.YYY would be the point between arbitrary control areas XXXX and YYY.
POD	Point of Delivery
POR	Point of Receipt
ROE	Return on Equity
ROW	Right of way

RTC	Regional Transmission Committee
SD	South Dakota
SERC	Southeastern Electrical Reliability Council
SPP	Southwest Power Pool
TLR	Transmission Line Loading Relief
ТР	Transmission Provider
TWh	Terrawatt hour
WACC	Weighted Average Cost of Capital
WAPA	Western Area Power Administration
WAUE	Western Administration Upper-Great-Plains Energy
Wd	Weight of debt in capital structure
We	Weight of equity in capital structure
WR	Westar Energy

APPENDIX 2: Definitions

Arithmetic Mean - Sum of observations divided by the number of observations.

- Available Transfer Capability (ATC) a measure of the transfer capability remaining in the physical transmission network for further commercial activity over and above already committed uses.
- Control Area An electric power system or combination of electric power systems to which a common automatic generation control scheme is applied in order to:
 - 1. match, at all times, the power output of the generators within the electric power system(s) and capacity and energy purchased from entities outside the electric power system(s), with the load within the electric power system(s).
 - 2. maintain scheduled interchange with other Control Areas, within the limits of Good Utility Practice;
 - 3. maintain the frequency of the electric power system(s) within reasonable limits in accordance with Good Utility Practice; and
 - 4. provide sufficient generating capacity to maintain operating reserves in accordance with Good Utility Practice.

Commercial Customer - Non-residential services not qualifying as Industrial Service

Deficit - A Control Area scenario in which Native Load exceeds Control Area generation.

Demand - Native Load.

Gigawatt hour - 1000 Megawatt hours

Industrial Customer - as Non-residential services having metered demand of 1,000 KW or more per 15 minute period in 6 of the past 12 months

Kilovolt - 1000 volts

Load - any device to which power is delivered.

Native Load - The instantaneous summation of a CA's load

Native Load Customer - wholesale and retail customers on whose behalf the Transmission Provider, by statute, franchise, regulatory requirements, or contract, has undertaken an obligation to construct and operate the Transmission Provider's system to meet the reliable electric needs of such customers

- Network Integration Transmission Service a service provided by a Transmission Provider to integrate, plan, economically dispatch and regulate its resources (Transmission System) to serve its Native Load Customers
- Point of Delivery the Point on the Transmission System where capacity and energy transmitted by the Transmission Providers will be made available to the Receiving Party.
- Point of Receipt a Point of interconnection on the Transmission System where capacity and energy will be made available to the Transmission Providers by the Delivering Party
- Residential Customer a single-family home, trailer apartment, flat, or unit of a multifamily dwelling that is individually metered and equipped with cooking facilities.
- Retail Customer Power customers are classified into one of two primary groups, Retail and Off-System customers. Retail customers consist of four groups: Residential, Industrial, Commercial, and Street and Highway Lighting.
- Service Type the NERC defined levels of transmission service reliability: Level 1 is Secondary Point-to-Point Non-Firm Service; Level 2 is Hourly Non-Firm; Level 3 is Reserve Non-Firm Daily, Level 4 is Reserve Non-Firm Weekly, Level 5 is Reserve Non-Firm Monthly, level 6 is Network Non-Firm Service, and Level 7 is Firm Service, either daily, weekly, or monthly.
- Shortage A Control Area scenario in which Native Load exceeds Control Area generation.
- Sink Control Area of the Point of Delivery (POD)
- Source Control Area of the Point of Receipt (POR)
- Street and Highway Lighting Customers street lights and traffic signal demand from government entities including states, cities, schools, counties, and SIDs.
- Surplus A Control Area scenario in which Control Area generation exceeds Native Load demand.
- Terawatt hours 1000 Gigawatt hours

- Transmission Line Loading Relief (TLR) the procedure whereby MAPP Schedule F service is curtailed using NERC Transmission Loading Relief Procedures.
- Transmission Provider the public utility (or its designated agent) that owns or controls facilities used for the transmission of electric energy in interstate commerce.
- Wheeling the contracted use of electrical facilities of one or more entities to transmit electricity for another entity
- Wholesale Power the excess power available after Retail customer demand has been met.
- Wholesale Towns Four municipalities of Greenwood, Elk City, Syracuse and Tecumseh, Nebraska which OPPD serves. These municipalities then serve their customers as retail service.

Wheeling - the contracted use of electrical facilities of one or more entities to transmit electricity for another entity.

APPENDIX 3: List of Figures

FIGURE 1. OPPD SERVICE AREA (HIGHLIGHTED BY COUNTY)	1
FIGURE 2. DETAIL OF OPPD TRANSMISSION FACILITIES AND SERVICE AREA (YELLOW LINE IS APPROXIM	ATE
BORDER AND MISSOURI RIVER IS EASTERN BORDER)	2
FIGURE 3. OPPD'S AND ITS SEVEN DIRECT INTERCONNECTING CONTROL AREAS	4
FIGURE 4. OPPD DIRECT INTERCONNECTS.	4
FIGURE 5. MAPP REGION	6
FIGURE 6. MAPP DETAILED CONTROL AREA INTERCONNECTS	7
FIGURE 7. MAPP AND SPP INTERCONNECTED VIA OPPD.WRI, OPPD.KCPL AND	8
FIGURE 8. SOUTHWEST POWER POOL (SPP) REGIONAL RELIABILITY MAP	9
FIGURE 9. OPPD RETAIL AND WHOLESALE SALES	15
FIGURE 10. FOUR POWER MARKETING ADMINISTRATIONS WITHIN THE US DEPT. OF ENERGY	16
FIGURE 11. WESTERN'S REGIONAL OFFICES.	18
FIGURE 12. UPPER GREAT PLAINS REGION	19
FIGURE 13. PROPOSED INTERCONNECT BETWEEN OPPD AND WAPA	25
FIGURE 14. MIDWEST INDEPENDENT SYSTEM OPERATORS CURRENT MEMBERS	33
FIGURE 15. EXISTING AND PROPOSED RTO CONFIGURATIONS (WHITE = NO ISO/RTO)	38
FIGURE 16. ANNUAL U.S. RTO/ISO OPERATING COSTS (2003 DOLLARS)	39
FIGURE 17. MIDWEST ISO ANNUAL OPERATING COSTS (2003 DOLLARS)	40
FIGURE 18. ISO/RTO NET ANNUAL ENERGY DEMAND (LOAD)	41
FIGURE 19. THREE-STEP TRANSMISSION REQUEST PROCESS	51
FIGURE 20. NEW TRANSMISSION REQUEST TEMPLATE FORM FROM MAPP OASIS	53
FIGURE 21. OPPD SALE TO DIRECT INTERCONNECT CONTROL AREA MEC	55
FIGURE 22. WAPA TO MEC TO OPPD "WHEELING" EXAMPLE	57
FIGURE 23. GAVINS POINT ANNUAL WATER RELEASE IN MILLION ACRE-FEET.	61
FIGURE 24. MAIN STEM SYSTEM (FORT PECK, GARRISON, OAHE, BIG BEND, FORT RANDALL AND GAVIN	18
POINT) GENERATION	62
FIGURE 25. TOTAL ANNUAL OPPD SALES TO WAPA (10,000 MWH)	62
FIGURE 26. OPPD LOAD AND CAPABILITY	64
FIGURE 27. OPPD DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE.	81
FIGURE 28. WEIGHTED AVERAGE COST OF CAPITAL EQUATION.	82
FIGURE 29. 161 KV TRANSMISSION CONSTRUCTION COST ASSUMPTIONS (PER MILE)	84
FIGURE 30. 230 KV TRANSMISSION CONSTRUCTION COST ASSUMPTIONS (PER MILE)	85
FIGURE 31. 345 KV TRANSMISSION CONSTRUCTION COST ASSUMPTIONS (PER MILE)	85
FIGURE 32. DETAILED MAP OF OPPD AND SURROUNDING INTERCONNECTS.	86
FIGURE 33. OPTION 1: NORTH OMAHA TO CRESTON, IA (CRESTON IS IN MAPP AT A WAPA.MEC	
INTERFACE)	88
FIGURE 34. OPTION 2A AND 2B: LINCOLN, NE TO GRAND ISLAND, NE (GRAND ISLAND IS IN MAPP AT AN	N
NPPD.WAUE INTERFACE)	89
FIGURE 35. OPTION 3A AND 3B: RAUN TO SIOUX CITY, IA (SIOUX CITY IS IN MAPP AT A MEC. WAUE	
INTERFACE)	91
FIGURE 36. OPTION 4A AND 4B: FT. CALHOUN, NE TO DENISON IA (DENISON IS IN MAPP AT A	
MEC.WAUE INTERCONNECT)	93
FIGURE 37. OPPD BILATERAL ON PEAK PURCHASES FROM WAPA TO OPPD (MWH)	96
FIGURE 38. OPPD BILATERAL OFF PEAK PURCHASES FROM WAPA TO OPPD (MWH)	96
FIGURE 39. OPPD BILATERAL ON PEAK SALES FROM OPPD TO WAPA (MWH)	98
FIGURE 40. OPPD BILATERAL OFF PEAK SALES FROM OPPD TO WAPA (MWH)	98
FIGURE 41. ESTIMATED 161 KV TRANSMISSION CONSTRUCTION COSTS, PER MILE	101
FIGURE 42. THREE PHASE 161 KV CIRCUIT	102
FIGURE 43. ESTIMATED 230 KV TRANSMISSION CONSTRUCTION COSTS, PER MILE	103
FIGURE 44. ESTIMATED 345 KV TRANSMISSION CONSTRUCTION COSTS, PER MILE.	104

FIGURE 45.	THREE PHASE 345KVCIRCUIT	
FIGURE 46.	COMPARATIVE CASH FLOW ANALYSIS	
FIGURE 47.	FIVE REMAINING OPTIONS	
FIGURE 48.	FOUR REMAINING OPTIONS	
FIGURE 49.	OPTION 1, NORTH OMAHA TO CRESTON, IA, 161 KV	
FIGURE 50.	OPTION 2A: LINCOLN (70 TH AND BLUFF) TO GRAND ISLAND, 161 KV	
FIGURE 51.	OPTION 2B: LINCOLN TO GRAND ISLAND, 345 KV	
FIGURE 52.	OPTION 3A: RAUN TO SIOUX CITY, 161 KV	
FIGURE 53.	OPTION 3B: NEAL TO SIOUX CITY, 345 KV	
FIGURE 54.	OPTION 4A: FT. CALHOUN TO DENISON IOWA, 161 KV	
FIGURE 55.	OPTION 4B: FT. CALHOUN TO DENISON IOWA, 230 KV	

APPENDIX 4: State of Iowa Franchise Process

INFORMATIONAL MEETING PRESENTATION

Electric Transmission Lines

Iowa Code Chapter 478 is the law governing the construction of electric transmission lines in Iowa. In accordance with Iowa Code section 478.2, the following is a summary of electric line franchise process before the Utilities Board, and of the legal rights of affected landowners. The current version of the Iowa Code is the 2003 edition. If you wish to review the laws or rules referenced during this presentation, they can be found at <u>http://www.legis.state.ia.us/IowaLaw.html</u>. The Board's administrative rules may be found under "Iowa Administrative Code"-"Utilities Division [199]"-"Chapter 11."

In addition, information on the proposed electric transmission line is available on the Board's web site at <u>http://www.state.ia.us/government/com/util</u>.

THE FRANCHISE PROCESS

1. Iowa Code Chapter 478 is the law, which governs the construction of electric lines in Iowa. Any electric line which operates at 69,000 volts or more, and which is located outside the boundaries of a city, requires a franchise from the Utilities Board. In this context a "franchise" is a permit authorizing the construction, operation, and maintenance of the line. Lines operating at 69,000 volts or more are defined as electric transmission lines. A company seeking a franchise can also request that the Utilities Board grants the right of eminent domain, or condemnation, to obtain the right of way needed for the project.

2. If an electric transmission line would extend for one mile or more on privately owned real estate, Iowa Code section 478.2 requires that before a franchise can be requested from the Utilities Board, an informational meeting must be held. The company proposing the electric line is required to notify all parties with an ownership interest in possibly affected property of the meeting.

3. At informational meetings, a representative of the Utilities Board presents a summary of the legal rights of affected landowners, and a representative of the company explains the proposed project. The company cannot begin right of way negotiations with landowners until after this meeting, and cannot petition the Utilities Board for a franchise until at least 30 days after this meeting.

4. This informational meeting is not a hearing upon which the Utilities Board will base a decision. At this time, there is no franchise petition before the Utilities Board. The purpose of this meeting is to provide you with information relative to a proposed project,

not to receive evidence on its merits. No formal record of this meeting is made. Anyone wishing to present evidence to the Utilities Board in favor of or opposing this project does not do so at this meeting.

5. After a petition is filed, there are two procedural paths toward a Utilities Board decision. If no objections are on file and the petition does not request eminent domain, a notice is published for two consecutive weeks in a newspaper located in the county. If no objections are filed within 20 days of the second publication, a franchise may be granted without a hearing.

If objections are filed, however, a hearing will be held. If objections are on file, or if eminent domain is requested, a hearing must be held. Notice of the hearing will be published, and objectors and/or owners of eminent domain parcels will receive notice by mail.

6. When the electric line for which the hearing is being held is more than one mile long, Iowa Code section 478.6 requires the hearing be held in the county seat of the county located at the midpoint of the proposed line.

7. In its proceedings, the Utilities Board is not the advocate or protector of any particular landowner, landowners, or any other party. The duty of the Utilities Board is to determine whether a proposed electric line is necessary to serve a public use, represents a reasonable relationship to an overall plan of transmitting electricity in the public interest, and meets all other legal requirements. The Utilities Board cannot serve as a legal advisor to any party. If you believe you have need for a personal advocate, i.e., lawyers, you may retain them at your expense.

8. Utilities Board proceedings are conducted pursuant to Iowa Code Chapters 478 and 17A, and 199 Iowa Administrative Code Chapter 11. The decision whether to grant a franchise and/or the right of eminent domain will be made by the Utilities Board. The Utilities Board may appoint an administrative law judge to preside over the hearing and issue a proposed decision. This proposed decision will become the final decision of the Utilities Board unless it is appealed to the Board by a party to the case within the time limit provided in the proposed decision.

9. When the Utilities Board has decided the case, either initially or on appeal from a proposed decision, any party to the proceeding may file for rehearing within 20 days under Iowa Code Sections 17A.16 and 478.32. Once a final decision has been made, any party may appeal to the District Court within 30 days under Iowa Code sections 17A.19 and 478.32.

OBJECTIONS

1. Under Iowa Code Section 478.5, you have the right to file written objections to the proposed project with the Utilities Board setting forth the nature of your objections.

2. Written objections may be filed at any time but not later than 20 days after the date of last publication of the notice. The Utilities Board may, but is not required to, allow late filed objections, in which case the company must be given reasonable time to respond. Verbal objections, other than statements made on the record during a hearing, will not be part of the official case record.

3. A suggested form of objection is available. By providing this form the Utilities Board is not promoting the filing of objections, and use of this form is not required to file an objection. The form is provided to show the type of information an objection should include. See Attached Objection Form.

4. You have the right to appear before the Utilities Board at any and all hearings, with or without the aid of legal counsel.

5. At formal hearings, objectors will be given reasonable opportunity to cross-examine company witnesses, and to present witnesses on their own behalf. The burden is on the company to prove the necessary elements of its petition.

6. Utilities Board proceedings are quasi-judicial in nature. Hearings are comparable to courtroom proceedings, and follow similar rules of testimony, cross-examination, and presentation of evidence. The person presiding over the hearing will assist participants unfamiliar with such proceedings, but cannot assist any party with presentation of their case.

7. Anyone who files an objection will be presumed to be a party. However, no objector is entitled to party status merely because that person has filed an objection. To qualify as a party, the objector must be able to demonstrate some right or interest that may be affected by the granting of the franchise. An objector's status may be challenged at the hearing.

RIGHT OF WAY

1. To locate an electric line on private property, the company must obtain the necessary rights from the landowner or owners. The legal document providing such rights is called an easement. An easement may be voluntary, or it may be obtained through the use of eminent domain.

2. Generally speaking, an easement is an acquired privilege of the company for the use of a property. The landowner retains ownership, but use of the easement area is restricted by conditions set forth in the easement or by law. The rights sought by the company will be similar whether obtained by voluntary easement or by eminent domain.

3. The Utilities Board does not supervise or control negotiations for the purchase or acquisition of voluntary right of way easements. Once this informational meeting is

completed, negotiations are strictly between you and the company either with or without your use of private counsel.

4. Landowners should read carefully the form of easement provided by the company and be thoroughly aware of the rights the company seeks. The landowner has the right to negotiate with the company over the terms of the easement.

5. If you decide to sign a voluntary easement, you have for a limited time the right under Iowa Code section 478.33 to cancel the agreement. Cancellation must be by certified mail with return receipt requested, mailed to the company's principal place of business. The cancellation must be received by the company within seven days, excluding Saturday and Sunday, of the date the agreement was signed. The company must inform you in writing of your right to cancel, and provide you with a form in duplicate for the notice of cancellation. The right of cancellation may be exercised only once.

6. Iowa Code section 478.15 contains provisions for the reversion of easements which the company obtained but does not use or ceases to use. This applies to easements acquired either voluntarily or by eminent domain.

7. Iowa Code section 478.17 gives the company the right of reasonable access to its lines for purposes of construction, reconstruction, repairs, and maintenance. The company must pay the owner of the land and crops for all damages resulting from such entry and action. The law allows execution of agreements to cover such situations between the owner of the land or crops and the company. Damage settlements are different than, and separate from payment for the easement, although an easement may include provisions dealing with damages.

EMINENT DOMAIN (CONDEMNATION)

1. If the company cannot obtain the rights it seeks by voluntary easement, it may petition the Utilities Board for authority to take those rights by eminent domain, or condemnation.

- 2. Under federal and state law, private property cannot be taken for public use without:
 - a) A need to serve a public use, and
 - b) Just compensation.

Under Iowa Code Chapter 478, the Utilities Board determines whether the company has shown a need to serve a public use. The matter of just compensation for property rights taken by eminent domain is not determined by the Utilities Board, but rather it is determined by a "Compensation Commission" appointed from your county under Iowa Code Chapter 6B.

3. At this time, the company does not have the right of eminent domain. In other words, it does not have the right of condemnation. The right of eminent domain may only be granted by the Utilities Board after a public hearing on the eminent domain request.
4. You will receive written notice of the public hearing if the right of eminent domain is requested to acquire rights to locate an electric transmission line on your property.

5. Iowa Code section 478.2 requires that at informational meetings the Utilities Board representative shall distribute and review a Statement of Property Owner's Rights prepared by the Iowa Attorney General. These have been adopted as Administrative Rules in 61 IAC Chapter 34. In these rules, an "acquiring agency" is not limited to government agencies; it can include private entities that by law have the right of eminent domain. The rules primarily address acquisition of property ownership, but some provisions apply to condemnation of easements. If you will please turn to the attached copy of those rules, we will review them.

Attached to this presentation is a summary of events entitled Attachment I. This will not be read, but is provided to give you an overview of the process in the sequence that may occur. Rev. 03/03

Attachment I

NOTE: A typical sequence of events, as it may affect the landowner, is set forth below. You should not attach any rigid significance to the sequence. It is merely an example to aid you in understanding the process.

1. Company planning determines need for the line between termini.

2. Prime route, and possibly alternative routes, are tentatively selected.

3. Route landowners and tenant names and addresses collected.

4. Informational meeting notices mailed.

5. Informational meeting is held.

6. Company right of way personnel contact landowners to solicit voluntary easements.

7. The company files petition for franchise with the Utilities Board. Eminent domain may

be requested at this same time or later.

8. Newspaper publishes notices of petition.

9. Public hearing is held by the Utilities Board.

10. A Utilities Board decision denying or granting franchise is issued. If the petition requested eminent domain, a ruling granting or denying that right will also be issued.

11. If the petition and/or eminent domain is denied, the company may petition for rehearing, or appeal the Utilities Board denial to the courts. If the petition is granted, the landowner may petition for rehearing or appeal the Utilities Board decision to the courts. To simplify the balance of this list; it is assumed that the Utilities Board granted the franchise and the right of eminent domain and the decision was not appealed.

12. The company may commence construction where it has voluntary easement.

13. If eminent domain actions are taken, the company petitions the chief judge of the judicial district for the county involved to appoint a Compensation Commission. (Iowa Code Chapter 6B).

14. The Compensation Commission sets compensation amounts, the company pays landowners who will accept; posts payment with the sheriff for those who won't, and may commence construction over the balance of the route.

15. Either the landowners or the company may appeal the amount determined by the Compensation Commission to the courts.

16. Line construction and clean up completed.

17. Company pays voluntary easement amounts, agreed-to construction damages to eminent domain parcel owners, and gives written notice of renegotiation right. See Iowa Code Section 6B.52

18. If the landowner or tenant and company cannot agree on the amount of construction damages, and there is no provision in the easement or other agreement calling for such disputes to be settled by an arbitrator or other means, the landowner or tenant may petition the county board of supervisors to establish a Compensation Commission to determine the damages.

19. Either the landowners or the company may appeal the amount determined by the Compensation Commission to the courts.

Rev. 03/03

MAIL TO: EXECUTIVE SECRETARY IOWA UTILITIES BOARD 350 Maple Street Des Moines, IA 50319-0069

Suggested form for written objections to the granting of an electric transmission line franchise.

The use of this form is not required.

A. (Name of company or utility)

B.

(Date and Location, if known, of Informational Meeting, and/or) (Docket Number, if known, of the proceeding)

C.

(Statement of the nature of the objection(s)) (Use additional sheets, if necessary)

D.

(A description of the remedy or relief that you seek. If you are proposing an alternate route, please attach map.)

E. (Name -- typed or printed) (Signature) (Mailing address) (Date) (City & Zip Code) (Phone)

F.

(Description of affected property, including Section, Township, Range and County)

G.

(Statement of your property interest: such as owner, contract purchaser, mortgagor, lessee-tenant, holder of mineral rights, etc.)

H. Are you the party in possession? (yes or no)

If you have property interest in several properties affected by the proposed line you may wish to attach additional sheets.

Ch 35, p.1 Attorney General[61] IAC 10/6/99

CHAPTER 35

ACQUISITION NEGOTIATION STATEMENT OF RIGHTS

61—34.1(78GA,HF476) Statement of property owner's rights. 1999 Iowa Acts, House File 476, section 3, mandates that an acquiring agency provide a statement of rights to owners of record who may have all or a part of their property acquired by condemnation. It also directs the attorney general to adopt rules prescribing a statement of rights which an acquiring agency may use to meet its obligation. Pursuant to that directive, the following statement of property owner's rights is adopted: STATEMENT OF PROPERTY OWNER'S RIGHTS

Just as the law grants certain entities the right to acquire private property, you as the owner of the property have certain rights. You have the right to:

1. Receive just compensation for the taking of property. (Iowa Constitution, Article I, section 18) 2. An offer to purchase which may not be less than the lowest appraisal of the fair market value of the property. (Iowa Code section 6B.45 as amended by 1999 Iowa Acts, House File 476, section 18; Iowa Code section 6B.54 as amended by 1999 Iowa Acts, House File 476, section 20)

3. Receive a copy of the appraisal, if an appraisal is required, upon which the acquiring agency's determination of just compensation is based not less than ten days before being contacted by the acquiring agency's acquisition agent. (Iowa Code section 6B.45 as amended by 1999 Iowa Acts, House File 476, section 18)

4. An opportunity to accompany at least one appraiser of the acquiring agency who appraises your property when an appraisal is required. (Iowa Code section 6B.54)

5. Participate in good-faith negotiations with the acquiring agency before the acquiring agency begins condemnation proceedings. (1999 Iowa Acts, House File 476, section 3)

6. A determination of just compensation by an impartial compensation commission and the right to appeal its award to the district court if you cannot agree on a purchase price with the acquiring agency. (Iowa Code section 6B.4; Iowa Code section 6B.7 as amended by 1999 Iowa Acts, House File 476, section 8; Iowa Code section 6B.18)

7. A review by the compensation commission of the necessity for the condemnation if your property is agricultural land being condemned for industry. (1999 Iowa Acts, House File 476, section 7)
8. Payment of the agreed upon purchase price or, if condemned, a deposit of the compensation commission award before you are required to surrender possession of the property. (Iowa Code section 6B.25; Iowa Code section 6B.26; Iowa Code section 6B.54(11))

9. Reimbursement for expenses incidental to transferring title to the acquiring agency. (Iowa Code section 6B.33 as amended by 1999 Iowa Acts, House File 476, section 15; Iowa Code section 6B.54(10))

10. Reimbursement of certain litigation expenses: (a) if the award of the compensation commissioners exceeds 110 percent of the acquiring agency's final offer before condemnation; and (b) if the award on appeal in court is more than the compensation commissioners' award. (Iowa Code section 6B.33)

11. At least 90 days' written notice to vacate occupied property. (Iowa Code section 6B.54(4))
12. Relocation services and payments, if you are eligible to receive them, and the right to appeal your eligibility for and amount of the payments. (Iowa Code section 316.9; Iowa Code section 6B.42 as amended by 1999 Iowa Acts, House File 476, section 17)

The rights set out in this statement are not claimed to be a full and complete list or explanation of an owner's rights under the law. They are derived from Iowa Code chapters 6A, 6B and 316. For a more thorough presentation of an owner's rights, you should refer directly to the Iowa Code or contact an attorney of your choice.

Ch 35, p.2 Attorney General[61] IAC 10/6/99

61—34.2(78GA,HF476) Alternate statement of rights. Rule 61—34.1(78GA,HF476) is not intended to prohibit acquiring agencies from providing a statement of rights in a different form, a more detailed statement of rights, or supplementary material expanding upon an owner's rights. These rules are intended to implement 1999 Iowa Acts, House File 476, section 3. [Filed 9/17/99, Notice 8/11/99—published 10/6/99, effective 11/10/99]

APPENDIX 5: Nebraska Power Review Board, Revised Rules of Practice and Procedure Manual

STATE OF NEBRASKA	
NEBRASKA POWER REVIEW BOARD	
REVISED RULES OF PRACTICE	
AND PROCEDURE	
1989	

TABLE OF CONTENTS TITLE 285 - RULES OF PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE Subject of Title Code Page Section Rules of Practice & Procedure Before the Nebraska Power Review Board Appeals. . . General office procedures, where hearings held 3-001. . 16 . . . 3-014. . 18 Rules and Procedure for Applying for Authorization for the Construction of Electric Generation Facilities, Electric Transmission Lines (in excess of 700 volts) and/or Related Facilities, Wheeling, or Complaints Construction of Less Than One-Half Mile Lines. 2-003. . 4 Copies to be filed with the Board. 2-004. . 4 Termination and Completion Statements. . . . 2-005. . 4 --- . .6-15 Rules and Procedure for Exhibits to Service Area Agreements



Title 285 - NEBRASKA POWER REVIEW BOARD

Chapter 2 - RULES AND PROCEDURE FOR APPLYING FOR AUTHORIZATION FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OR ACQUISITION OF ELECTRIC GENERATION FACILITIES, ELECTRIC TRANSMISSION LINES (in excess of 700 volts) AND/OR RELATED FACILITIES, WHEELING, OR COMPLAINTS

<u>001</u> Approval for construction or acquisition of electric facilities shall be secured in all cases. (Except as noted in Section 70-1012, R.R.S., 1943, as amended.)

<u>002</u> Except as provided by law, approval to construct or acquire electric transmission lines carrying more than 700 volts or related facilities shall be obtained from the Nebraska Power Review Board prior to construction or acquisition.

<u>003</u> Any electric supplier may construct or acquire a line not to exceed one-half mile in length without Board approval; PROVIDED THAT, the supplier obtains written consent of all owners of electric lines located within one-half mile of the proposed extension and files said consents with the Board. (Applications shall be filed with the consents.) If the space provided in the application is not sufficient for the information, additional sheets should be attached and referred to in the appropriate space provided.

004 An original and one copy of each application and exhibits, "A" and "B" shall be filed. (All copies other than thermofax copies All necessary forms are available and will be are acceptable.) furnished to any party upon request. Exhibit "A" shall be a map on a scale of not less than one inch equals one mile, and it shall show all other transmission lines or other distribution lines within one mile of the proposed extension or related facilities; provided, however, when the proposed transmission line exceeds twenty five (25) miles in length, a smaller scale map may be used as long as all other facilities of the same magnitude owned by the party making the application or owned by other suppliers are shown. Exhibit "B" shall be a succinct statement as to how the applicant will provide service at its "low overall cost as possible consistent with sound business practices". Exhibit "B" also shall contain (a) the cost of the construction and; (b) a statement indicating if the construction price will be paid in part by any contribution by any customer; and (c) if there is a contribution, the amount of the contribution and whether it is in addition to the cost submitted on the application.

 $\underline{005}$ (1) No latter than six months after substantial completion of a Power Review Board approved facility the petitioner shall file a completion statement: substantial completion occurs upon commercial operation of the facility. The completion statement shall include (a) the PRB application number; (b) the estimated total cost and estimated date of completion as stated in the application; and (c) the date of substantial completion/commercial

- 4 -

operation and the actual total cost (as estimated on the date of filing the completion statement). If the completion statement reveals a significant divergence between the estimated total cost and the actual total cost, then the completion statement also shall include a full explanation of the significant divergence. Significant divergence shall mean a cost overrun of \$150,000 on a facility with an estimated total cost of less than \$1,000,000; and shall mean cost overrun of 15% or more on a facility with an estimated total cost of \$1,000,000 or more. The Board may hold a informational hearing on the cost overrun. (2) In the event that a supplier terminates construction or acquisition of an electric generation or transmission facility after receiving approval for the facilities from the Nebraska Power Review Board, the supplier shall file with the Board within 30 days of the action taken to terminate construction or acquisition, a statement of the factors or reasons relied upon by the supplier for taking such action. (3) If a transmission or distribution line project is not completed within the approximate time stated in the application, the supplier shall file with the Board a statement informing the Board why such project has not been completed in the time stated in the application.

Appendix B:	Application for autho an electric transmis facilities.	rity to construct or acquire sion line(s) and/or related
11-89		
	NEBRASKA POWER RE	VIEW BOARD
IN THE MATTER	OF THE APPLICATION OF)	Application for authority to construct or acquire an electric transmission lines(s) and/or related
- <u> </u>	}	facilities.
		Application No. PRB
••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••)	Application File No
(1) Descript	ion of proposed electri Miles Volta	c transmission line(s): ge Phase
(2) Engineer	ing Specification:	
Applicant Na	attach to this appl	ication as an arbihit the
following inf	ormation if known:	
A. Type	of System (Delta, Wye	connected)
C. Cond	s (Type, number per MII uctors (Size and Type)	8)
D. Insu E. Type	lators (Size and Type) of Construction (H-Fra	me, etc.)
(3) Purpose of	f Construction and Desc	ription of related facilities
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
(4) Name, ad	dress, and type of cust	omers to be served:
	-,	
······································		
	and donionated Publicity	All lif more than one orbibit
() Accached	and designated Exhibit	A (II more than one exhibit,
	- 6 -	

number the first "A-1", the second "A-2", etc.) are maps and other related exhibits showing location of proposed transmission line and related facilities, and any other information deemed necessary or useful in the consideration of this application.

(6) Construction or acquisition of the proposed electric transmission facilities, electric transmission line, and/or related facilities is currently estimated to start on or about _____, and to be completed on or about

(7) The estimated cost of construction is ______. Is there any financial contribution by the customer: Yes_____. No_____. If there is a financial contribution by the customer, how much was the contribution _______ and is this contribution included in the estimated construction cost? Yes_____ No____.

(8) The owners of electric generation facilities, electric transmission lines, and/or related facilities, and any other persons or organizations known to the applicant whom the applicant believes to be interested in the application are:

(9) Waivers and consents from the following are attached:

(10) Safety Standards. The design of the transmission line(s) as set out in the foregoing conforms with the standards set forth in the most recent edition of the National Electrical Safety Code.

(11) The proposed electric transmission line, and/or related facilities will serve the public convenience and necessity, and the applicant can most economically and feasibly supply the electric service resulting from the proposed construction or acquisition without unnecessary duplication of facilities or operations.

Dated _____,19___.

By______ Title______ Address______

- 7 -

Appendix H: Completion Statement

11-89

NEBRASKA POWER REVIEW BOARD

Pursuant to Nebraska Rev. Statutes, Section 70-1003 (4) (e) this statement is filed to certify completion and cost information of the project(s) set forth below.

		Estimated			
	Your	Date of	Date	Estimated	Actual
<u>PRB-</u> #	Application #	<u>Completion</u>	<u>Completed</u>	Application Cost	Cost

If, it appears that there is significant divergence between the estimated cost in the application and the actual completion costs, the Nebraska Power Review Board will contact the electrical supplier for additional information. The Board may hold an informational hearing concerning any significant divergence.

Significant divergence shall mean a cost overrun of \$150,000 on a facility with an estimated total cost of less than \$1,000,000; and shall mean a cost overrun of 15% or more on a facility with an estimated total cost of \$1,000,000 or more.

Ву_____

Title_____

Address_____

- 14 -

Appendix I: Termination Statement

11-89

.

NEBRASKA POWER REVIEW BOARD

-

If you terminate construction or acquisition of electric generation or transmission facilities after receiving approval from the Nebraska Power Review Board, you are required to notify the Nebraska Power Review Board within 30 days of the action to terminate and also the factors or reasons relied upon for such action. (Neb. Rev. Stat. Section 70-1012.01.)

<u> PRB-#</u>	Your App	lication #	Completion Date	Date of Termination
·				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
·				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
			, ,,,,,,,_,_,,,,,,,,,,	
	-			
<u>F</u>	Reason for	Terminatio	on (if necessary	, please use additional
paper	L		•	
	-	i		
	·			

- 15 -

...

APPENDIX 6: The Eight Step WAPA Interconnection Process

The interconnection process

There are eight steps in the interconnection process. Western may modify this process based on specific circumstances of the requested interconnection.

Step 1: Contact Western and submit application

Before submitting an application, discuss the proposed project with a <u>representative</u> at the Western office that controls the area in which the interconnection will occur. It helps us determine what studies are necessary.

Generally, the requesting entity should register with the appropriate reliability council before requesting interconnection with Western. After initial contact, Western will provide interconnection related information, including <u>Western's General</u> <u>Requirements for Interconnection</u>, the Application for Interconnection, the <u>Tariff</u> if applicable, Western's applicable <u>General Power Contract Provisions</u> and other supporting safety, environmental and operations information.

Requesters should submit formal requests for interconnection at least 18 months before equipment or construction specifications are to be issued for bid. This lead time allows Western to develop a proposed plan, designs and specifications for Westernowned, -operated and -maintained facilities, and to review line taps owned by others.

Western may take up to 30 days to process the interconnections request.

If Western denies the request for interconnection, we will provide a summary of reasons and make every reasonable effort to help the requesting entity revise the request.

Submit Application

Provide as much of the following information as possible to help expedite the design or review process. This information is also listed in summary form on the Application for Interconnection (form to be added).

A. Single-line diagram(s) showing the proposed interconnection, including any relaying and metering facilities.

- B. Drawing(s) indicating the physical arrangements of existing and proposed facilities.
- C. Geographic location of the proposed interconnection, including land ownership pattern, if available. If a tap, indicate adjacent structure numbers.
- D. Description of the proposed routing, approximate lengths and conductor size of transmission line additions or modifications, and dimensions and configurations of new structures.
- E. Description and ratings of any proposed breakers, switches, metering, associated communications, relaying and other related equipment.
- F. Description of transformer voltage and rating, winding connections, impedance if available, and proposed method of protection.
- G. Proposed construction schedule.
- H. Description of the generating resources or loads to be served by the interconnection and the proposed transmission path(s) and service arrangements between resources and associated loads, where applicable. The description should include:
 - 1. Power output or load requirements, including 10-year projections, by delivery points, of winter and summer peaks for loads served or generation supplied through the point of interconnection;
 - 2. Size, type and ratings of large equipment;
 - 3. Reliability and special operation requirements; and
 - 4. Impedance, frequency, voltage, reactive power and protective relaying characteristics of the interconnecting resource or load.

Appropriate revenue and telemetering equipment specifications. The data should include load control boundary metering, current and potential transformer ratios and register and contact initiator ratios with multipliers.

- J. Copies of relevant planning or operational studies.
- K. Copies of relevant environmental impact assessments, reports, or projections; or description of anticipated scope of environmental review

Step 2: System impact study

I.

Western will conduct a system impact study that assesses the capability of the transmission system to support the requested interconnection. The study will use the criteria and process detailed in Sections 4 and 5 of Western's Federal Energy Regulatory Commission Form 715 (available upon request) when the request occurs in the <u>WSCC</u> area, and use the <u>MAPP</u> system impact study methodology (available upon request) when the request occurs in the MAPP area.

Within 30 days of receiving the application for interconnection, Western will provide a System Impact Study Agreement in which the requesting entity agrees to

advance funds for Western to perform the study. The requesting entity must sign and return the agreement to Western within 15 days or the request is deemed withdrawn.

Western will make every effort to complete the system impact study within 60 days. The study will identify system constraints and redispatch options and any necessary additional direct assignment facilities and network upgrades.

Once the system impact study is complete, Western will provide the requesting entity with a report.

Within 30 days after receiving the results of the system impact study, an entity requesting both interconnection and transmission service may request to enter into an Expedited Service Agreement. This agreement specifies advance compensation requirements. The Expedited Service Agreement provides one contractual agreement for the full interconnection process, from facilities study to operation and maintenance, including transmission service.

Western will provide the requesting entity its best estimate of new facility costs and other charges, but the estimate is not binding. For further information, refer to Section 19.8 of the <u>Tariff</u>, or contact the <u>appropriate Western office</u>.

Step 3: Facilities study and design

The facilities study determines upgrades or modifications needed at the point of interconnection. Within 30 days after Western completes the system impact study, we will provide a Facilities Study Agreement in which the requesting entity agrees to advance funds for Western to perform the study. The requesting entity must sign and return the agreement to Western within 15 days or the request is deemed withdrawn.

Western will make every effort to complete the facilities study within 60 days. The study includes estimates of the cost of facilities design and construction as well as the time required to complete design and construction. We will provide a facilities study to the requesting entity for review.

Step 4: Environmental review

As a Federal agency, Western conducts an environmental review of any action affecting Western's transmission facilities. The environmental review process can range from a categorical exclusion to a comprehensive environmental impact statement complete with the required public process and is conducted simultaneously with other studies.

Requesting entities must advance funds to Western for the environmental review process. The environmental review process uses input from the studies and construction planning processes and may be concluded before or after completion of these technical studies, when applicable. Continuation of the interconnection process at any and every step is contingent upon favorable environmental review.

If the environmental review shows that the interconnection does not satisfy Federal environmental criteria, Western will either deny the request or work with the requesting entity to revise aspects of the interconnection request to meet environmental criteria. Such revisions may occur at various steps during the process.

Step 5: Land acquisition

After the environmental process, negotiations for any necessary land rights begin. Negotiations should be complete and the land rights obtained before construction begins. Requesting entities must advance funds for Western to conduct the necessary land acquisition activities. Western will, unless otherwise agreed to by Western and the requesting entity, perform all land acquisition activities.

Step 6: Design and construction

Once the facilities study is complete, Western will tender a Construction Agreement to the requesting entity, which has 30 days to sign and return the agreements to Western and provide advance payment. Western cannot continue without funding in place. Western will design the interconnection, unless otherwise agreed to by Western and the requesting entity. Western will also, unless otherwise agreed to by Western and the requesting entity, perform all construction.

Step 7: Review and testing, interconnection agreement, and energize

Once construction has been completed—and before energizing the new interconnection—Western will review and test the new facilities. Before energizing, Western must also receive the appropriate as-built drawings, operating instructions and other relevant materials. When the facilities are found to be in conformance with Western's criteria, we will issue an Interconnection Agreement to the interconnecting entity. The Interconnection Agreement—also termed mutual services, operations and maintenance, control area, or consolidated agreement in some regions—provides for the long-term operation and maintenance of the interconnected facilities. It generally includes sections on licensing, maintenance, operations, special instructions and funding. When to the benefit of Western and the interconnecting entity, the Interconnection Agreement may be tendered at the same time as the earlier Construction Agreement.

The interconnected facilities may be energized following execution of the Interconnection Agreement. If Western does not maintain direct control of the facilities, then we will maintain backup control of all facilities deemed to be vital to system stability.

Step 8: Project close-out

Western will develop a final report with a list of lessons. We invite the interconnecting entity to join in developing a joint final report that benefits Western and the entity.

APPENDIX 7: Load and Capability Report Data

Load and Generation Capability (Summer) Summer Conditions (May 1 to October 31)

	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2
1. Seasonal System Demand Base Peak (June 04 LF-																
50/50)	2169	2227	2266	2310	2357	2421	2461	2501	2566	2609	2637	2711	2748	2787	2850	_
Less Curtailable Load	-92	-101	-107	-111	-111	-117	-121	-121	-128	-132	-132	-132	-132	-132	-132	
Total	2077	2126	2159	2199	2247	2303	2340	2381	2438	2477	2505	2579	2616	2655	2718	
2. Annual System Demand	2077	2126	2159	2199	2247	2303	2340	2381	2438	2477	2505	2579	2616	2655	2718	
3. Firm Purchases - WAPA	82	82	82	82	82	82	82	81	81	81	81	81	81	81	81	
4. Firm Sales																
Wholesale Towns (a)	5	5	5	1	=	1	1	5	5	=	=	12	12	12	12	
Total	=	=	:	1	=	=	÷	5	5	=	=	12	12	12	12	
5. Seasonal Adj. Net	9000	OLER	8000	0100	0176	2222	2260	0211	0260	2010	0135	2500	0647	OFRE	0640	
6. Adjusted Net Demand (2-	2000	0007	2000	0717	0/17	0077	6077	1107	2000	1042	2400	6007	1407	0007	C143	
3+4)	2006	2055	2088	2128	2176	2233	2269	2311	2368	2407	2435	2509	2547	2586	2649	
7. Net Generating Capability																
Fort Calhoun	476	483	489	492	492	492	492	492	492	492	492	492	492	492	492	
Nebraska City #1	646	646	646	646	646	646	646	634	634	634	634	634	634	634	634	
Nebraska City #2	0	0	0	0	0	663	663	663	663	663	663	663	663	663	663	
North Omaha	663	663	663	663	663	663	663	651	651	651	651	651	651	651	651	
Sarpy County	314	314	314	314	314	314	314	314	314	314	314	314	314	314	314	
Jones Street	118	118	118	118	118	118	118	118	118	118	118	118	118	118	118	
Cass County	320	320	320	320	320	320	320	320	320	320	320	320	320	320	320	_
Douglas County Landfill	С	3	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	
Tecumseh (leased)	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	
Future Baseload Capacity	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	300	300	300	300	
Total	2547	2554	2563	2566	2566	3229	3229	3205	3205	3205	3205	3505	3505	3505	3505	

8. Participation Purchases NPPD Wind Energy	0	0	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	5	
Total	0	0	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	
 Participation Sales Wisconsin Public Service (WPS) 	ស	5	S	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Nebraska City #2 Participants	0	0	0	0	0	332	332	332	332	332	332	332	332	332	332	
Total	2ı	£	5	0	0	332	332	332	332	332	332	332	332	332	332	
10. Accredited Capability 7+8-9)	2542	2549	2560	2568	2568	2899	2899	2875	2875	2875	2875	3175	3175	3175	3175	
Diligation (6 X 15%) Diligation (6 X 15%)	301	308	313	319	326	335	340	347	355	361	365	376	382	388	397	
Dbligation (5+11)	2307	2363	2401	2448	2502	2568	2610	2658	2723	2768	2801	2886	2929	2974	3046	
Capacity (10-12)	236	186	158	120	65	331	289	218	152	107	74	289	246	201	129	
14. Reserve Margin (10/5)	26.7%	24.0%	22.6%	20.6%	18.0%	29.8%	27.8%	24.4%	21.4%	19.4%	18.1%	26.5%	24.7%	22.8%	19.9%	
summer Capability Changes:	NPPD Wi	p	Ft. Calho	un			N Omaha	a & Neb C	ity #1		Nebraska	a City Sta	ation		Future Baseloa	
	10 MW - 0 2005	Oct	3 MW - N	Aay 2005	(Conden:	ser)	12 MW D	erate Eac	th Station	- 2011	663 MW 1 2009	Unit #2 -	Мау		300 MW	
	Elk City L	andfill	4 MW - N Separato	/ay 2005 r/)	(Moisture		For propo	sed MPC	Legislati	u	(Sell 331 Term)	.5 MW L	-Guo			

3 MW - December 2006 (LP Rotor) (a) Consists of the projected demands of the Nebraska municipal utilities of Syracuse, Greenwood, Elk Creek, and Tecumseh. All are served at wholesale by the District.

6 MW - Oct 2005 (Appendix K)

3 MW - May 2006

154



Appendix 8: Cash Flow Detail

			12.09		484		
			6.79%	7% Reinv.	MIRR		
			6.46%		IRR		
			(\$1,322,310)		NPV		
573,310	255,024		2,260,318	459,458	55,475	1,745,385	2039
562,825	250,359		2,250,900	451,055	54,460	1,745,385	2038
552,531	245,781		2,241,655	442,806	53,464	1,745,385	2037
542,425	241,285		2,232,578	434,707	52,486	1,745,385	2036
532,505	236,872		2,223,668	426,756	51,526	1,745,385	2035
522,766	232,540		2,214,920	418,951	50,584	1,745,385	2034
513,205	228,287		2,206,333	411,289	49,659	1,745,385	2033
503,819	224,112		2,197,903	403,767	48,751	1,745,385	2032
494,604	220,013		2,189,626	396,382	47,859	1,745,385	2031
485,558	215,989		2,181,502	389,133	46,984	1,745,385	2030
476,678	212,039		2,173,525	382,016	46,125	1,745,385	2029
467,960	208,161		2,165,695	375,029	45,281	1,745,385	2028
459,401	204,354		2,158,008	368,170	44,453	1,745,385	2027
450,999	200,616		2,150,461	361,436	43,640	1,745,385	2026
442,750	196,947		2,143,053	354,826	42,842	1,745,385	2025
434,653	193,345		2,135,780	348,337	42,058	1,745,385	2024
426,703	189,809		2,128,640	341,966	41,289	1,745,385	2023
418,899	186,338	1,925,855	2,121,630	335,711	40,534	1,745,385	2022
411,238	182,930	(195,775)	2,114,749	329,571	39,792	1,745,385	2021
403,717	179,584	(2, 310, 524)	2,107,993	323,544	39,065	1,745,385	2020
396,333	176,300	(4, 418, 518)	2,101,362	317,626	38,350	1,745,385	2019
389,084	173,075	(6,519,879)	2,094,851	311,817	37,649	1,745,385	2018
381,968	169,910	(8,614,730)	2,088,460	306,114	36,960	1,745,385	2017
374,982	166,802	(10,703,190)	2,082,185	300,516	36,284	1,745,385	2016
368,124	163,752	(12,785,375)	2,076,025	295,020	35,621	1,745,385	2015
361,391	160,757	(14,861,400)	2,069,978	289,624	34,969	1,745,385	2014
354,782	157,817	(16,931,378)	2,064,041	284,327	34,330	1,745,385	2013

Figure 49. Option 1, North Omaha to Creston, IA, 161 kV

\$26,431.84	sak = 123,774 MW	eak = 278,251 MW
1 WAPA to OPPD =	D to WAPA: On P	D to WAPA: Off P
for purchases from	for sales from OPP	for sales from OPP
mission expenditure	imission expenditure	imission expenditure
age bilateral trans	age bilateral trans	age bilateral trans
Five year aver	Five year avei	Five year aver

Option 2a: Lincoln (70th and Bluff) to Grand Island, 161 kV:

Steel Poles (\$100,000/mile * 100 miles)	ŝ	10,000,000	MAPP Rates		
Conductors/Wires (\$25,000 *100 miles)	S	2,500,000	On-peak	Off-peak	
Labor (\$100,000 * 100 miles)	Ś	10,000,000	0.79	0.45	
Right of Way (\$50,000 * 100)	S	5,000,000			
Substation terminal work	Ś	3,000,000			
Transmission Impact Study	S	150,000			
Legal Fees	မ	3,000			
Net Cash Outlay	S	30,653,000			
1					

ales	Off-peak (MW)	278,251	283,435	288,715	294,094	299,573	335,670	341,923	348,293	354,782	361,391
Bilateral MW S	On-peak (MW)	123,774	126,080	128,428	130,821	133,258	149,315	152,097	154,930	157,817	160,757
	Pay Back Period		(7,663,250)	(15, 326, 500)	(22,989,750)	(30,653,000)	(25, 850, 861)	(21,043,106)	(16,229,629)	(11,410,325)	(6,585,083)
	Total Cash Flow (\$)		(7,663,250)	(7,663,250)	(7,663,250)	(7,663,250)	4,802,139	4,807,755	4,813,477	4,819,305	4,825,241
	Bilateral Sales (\$)	222,944	227,149	231,380	235,691	240,082	269,010	274,022	279,127	284,327	289,624
	Bilateral Purchase (\$)	26,924	27,426	27,937	28,457	28,987	32,480	33,085	33,702	34,330	34,969
	WAPA Firm Purchase (\$)	10-389 -					1,745,385	1,745,385	1,745,385	1,745,385	1,745,385
C L -	LES Firm Purchase (\$)						2,755,263	2,755,263	2,755,263	2,755,263	2,755,263
	Initial Capital Investment (\$)		(7,663,250)	(7,663,250)	(7,663,250)	(7,663,250)					
	Year	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014

			6.36		РВР			
			8.88%	7% Reinv.	MIRR			
			12.73%		IRR			
			\$20,103,796		NPV			
573,310	255,024		5,015,581	459,458	55,475	1,745,385	2,755,263	2039
562,825	250,359		5,006,164	451,055	54,460	1,745,385	2,755,263	2038
552,531	245,781		4,996,918	442,806	53,464	1,745,385	2,755,263	2037
542,425	241,285		4,987,842	434,707	52,486	1,745,385	2,755,263	2036
532,505	236,872		4,978,931	426,756	51,526	1,745,385	2,755,263	2035
522,766	232,540		4,970,184	418,951	50,584	1,745,385	2,755,263	2034
513,205	228,287		4,961,596	411,289	49,659	1,745,385	2,755,263	2033
503,819	224,112		4,953,166	403,767	48,751	1,745,385	2,755,263	2032
494,604	220,013		4,944,890	396,382	47,859	1,745,385	2,755,263	2031
485,558	215,989		4,936,765	389,133	46,984	1,745,385	2,755,263	2030
476,678	212,039		4,928,789	382,016	46,125	1,745,385	2,755,263	2029
467,960	208,161		4,920,958	375,029	45,281	1,745,385	2,755,263	2028
459,401	204,354		4,913,271	368,170	44,453	1,745,385	2,755,263	2027
450,999	200,616		4,905,724	361,436	43,640	1,745,385	2,755,263	2026
442,750	196,947		4,898,316	354,826	42,842	1,745,385	2,755,263	2025
434,653	193,345		4,891,043	348,337	42,058	1,745,385	2,755,263	2024
426,703	189,809		4,883,903	341,966	41,289	1,745,385	2,755,263	2023
418,895	186,338		4,876,893	335,711	40,534	1,745,385	2,755,263	2022
411,238	182,930		4,870,012	329,571	39,792	1,745,385	2,755,263	2021
403,717	179,584		4,863,257	323,544	39,065	1,745,385	2,755,263	2020
396,333	176,300		4,856,625	317,626	38,350	1,745,385	2,755,263	2019
389,084	173,075		4,850,114	311,817	37,649	1,745,385	2,755,263	2018
381,968	169,910		4,843,723	306,114	36,960	1,745,385	2,755,263	2017
374,982	166,802	3,083,654	4,837,448	300,516	36,284	1,745,385	2,755,263	2016
368,124	163,752	(1,753,795)	4,831,288	295,020	35,621	1,745,385	2,755,263	2015

Figure 50. Option 2a: Lincoln (70th and Bluff) to Grand Island, 161 kV

	4 MW	1 MW
1.84	23,774	78,25
26,43	k = 1	k = 2
D =	n Pea	ff Pea
OPP (A: 0	A: 0
PA to	WAP	WAP
A WA	D to	D to
s fron	1 OPF	1 OPF
chase	s fron	s fron
r pur	r sale	r sale
ure fo	ure fo	ure fo
enditu	enditu	enditi
n exp	n exp	n exp
nissio	nissio	nissio
transr	transr	transr
ateral	ateral	ateral
ge bilå	se bili	ge bilå
averag	averag	averag
year a	year a	year :
Five	Five	Five

Option 2b: Lincoln to Grand Island, 345 kV:

	ales	Off-peak (MW)	278,251	283,435	288,715	294,094	299,573	335,670	341,923	348,293	354,782	361,391
eak 55	Bilateral MW S	On-peak (MW)	123,774	126,080	128,428	130,821	133,258	149,315	152,097	154,930	157,817	160,757
R Off-p 0.4		ay Back Period		4,038,250)	8,076,500)	2,114,750)	6,153,000)	1,350,861)	6,543,106	1,729,629)	6,910,325)	2,085,083)
MAPP F On-pea 0.79		<u>د</u>		()	0) (2)	0) (4	0) (5	39 (5	55 (4	77 (4)5 (<u>3</u>	11 (3)
0,000 0,000 0,000 0,000 3,000 3,000		Total Casl Flow (\$)		(14,038,25	(14,038,25	(14,038,25	(14,038,25	4,802,13	4,807,75	4,813,47	4,819,3(4,825,24
50,00 50,00 50,00 50,00 50,00 50,00 50,00 50,00 50,00 51,15 56,15		Bilateral Sales (\$)	222,944	227,149	231,380	235,691	240,082	269,010	274,022	279,127	284,327	289,624
		Bilateral Purchase (\$)	26,924	27,426	27,937	28,457	28,987	32,480	33,085	33,702	34,330	34,969
(s (WAPA Firm Purchase (\$)						1,745,385	1,745,385	1,745,385	1,745,385	1,745,385
le * 100 mile: 0 *100 miles es) 00) y	(LES Firm Purchase (\$)						2,755,263	2,755,263	2,755,263	2,755,263	2,755,263
s (\$200,000/mi s/Wires (\$50,00 00,000 * 100 mil ay (\$50,000 * 1 i terminal work ion Impact Stud s Outlay		Initial Capital Investment (\$)		(14,038,250)	(14,038,250)	(14,038,250)	(14,038,250)					
Steel Pole Conductor Labor (\$2(Right of W Substatior Transmiss Legal Fee Net Cash (Year	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014

			20.11		2			
			6.90%	7% Rein	MIRR			
			6.73%		IRR			
			(\$1,489,676)		NPV			
573,310	255,024		5,015,581	459,458	55,475	1,745,385	2,755,263	2039
562,825	250,359		5,006,164	451,055	54,460	1,745,385	2,755,263	2038
552,531	245,781		4,996,918	442,806	53,464	1,745,385	2,755,263	2037
542,425	241,285		4,987,842	434,707	52,486	1,745,385	2,755,263	2036
532,505	236,872		4,978,931	426,756	51,526	1,745,385	2,755,263	2035
522,766	232,540		4,970,184	418,951	50,584	1,745,385	2,755,263	2034
513,205	228,287		4,961,596	411,289	49,659	1,745,385	2,755,263	2033
503,819	224,112		4,953,166	403,767	48,751	1,745,385	2,755,263	2032
494,604	220,013		4,944,890	396,382	47,859	1,745,385	2,755,263	2031
485,558	215,989		4,936,765	389,133	46,984	1,745,385	2,755,263	2030
476,678	212,039		4,928,789	382,016	46,125	1,745,385	2,755,263	2029
467,960	208,161		4,920,958	375,029	45,281	1,745,385	2,755,263	2028
459,401	204,354		4,913,271	368,170	44,453	1,745,385	2,755,263	2027
450,999	200,616		4,905,724	361,436	43,640	1,745,385	2,755,263	2026
442,750	196,947		4,898,316	354,826	42,842	1,745,385	2,755,263	2025
434,653	193,345		4,891,043	348,337	42,058	1,745,385	2,755,263	2024
426,703	189,809		4,883,903	341,966	41,289	1,745,385	2,755,263	2023
418,899	186,338		4,876,893	335,711	40,534	1,745,385	2,755,263	2022
411,238	182,930	1,867,385	4,870,012	329,571	39,792	1,745,385	2,755,263	2021
403,717	179,584	(3,002,627)	4,863,257	323,544	39,065	1,745,385	2,755,263	2020
396,333	176,300	(7,865,884)	4,856,625	317,626	38,350	1,745,385	2,755,263	2019
389,084	173,075	(12,722,509)	4,850,114	311,817	37,649	1,745,385	2,755,263	2018
381,968	169,910	(17,572,624)	4,843,723	306,114	36,960	1,745,385	2,755,263	2017
374,982	166,802	(22,416,346)	4,837,448	300,516	36,284	1,745,385	2,755,263	2016
368,124	163,752	(27,253,795)	4,831,288	295,020	35,621	1,745,385	2,755,263	2015

Figure 51. Option 2b: Lincoln to Grand Island, 345 kV

Five year average bilateral transmission expenditure for sales from OPPD to WAPA: Off Peak = 278,251 MW Five year average bilateral transmission expenditure for sales from OPPD to WAPA: On Peak = 123,774 MW Five year average bilateral transmission expenditure for **purchases** from WAPA to OPPD = \$26,431.84

Option 3a: Raun to Sioux City, 161 kV:

Steel Poles (\$100,000/mile * 20 miles)	÷	2,000,000			
Conductors/Wires (\$25,000 *20 miles)	S	500,000			
Labor (\$100,000 * 20 miles)	ŝ	2,000,000	On pool		
Right of Way (\$50,000 * 20)	Ś	1,000,000			
Terminal work	Ş	1,500,000	61.0	0.4.0	
Greenfield 161 Kv construction	ዓ	3,250,000			
Transmission Impact Study	÷	150,000			
Legal Fees	S	3,000			
Net Cash Outlay	\$	10,403,000			

Sales	Off-peak	(MM)	278,251	283,435	288,715	294,094	299,573	335,670	341,923	348,293	354,782	361,391
Bilateral MW	On-peak	(MM)	123,774	126,080	128,428	130,821	133,258	149,315	152,097	154,930	157,817	160,757
	Pay Back Period			(2,600,750)	(5,201,500)	(7,802,250)	(10,403,000)	(8,356,125)	(6, 303, 633)	(4,245,419)	(2,181,378)	(111,400)
	Total Cash Flow	(全)		(2,600,750)	(2,600,750)	(2,600,750)	(2,600,750)	2,046,875	2,052,492	2,058,213	2,064,041	2,069,978
	Bilateral Sales	(\$)	222,944	227,149	231,380	235,691	240,082	269,010	274,022	279,127	284,327	289,624
	Bilateral Purchase	(\$)	26,924	27,426	27,937	28,457	28,987	32,480	33,085	33,702	34,330	34,969
	WAPA Firm Purchase	(\$)						1,745,385	1,745,385	1,745,385	1,745,385	1,745,385
	Initial Capital Investment	(\$)		(2,600,750)	(2,600,750)	(2,600,750)	(2,600,750)					
		Year	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014

			5.05		РВР		
			9.69%	7% Reinv.	MIRR		
			15.69%		IRR		
			\$11,168,031		NPV		
573,310	255,024		2,260,318	459,458	55,475	1,745,385	2039
562,825	250,359		2,250,900	451,055	54,460	1,745,385	2038
552,531	245,781		2,241,655	442,806	53,464	1,745,385	2037
542,425	241,285		2,232,578	434,707	52,486	1,745,385	2036
532,505	236,872		2,223,668	426,756	51,526	1,745,385	2035
522,766	232,540		2,214,920	418,951	50,584	1,745,385	2034
513,205	228,287		2,206,333	411,289	49,659	1,745,385	2033
503,819	224,112		2,197,903	403,767	48,751	1,745,385	2032
494,604	220,013		2,189,626	396,382	47,859	1,745,385	2031
485,558	215,989		2,181,502	389,133	46,984	1,745,385	2030
476,678	212,039		2,173,525	382,016	46,125	1,745,385	2029
467,960	208,161		2,165,695	375,029	45,281	1,745,385	2028
459,401	204,354		2,158,008	368,170	44,453	1,745,385	2027
450,999	200,616		2,150,461	361,436	43,640	1,745,385	2026
442,750	196,947		2,143,053	354,826	42,842	1,745,385	2025
434,653	193,345		2,135,780	348,337	42,058	1,745,385	2024
426,703	189,809		2,128,640	341,966	41,289	1,745,385	2023
418,899	186,338		2,121,630	335,711	40,534	1,745,385	2022
411,238	182,930		2,114,749	329,571	39,792	1,745,385	2021
403,717	179,584		2,107,993	323,544	39,065	1,745,385	2020
396,333	176,300		2,101,362	317,626	38,350	1,745,385	2019
389,084	173,075		2,094,851	311,817	37,649	1,745,385	2018
381,968	169,910		2,088,460	306,114	36,960	1,745,385	2017
374,982	166,802		2,082,185	300,516	36,284	1,745,385	2016
368,124	163,752	1,964,625	2,076,025	295,020	35,621	1,745,385	2015

Figure 52. Option 3a: Raun to Sioux City, 161 kV

Five year average bilateral transmission expenditure for sales from OPPD to WAPA: Off Peak = 278,251 MW Five year average bilateral transmission expenditure for sales from OPPD to WAPA: On Peak = 123,774 MW Five year average bilateral transmission expenditure for **purchases** from WAPA to OPPD = \$26,431.84

Option 3b: Raun to Sioux City, 345 kV:

Steel Poles (\$200,000/mile * 20 miles)	s	4,000,000		
Conductors/Wires (\$50,000 *20 miles)	Ś	1,000,000		
Labor (\$200,000 * 20 miles)	ഗ	4,000,000 MA	NPP Rates	
Right of Way (\$50,000 * 20)	\$	1,000,000 On-	-peak	Off-peak
Terminal work	S	3,000,000 0.7	ŋ	0.45
Greenfield 161 Kv construction	\$	6,500,000		
Transmission Impact Study	\$	150,000		
Legal Fees	ഗ	3,000		
Net Cash Outlay	s	19,653,000		
I				

		i					Bilateral MW S	ales
oita	_	WAPA Firm	Bilateral	Bilateral	Total Cash Flow	Pay Back	On-neak	Off-nea
en		Purchase	Purchase	Sales		Period	ANAIN	
		(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(¢)		(VVIVI)	
			26,924	222,944			123,774	278,25
ŭ	0		27,426	227,149	(4, 913, 250)	(4,913,250)	126,080	283,43
ŭ	0		27,937	231,380	(4, 913, 250)	(9,826,500)	128,428	288,71
ň	<u>(</u>)		28,457	235,691	(4, 913, 250)	(14, 739, 750)	130,821	294,09
S I	0		28,987	240,082	(4, 913, 250)	(19,653,000)	133,258	299,57
		1,745,385	32,480	269,010	2,046,875	(17,606,125)	149,315	335,67
		1,745,385	33,085	274,022	2,052,492	(15, 553, 633)	152,097	341,92
		1,745,385	33,702	279,127	2,058,213	(13, 495, 419)	154,930	348,29
		1,745,385	34,330	284,327	2,064,041	(11, 431, 378)	157,817	354,78
		1,745,385	34,969	289,624	2,069,978	(9,361,400)	160,757	361,39

			9.49		РВР		
			7.59%	7% Reinv.	MIRR		
			8.63%		IRR		
			\$3,335,105		NPV		
573,310	255,024		2,260,318	459,458	55,475	1,745,385	2039
562,825	250,359		2,250,900	451,055	54,460	1,745,385	2038
552,531	245,781		2,241,655	442,806	53,464	1,745,385	2037
542,425	241,285		2,232,578	434,707	52,486	1,745,385	2036
532,505	236,872		2,223,668	426,756	51,526	1,745,385	2035
522,766	232,540		2,214,920	418,951	50,584	1,745,385	2034
513,205	228,287		2,206,333	411,289	49,659	1,745,385	2033
503,819	224,112		2,197,903	403,767	48,751	1,745,385	2032
494,604	220,013		2,189,626	396,382	47,859	1,745,385	2031
485,558	215,989		2,181,502	389,133	46,984	1,745,385	2030
476,678	212,039		2,173,525	382,016	46,125	1,745,385	2029
467,960	208,161		2,165,695	375,029	45,281	1,745,385	2028
459,401	204,354		2,158,008	368,170	44,453	1,745,385	2027
450,999	200,616		2,150,461	361,436	43,640	1,745,385	2026
442,750	196,947		2,143,053	354,826	42,842	1,745,385	2025
434,653	193,345		2,135,780	348,337	42,058	1,745,385	2024
426,703	189,809		2,128,640	341,966	41,289	1,745,385	2023
418,899	186,338		2,121,630	335,711	40,534	1,745,385	2022
411,238	182,930		2,114,749	329,571	39,792	1,745,385	2021
403,717	179,584		2,107,993	323,544	39,065	1,745,385	2020
396,333	176,300	1,081,482	2,101,362	317,626	38,350	1,745,385	2019
389,084	173,075	(1,019,879)	2,094,851	311,817	37,649	1,745,385	2018
381,968	169,910	(3,114,730)	2,088,460	306,114	36,960	1,745,385	2017
374,982	166,802	(5, 203, 190)	2,082,185	300,516	36,284	1,745,385	2016
368,124	163,752	(7,285,375)	2,076,025	295,020	35,621	1,745,385	2015

Figure 53. Option 3b: Neal to Sioux City, 345 kV

Five year average bilateral transmission expenditure for sales from OPPD to WAPA: Off Peak = 278,251 MW Five year average bilateral transmission expenditure for sales from OPPD to WAPA: On Peak = 123,774 MW Five year average bilateral transmission expenditure for **purchases** from WAPA to OPPD = \$26,431.84

Option 4a: Ft. Calhoun to Denison Iowa, 161 kV:

Steel Pole	is (\$100,000/mil	e * 45 miles)		\$	4,500,000			
Conductor	rs/Wires (\$25,00	0 *45 miles)		Ś	1,125,000	MAPP Rates		
Labor (\$1(00,000 * 45 mile:	3)		()	4,500,000	On-peak	Off-peak	
Right of W	/ay (\$50,000 * 4{	2)		\$	2,250,000	0.79	0.45	
Terminal v	vork	ı		\$	3,000,000			
Transmiss	sion Impact Study	~		S	150,000			
Legal Fee	S			\$	3,000			
Net Cash	Outlay			S	15,528,000			
							Bilateral MW S	ales
	Initial Capital	WAPA Firm	Bilateral	Bilateral	Total Cash Flow	Pay Back	On-peak	Off-peak
Year	IIIVestment (\$)	rurcnase (\$)	rurcnase (\$)	cales (\$)	(\$)	renoa	(MM)	(MM)
2005			26,924	222,944			123,774	278,251
2006	(3,882,000)		27,426	227,149	(3,882,000)	(3,882,000)	126,080	283,435
2007	(3,882,000)		27,937	231,380	(3,882,000)	(7,764,000)	128,428	288,715
2008	(3,882,000)		28,457	235,691	(3,882,000)	(11,646,000)	130,821	294,094
2009	(3,882,000)		28,987	240,082	(3,882,000)	(15,528,000)	133,258	299,573
2010		1,745,385	32,480	269,010	2,046,875	(13,481,125)	149,315	335,670
2011		1,745,385	33,085	274,022	2,052,492	(11,428,633)	152,097	341,923
2012		1,745,385	33,702	279,127	2,058,213	(9,370,419)	154,930	348,293
2013		1,745,385	34,330	284,327	2,064,041	(7,306,378)	157,817	354,782
2014		1,745,385	34,969	289,624	2,069,978	(5, 236, 400)	160,757	361,391
2015		1,745,385	35,621	295,020	2,076,025	(3,160,375)	163,752	368,124
2016		1,745,385	36,284	300,516	2,082,185	(1,078,190)	166,802	374,982

			-	, r		Ē	
			7.52		ЪВР		
			8.36%	7% Reinv.	MIRR		
			10.97%		IRR		
			\$6,828,167		NPV		
573,310	255,024		2,260,318	459,458	55,475	1,745,385	2039
562,825	250,359		2,250,900	451,055	54,460	1,745,385	2038
552,531	245,781		2,241,655	442,806	53,464	1,745,385	2037
542,425	241,285		2,232,578	434,707	52,486	1,745,385	2036
532,505	236,872		2,223,668	426,756	51,526	1,745,385	2035
522,766	232,540		2,214,920	418,951	50,584	1,745,385	2034
513,205	228,287		2,206,333	411,289	49,659	1,745,385	2033
503,819	224,112		2,197,903	403,767	48,751	1,745,385	2032
494,604	220,013		2,189,626	396,382	47,859	1,745,385	2031
485,558	215,989		2,181,502	389,133	46,984	1,745,385	2030
476,678	212,039		2,173,525	382,016	46,125	1,745,385	2029
467,960	208,161		2,165,695	375,029	45,281	1,745,385	2028
459,401	204,354		2,158,008	368,170	44,453	1,745,385	2027
450,999	200,616		2,150,461	361,436	43,640	1,745,385	2026
442,750	196,947		2,143,053	354,826	42,842	1,745,385	2025
434,653	193,345		2,135,780	348,337	42,058	1,745,385	2024
426,703	189,809		2,128,640	341,966	41,289	1,745,385	2023
418,899	186,338		2,121,630	335,711	40,534	1,745,385	2022
411,238	182,930		2,114,749	329,571	39,792	1,745,385	2021
403,717	179,584		2,107,993	323,544	39,065	1,745,385	2020
396,333	176,300		2,101,362	317,626	38,350	1,745,385	2019
389,084	173,075		2,094,851	311,817	37,649	1,745,385	2018
381,968	169,910	1,010,270	2,088,460	306,114	36,960	1,745,385	2017

Figure 54. Option 4a: Ft. Calhoun to Denison Iowa, 161 kV

166

Five year average bilateral transmission expenditure for sales from OPPD to WAPA: Off Peak = 278,251 MW Five year average bilateral transmission expenditure for sales from OPPD to WAPA: On Peak = 123,774 MW Five year average bilateral transmission expenditure for **purchases** from WAPA to OPPD = \$26,431.84

Option 4b: Ft. Calhoun to Denison Iowa, 230 kV:

Steel Poles (\$150,000/mile * 45 miles)	Ś	6,750,000			
Conductors/Wires (\$37,500 *45 miles)	Ь	1,687,500	MAPP Rates		
Labor (\$50,000 * 45 miles)	ഗ	6,750,000	On-peak	Off-peak	
Right of Way (\$50,000 * 45)	୫	2,250,000	0.79	0.45	
Terminal work	ക	4,500,000			
Transmission Impact Study	ଚ	150,000			
Legal Fees	ഴ	3,000			
Net Cash Outlay	\$	22,090,500			

							Bilateral MW S	ales
	Initial Capital	WAPA Firm	Bilateral	Bilateral	Totol Cook Flour	Pay Back		Office and
	Investment	Purchase	Purchase	Sales	I ULAI LASH FIOW	Period	OII-PEAK	OII-PEAK
Year	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(@)		(1/1/1)	(MM)
2005			26,924	222,944			123,774	278,251
2006	(5,522,625)		27,426	227,149	(5,522,625)	(5,522,625)	126,080	283,435
2007	(5,522,625)		27,937	231,380	(5,522,625)	(11,045,250)	128,428	288,715
2008	(5,522,625)		28,457	235,691	(5,522,625)	(16,567,875)	130,821	294,094
2009	(5,522,625)		28,987	240,082	(5,522,625)	(22,090,500)	133,258	299,573
2010		1,745,385	32,480	269,010	2,046,875	(20,043,625)	149,315	335,670
2011		1,745,385	33,085	274,022	2,052,492	(17,991,133)	152,097	341,923
2012		1,745,385	33,702	279,127	2,058,213	(15,932,919)	154,930	348,293
2013		1,745,385	34,330	284,327	2,064,041	(13,868,878)	157,817	354,782
2014		1,745,385	34,969	289,624	2,069,978	(11,798,900)	160,757	361,391
2015		1,745,385	35,621	295,020	2,076,025	(9,722,875)	163,752	368,124

			10.64		РВР		
			7.21%	7% Reinv.	MIRR		
			7.57%		IRR		
			\$1,271,023		NPV		
573,310	255,024		2,260,318	459,458	55,475	1,745,385	2039
562,825	250,359		2,250,900	451,055	54,460	1,745,385	2038
552,531	245,781		2,241,655	442,806	53,464	1,745,385	2037
542,425	241,285		2,232,578	434,707	52,486	1,745,385	2036
532,505	236,872		2,223,668	426,756	51,526	1,745,385	2035
522,766	232,540		2,214,920	418,951	50,584	1,745,385	2034
513,205	228,287		2,206,333	411,289	49,659	1,745,385	2033
503,819	224,112		2,197,903	403,767	48,751	1,745,385	2032
494,604	220,013		2,189,626	396,382	47,859	1,745,385	2031
485,558	215,989		2,181,502	389,133	46,984	1,745,385	2030
476,678	212,039		2,173,525	382,016	46,125	1,745,385	2029
467,960	208,161		2,165,695	375,029	45,281	1,745,385	2028
459,401	204,354		2,158,008	368,170	44,453	1,745,385	2027
450,999	200,616		2,150,461	361,436	43,640	1,745,385	2026
442,750	196,947		2,143,053	354,826	42,842	1,745,385	2025
434,653	193,345		2,135,780	348,337	42,058	1,745,385	2024
426,703	189,809		2,128,640	341,966	41,289	1,745,385	2023
418,899	186,338		2,121,630	335,711	40,534	1,745,385	2022
411,238	182,930		2,114,749	329,571	39,792	1,745,385	2021
403,717	179,584	751,976	2,107,993	323,544	39,065	1,745,385	2020
396,333	176,300	(1, 356, 018)	2,101,362	317,626	38,350	1,745,385	2019
389,084	173,075	(3,457,379)	2,094,851	311,817	37,649	1,745,385	2018
381,968	169,910	(5,552,230)	2,088,460	306,114	36,960	1,745,385	2017
374,982	166,802	(7,640,690)	2,082,185	300,516	36,284	1,745,385	2016

Figure 55. Option 4b: Ft. Calhoun to Denison Iowa, 230 kV